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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MONONGALIA COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA
WEST VIRGINIA RADIO CORPORATION CIVIL ACTION NO.
Plaintiff,
V.

WEST VIRGINIA UNIVERSITY BOARD OF
GOVERNORS, WEST VIRGINIA UNIVERSITY
FOUNDATION, INC., WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC, ANDREW A. PAYNE, IlII, DAVID B.
ALVAREZ, ALBERT BRAY CARY, JR., RALPH
BALLARD, RICHARD BALLARD, OLIVER LUCK, and
JAMES P. CLEMENTS

Defendants.

VERIFIED COMPLAINT

NOW COMES Plaintiff West Virginia Radio Corporation, by and through its counsel,
and files this Verified Complaint and, in support thereof, avers as follows:

PARTIES

1. Plaintiff West Virginia Radio Corporation (“WV Radio™) is a West Virginia
corporation that has its principal place of business located in Morgantown, Monongalia County,
West Virginia. WV Radio is a taxpayer in the State of West Virginia and a donor to the West
Virginia University Foundation, Inc.

2. Defendant West Virginia University Board of Governors (the “WVU BOG™) is a
state board and the governing body for West Virginia University (“WVU” or the “University™), a
state land-grant university with its main campus located in Morgantown, Monongalia County,
West Virginia.

3. Defendant West Virginia University Foundation, Inc. (the “Foundation™), with its

principal place of business in Monongalia County, West Virginia, is a West Virginia non-profit
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corporation that has been afforded tax exempt status under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal
Revenue Code. The Foundation describes its goals and structure as follows:
The West Virginia University Foundation is an independent
501(c)(3) corporation chartered in 1954 to generate, administer,
invest and disburse contributed funds and properties given by

individuals, corporations and philanthropic foundations in support
of West Virginia University and its non-profit affiliates.

Its mission is to enrich the lives of those touched by West Virginia
University by maximizing private charitable support and providing
services to the University and its affiliated organizations.

The Foundation is governed by the Board of Directors, elected by
the members. All serve without compensation. The Foundation’s
operating budget is financed entirely with private resources; no
University or state funds are used. Each donor’s gift is applied
directly to the purpose for which it is given. No unrestricted gifts
are used to fund operations.

WVU Foundation Annual Report July 1, 2011 to June 30, 2012.

4, Defendant West Virginia Media Holdings, LLC (“WV Media™) is a Delaware
limited liability company with its principal place of business located in Charleston, West
Virginia. WV Media owns several television stations, a weekly newspaper, and other media
sources in West Virginia. Upon information and belief, it is owned, in part, directly or
beneficially, by Defendants Payne, Alvarez, Cary, and Ralph Ballard.

5. Defendant Andrew A. Payne, 11l is a citizen of West Virginia who resides in or
around Charleston, West Virginia. Defendant Payne is a Charleston businessman who has been
on the West Virginia University Board of Governors since 2006. Since the summer of 2011,
Defendant Payne has served as the Chair of the WVU BOG. Defendant Payne also sits on WV

Media’s board, is an equity investor, and is or was owed a substantial debt by WV Media.
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6. Defendant David B. Alvarez is a citizen of West Virginia who resides in or
around Bridgeport, West Virginia. Defendant Alvarez is a member of the West Virginia
University Board of Governors. Defendant Alvarez is also an investor in WV Media.

7 Defendant Albert Bray Cary, Jr. is a citizen of West Virginia who resides in or
around Sandyville, West Virginia and Charleston, West Virginia. Defendant Cary was formerly
a member of the Foundation’s Board of Directors and the WVU Board of Advisors and operates
Defendant WV Media.

8. Defendant Ralph Ballard is a citizen of West Virginia who resides in Charleston,
West Virginia. Defendant Ralph Ballard is the brother of Defendant Richard Ballard.
Additionally, Defendant Ralph Ballard is an investor in WV Media and is a co-investor in
several other businesses with Defendant Payne.

9. Defendant Richard Ballard is a citizen of the state of Georgia, residing in
Alpharetta. Defendant Richard Ballard represents the Panasonic Corporation of North America
in the State of West Virginia. Previously, he served as a Vice-President of Sales for Panasonic
Enterprise Solutions Company, a provider of screens for sports and entertainment venues. He is
currently the Panasonic Eco Solutions North America Vice President of Sales and Marketing.

10.  Defendant Oliver Luck is a West Virginia citizen who resides in Morgantown,
Monongalia County, West Virginia. Defendant Luck is the Athletic Director of West Virginia
University. Before he became Athletic Director, Mr. Luck was a member of the West Virginia
University Board of Governors with Defendant Payne from 2008-2010. Additionally, he has a
close, personal relationship with Defendant Cary.

11.  Defendant James P. Clements is a West Virginia citizen who resides in

Morgantown, Monongalia County, West Virginia. Defendant Clements is the President of West
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Virginia University and possesses the executive authority and responsibility to manage WVU’s
affairs and ensure that it complies with all applicable laws, rules, and ethical standards
promulgated by the State of West Virginia.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

12. General and specific personal jurisdiction exists over the parties because they
have had systematic and continuous contacts in this jurisdiction and a substantial part of the acts
and omissions giving rise to the causes of action arose in this jurisdiction.

13.  The Circuit Court of Monongalia County, West Virginia has jurisdiction over this
action pursuant to W. Va. Code § 51-2-2 because the amount in controversy, excluding interest,
exceeds $2,500, because this action requests mandamus, and because this action seeks equitable
relief.

14.  Venue is proper in this Court pursuant W. Va. Code § 14-2-2A because it is an
action in which the West Virginia University Board of Governors, its members, and WVU
officers, employees, or agents acting within the scope of their employment are party defendants,
and the causes of action arose in Monongalia County, West Virginia.

15. Venue is also proper in this Court pursuant to W. Va. Code § 31E-1-140 because
it is an action brought pursuant to the Nonprofit Corporation Act and pursuant to W. Va. Code
§ 56-1-1(a) because Defendants Luck and Clements reside in Monongalia County, West Virginia
and the causes of action arose in Monongalia County.

FACTS

A. Introduction

16. The WVU BOG governs West Virginia’s flagship state university for higher

education. The University’s purpose is to provide world class education to its students — made

4.
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up primarily of West Virginia citizens — and further the growth of science, technology, arts, and
the humanities.

17.  The Foundation works in tandem with the University to advance the University’s
educational and research purposes by raising money for scholarships, faculty development, and
other priorities of West Virginia University.

18.  Although WVU and its Foundation exist for those salutatory purposes, they have
been corrupted by a cadre of self-interested, self-dealing individuals who view WVU and its
Foundation not as a vehicle for higher education and the betterment of West Virginia and its
citizens, but instead as an opportunity for personal profit.

19.  To ensure a fair and equitable procurement process, increase public confidence,
maximize the purchasing value of public funds, and provide safeguards for the maintenance of a
procurement system of quality and integrity, WVU is required to adhere to state law, regulations,
and rules concerning the procurement of goods and services. For example, the University is:
required to competitively bid contracts where the value exceeds $25,000 and award the contract
to the lowest responsible bidder.

20. Despite this, individuals, which include Defendants Payne, Alvarez, Cary, Ralph
Ballard, Richard Ballard, and Luck (collectively the “Insider Defendants™), have used their
insider positions at the University and Foundation to sidestep, circumvent, or simply ignore West
Virginia’s procurement rules and code to cause the University and its Foundation to enter into
purchasing or revenue-generating contracts that will benefit them personally, at the expense of
the University, the Foundation, and the citizens of West Virginia.

21.  And Defendant Clements has allowed this to happen, failing to discharge his

fiduciary obligations as President, failing to exercise reasonable diligence and control over
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Defendant Luck and the other Insider Defendants’ actions, and exposing WVU and its
Foundation to unnecessary expense, embarrassment, and ridicule.

22. Asa West Virginia taxpayer, a donor to the Foundation, and an aggrieved bidder
for WVU’s third-tier media rights, WV Radio brings this action to recover the damages it has
suffered and enjoin the Insider Defendants from further using their influence to the detriment of
WVU, the Foundation, and the citizens of West Virginia.

23.  Although Plaintiff WV Radio has suffered substantial damages, it is not bringing
this matter for its own personal enrichment, but instead to vindicate the rights of West Virginia
and its citizens who have been injured by the Insider Defendants’ unlawful actions. To that end,
Plaintiff WV Radio intends to donate any monetary recovery in excess of its attorneys’ fees and
costs to the Foundation to benefit the WVU Children’s Hospital.

B. The Foundation’s Loss & WV Media’s Gain

24.  For at least the last decade, some or all of the Insider Defendants have used their
influence at WVU and the Foundation to benefit themselves personally.

25.  Founded in 2001, Defendant WV Media itself was materially assisted in its
infancy by an improper transaction between the Insider Defendants and the Foundation.

26.  Asanon-profit charitable Foundation, the Foundation is obligated under West
Virginia law to use any donations for the stated purpose of benefiting the University, its
programs, and its students. W. Va. Code § 29-19-8 (2012).

27. This policy mirrors the Foundation’s obligations as a federal 501(c)(3) tax entity.
Under federal tax law, the Foundation must be organized and operated exclusively for religious,
educational, or charitable purposes. See 26 U.S.C. 501(c)(3). Further, as a 501(c)(3) entity, the

Foundation’s net income cannot inure to the benefit of any private shareholder or individual.
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28.  Recognizing this obligation, the Foundation describes its investment policies as

follows:

[I]n managing gift dollars the Foundation must serve a two-fold
constituency. The first constituent is the donor whose gift is the
result of loyalty and commitment to the University. The second
constituent is the beneficiary of the gift — that is, the University.
The Foundation serves as fiduciary for these funds and is
accountable to donors for the use of contributions in accordance
with their restrictions.

WVU Foundation Annual Report 2006-2007,
http://www.wvuf.org/aReports/WVUF%20Annual %20Report%2006-07%20Final.pdf.

29.  The Foundation has described its ethical obligations on its website, stating that:

L ]

It (the Foundation) does not grant or accept favors for the personal gain of
any individual, nor does it solicit or accept favors where a higher public
interest would be violated.

It avoids actual or apparent conflicts of interest, and, if in doubt, seeks
guidance from appropriate authorities.

See West Virginia University Foundation Code of Ethics and Standard of Conduct, § 3.3.1

(Professional Ethics).

30. Moreover, the Foundation has described its Core Value as follows:

Accountability — We are responsible for our actions.
Service — We perform our duties in a helpful manner.

Professionalism — We perform our responsibilities as skilled practitioners
meeting our goals and tasks in a timely and effective manner.

2

Integrity — We conduct our activities in an independent, fair and honest

manner.

Relationships — We value relationships and community involvement as
fundamental to achieving our goals.

Exceeding Expectations — We continually set new standards of excellence.

WVU Foundation Annual Report July 1, 2011 to June 30, 2012 (emphasis added).

21
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31.  Although state and federal law as well as the Foundation’s own policies prevent
the Foundation from using its resources to benefit private individuals, the Insider Defendants
ignored these legal obligations in their efforts to profit from their connections at WVU and its
Foundation.

32. Each year, reputable accounting firms audit the Foundation and release audited
financial statements setting forth the Foundation’s yearly financial activities. The Foundation
then makes its audited financial statements available to the general public by means that include
publishing them on the Internet.

33.  In 2007, the accounting firm of Dixon Hughes, PLLC audited the Foundation and
prepared an audited financial statement for the Foundation covering the time period of June of
2006 through June of 2007. (See Exhibit 1, 2006-2007 Audited Financial Statement of the West
Virginia Foundation, Inc., (the “Foundation’s 2007 Financial Statement™).)

34, In the Foundation’s 2007 Financial Statement, the Foundation disclosed that it
“purchased investments in West Virginia Media Holdings, LLC (West Virginia Media), a media
company operating television stations and a newspaper in West Virginia™ in 2002. (Id. at 12.)

35.  The Foundation’s investment in Defendant WV Media was comprised of a
$2,000,000 equity investment and $5,750,000 of “senior subordinated notes that mature in
2010.” (Id.) In total, the Foundation invested $7,750,000 in Defendant WV Media.

36. Defendant Bray Cary, an owner of Defendant WV Media, was or formerly was a
member of the Foundation’s Board of Directors when this transaction took place. (Id.)
Additionally, “five members of the Foundation’s Board of Directors™ advised the Foundation

that “they have individual investments in West Virginia Media.” (Id.)
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37, Further, Dorothy Dotson, the Foundation's Vice-President for Investments, served
on the advisory board of Defendant WV Media from 2002 through 2008. (See. generally,
Exhibit 2, WV Media Holdings, LLC’s 2008 Ownership Report for Commercial Broadcast
Stations.)

38. The Foundation’s investment in Defendant WV Media, therefore, was wholly
improper under West Virginia law and its own stated rules because it did not benefit WVU, but
instead benefited private individuals who also served upon its Board.

39.  This investment was not only improper, however. It was disastrous.

40. In 2006, the Foundation took “an unrealized loss™ on its investment in Defendant
WV Media of $5,047,000. (Exhibit 1 at 12.)

41.  And in January of 2007, the Foundation sold its investment in Defendant WV
Media at “the June 30, 2006 carrying value” of $2,703,000. (Id.)

42.  According to the Foundation’s 2007 Financial Statement, therefore, the
Foundation invested $7,750,000 in Defendant Cary’s company, Defendant WV Media, and then
sold its investment for $2,703,000, thereby losing $5,047,000 in the process.

43. Upon information and belief, the $5,047,000 lost by the Foundation in Defendant
Cary’s company constituted monies raised from individuals, corporations, and other supporters
of West Virginia University in hopes of bettering WVU and furthering its educational mission.
These donations were not made to further the business ventures of Defendant Cary.

44,  The Foundation, however, did not simply lose $5,000,000 on its investment. It
functioned as the piggybank for Defendants Cary, Payne, Alvarez, and Ralph Ballard.

45. Upon information and belief, when the Foundation sold its investment at a

$5,000,000 loss, Defendants Cary, Payne, and Ralph Ballard were among the purchasers of the
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Foundation’s heavily discounted debt and equity investment in Defendant WV Media. (See.
generally, Exhibit 2.)

46. Accordingly, Defendants Cary, Payne, and Ralph Ballard, as part owners,
received the benefit of the Foundation’s $7,750,000 investment in Defendant WV Media and
were able to buy the Foundation’s equity and debt in Defendant WV Media at an approximately
a 65% discount, positioning themselves to benefit tremendously if Defendant WV Media ever
became profitable (by, for example, securing lucrative media rights for West Virginia University
athletics).

47.  Further, the Foundation’s investment allowed Defendant WV Media to acquire
television stations and other media properties that it otherwise could not have afforded. In other
words, the Foundation’s improper and illegal investment in Defendant WV Media allowed the
small media startup to grow into a substantial player in the West Virginia media market.

48.  But the Foundation received nothing of significant benefit in return and ultimately
lost over $5,000,000.

C. The Scoreboard Transaction

49.  Having created Defendant WV Media and caused it to flourish with Foundation
money, the Insider Defendants sought additional opportunities to profit from their connections at
WVU and its Foundation, focusing this time on procurement contracts.

50.  For the purposes of this Complaint, the next unlawful action taken by the Insider
Defendants involves the Foundation and WVU’s purchase of Panasonic scoreboards and other
equipment for the Coliseum, the Milan Puskar Football Stadium (the “Football Stadium™), the
basketball training facility (the “WVU Basketball Practice Facility™), the Milan Puskar Center
facilities building (the “Facilities Building™), as well as other athletic facilities located at WVU’s

Morgantown campus.

-10-
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51.  Defendants intentionally concealed the unlawful nature of the transactions
described below in an attempt to evade redress. Plaintiff WV Radio discovered this improper
conduct only in the spring of 2013 as part of its investigation into the bidding process relating to
WVU'’s third-tier media rights. Upon discovering Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Plaintiff WV
Radio has moved promptly to bring this action.

52.  Beginning in 2004, WVU began exploring the replacement of the video
scoreboards at the Coliseum, WVU’s basketball facility (the “Scoreboard Project™).

53. In 2007, WVU engaged the consulting firm of Ellerbe Becket — a national firm
with substantial experience in designing, procuring, and installing scoreboards at sporting
facilities — to assist it in the procurement of new scoreboards for the Coliseum.

54.  Through their efforts, Ellerbe Becket generated substantial interest in the
scoreboard manufacturing industry for the Scoreboard Project. Companies such as Daktronics
(the leading scoreboard manufacturer in the world), HD Group, MMCC Canada, Inc., Texas Star
Sports, LSI Graphic Solution Plus, Whiteway Sign, ANN Sports Enterprises, LLC, Nevco
Scoreboard Company, CBS Outdoor, Lighthouse, and Tube Art all expressed an interest in
bidding on the Coliseum Scoreboard Project.

55. Working in conjunction with the University’s Procurement Department (the
“WVU Procurement Department”), Ellerbe Becket began devising a request for proposals to
allow interested, prequalified bidders to bid on the Coliseum Scoreboard Project (the
“Scoreboard RFP™).

56. At the same time Ellerbe Becket and the WVU Procurement Department were
developing the Scoreboard RFP, the Insider Defendants were moving in the background to

secure this opportunity for themselves.

11-
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57.  In May of 2007, Defendant Richard Ballard, the brother of Defendant Ralph
Ballard, approached Russell Sharp, Associate Athletic Director at WVU, to discuss the
possibility of his employer, Panasonic, securing the Coliseum scoreboard contract. (See. e.g.,
Exhibit 3, May 14, 2007 e-mail from Russell Sharp to Richard Ballard.)

58.  Although the Scoreboard RFP was not released to any other potential bidders and
information concerning the project was to remain confidential, individuals at WVU continued
conversations with Defendant Richard Ballard through the summer of 2007 regarding
Panasonic’s interest in supplying the Coliseum scoreboard.

59. These conversations, however, were not limited to Defendant Richard Ballard and
WVU Athletic Department officials. Defendant Payne intervened, pushing Panasonic’s interests
in the Coliseum Scoreboard Project with Russell Sharp, Assistant Athletic Director. (See Exhibit
4, August 17,2007 e-mail from Russell Sharp to Craig Walker (“After talking with Drew this
morning, we have conflicting signals about the Panasonic deal from what we talked about, as far
as schedule and the RFP process goes.... We are still moving along planning on a [sic] RFP until
I hear different from you.”).)

60.  The intervention of the Insider Defendants into the Scoreboard RFP process
initiated some concern at WVU. On November 28, 2007, Mr. Sharp sent an email to Narvel
Weese, the Vice President of Finance of WVU, containing an attachment that described the
Coliseum scoreboard procurement process to date. This attachment notes that Mr. Sharp “has
met with Philip Charneskie [WVU Procurement Department] and Jay Rossello [WVU Associate
General Counsel] in September... and they have no concerns other than the favored sharing of
information and discussions that have been taking place with Panasonic.” (See Exhibit 5,

November 28, 2007 e-mail from Russell Sharp to Narvel Weese with attachment.)

-12-
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61.  Notwithstanding these objections from the WVU Procurement Department and its
Associate General Counsel, discussions with Defendant Richard Ballard and the WVU Athletic
Department over the Coliseum scoreboard continued into 2008.

62.  Specifically, Defendant Richard Ballard represented to WVU that Panasonic
would be willing to gift the Coliseum scoreboard to the Foundation, thereby obviating any need
to release the Scoreboard RFP to other potential vendors.

63.  This so-called “gift” to the Foundation, however, proved to be illusory because of
the many strings attached.

64. In essence, Defendant Richard Ballard, on behalf of Panasonic, offered to “gift”

the Coliseum scoreboard if WVU and the Foundation purchased a separate scoreboard for the

football stadium. (See. e.g., Exhibit 6, January 16, 2008 e-mail from Russell Sharp to Rossi

Wiles, Associate Director of WVU Contracting Services and Chad Francis of Ellerbe Becket
(“we might end up just forwarding our info to Panasonic as they have indicated that they might
make a gift of the Coliseum board and sound system if the a [sic] board is purchased for the
football stadium. We should know soemthing [sic] in a few days. For now we should keep
moving.” (emphasis added)).)

65.  On January 24, 2008, R. Wayne King, President of the Foundation, and Mr.
Weese, on behalf of WVU, agreed that the Foundation would accept a donation of a video
scoreboard and sound system from Panasonic for use in the Coliseum. Further, they committed
the Foundation to seek the “necessary donations and other revenues to allow for the purchase of
a video scoreboard and sound system to be installed at WVU’s primary football venue, the

Mylan [sic] Puskar Stadium, located on the Evansdale [sic] Campus in Morgantown, West

135
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Virginia.” (See Exhibit 7, January 24, 2008 letter from R. Wayne King and Narvel Weese to
John Baisley, President of Panasonic Broadcast and Television Systems Company.)

66.  WVU further agreed to accept the video scoreboards and sound systems from the
Foundation and install the equipment at the Coliseum and Milan Puskar Stadium. Additionally,
WVU agreed to provide Panasonic with “opportunities to showcase their products to potential
customers, which have been installed on the campus of West Virginia University,” hoping to
“establish[] a strong business partnership” with Panasonic. (Id.)

67.  As part of this relationship, WVU eventually purchased additional equipment
from Panasonic, including video boards for the new WVU Basketball Practice Facility, the
Facilities Building, and other athletic facilities.

68.  Potentially realizing the troubling and improper nature of this transaction,
Defendant Richard Ballard requested that the Foundation and WVU keep Panasonic’s “gift”
confidential for the time being. (See Exhibit 8, January 31, 2008 email from Narvel Weese to
Russ Sharp forwarding January 30, 2008 email from Richard Ballard to Narvel Weese.)

69. On March 24, 2008, the Foundation and Panasonic Corporation of North America
entered into a binding agreement in which the Foundation agreed to pay Panasonic a total of
$5 million to purchase the football scoreboard and secure Panasonic’s “gift” of the Coliseum
scoreboard. (See Exhibit 9, March 20, 2008 Sales Agreement between the Foundation and
Panasonic.)

70.  Although committing to spend $5 million of its own funds, the Foundation did not
competitively bid this purchase from Panasonic nor act to ensure that this purchase did not inure

to the benefit of any private individual, namely D.efendant Richard Ballard, who, upon

-14-
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information and belief, received a commission on the $5 million scoreboard sale as well as the
subsequent equipment sales for the other athletic facilities.

71. Further, as of March 24, 2008, the Foundation did not possess $5 million in funds
dedicated or raised for the purpose of acquiring this Panasonic scoreboard for the Milan Puskar
Stadium, requiring it to use funds raised for other purposes to make this payment.

72.  Recognizing the Foundation’s need to be repaid for this upfront outlay of its
resources, Mr. Weese committed WVU to support the “Foundation’s efforts to seek the
necessary revenues to reimburse the Foundation for the purchase of these assets.... Itis
anticipated that the acquisition will be financed in a manner that allows for annual payments to
occur over five to seven years.... If sufficient revenues are not secured to reimburse the
Foundation for the purchase then WVU agrees to utilize its resources to support the acquisition
costs and/or financing related payment obligations.” (See Exhibit 10, February 15, 2008 letter
from Narvel Weese to R. Wayne King (emphasis added).)

73, At WVU’s request, on February 16, 2008, the Foundation Board approved the
transaction outlined in the King and Weese correspondence of January 24, 2008 and February
15, 2008. (See Exhibits 7, 10.)

74. By entering into this arrangement with Panasonic, WVU, through the Foundation,
committed to purchase a scoreboard for the Milan Puskar Stadium at a cost of approximately
$5 million without going through the required procurement process mandated by the West
Virginia University Procurement Rules (2006) (“WVU Procurement Rules”), West Virginia law
including W. Va. Code. § 18B-5-4 through § 18B-5-9 (“Procurement Code™), and W. Va. Code

R. § 133-30-8, et seq. (“Procurement Regulations”) (collectively, the “Procurement Laws™).

-15-
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75.  Panasonic’s “gift,” as brokered by Defendant Richard Ballard, caused WVU to
withhold the Scoreboard RFP from any other vendor, denying those vendors the opportunity to
bid on either the Coliseum scoreboard or the Football Stadium scoreboard, which WVU, through
the Foundation, committed to purchase from Panasonic to secure the supposed Coliseum
scoreboard *gift.”

76.  This unlawful quid pro quo raised concerns with WVU’s then Athletic Director,
Edward Pastilong. Mr. Pastilong directed his subordinate Russell Sharp to question Mr. Weese
as to the legality of this transaction with Panasonic. This direction created the following
exchange:

April 29, 2008 email from Russell Sharp to Narvel Weese:

Narvel — are you confident that we are not going to get any “flack™
or “pushback” from anyone because this project was not done
through a competitive process? We certainly understand that this
is a gift to the Foundation but athletic funds are going to be used to
ultimately pay the $4,250,000 not covered by the Statler gift and
the boards are going to be placed on state property.

April 30, 2008 email from Narvel Weese to Russell Shamp:

Russ, the letter dated January 24, 2008 from me and Wayne to
Baisely clearly states how the transaction is structured. The letter
also states that WVU is willing to accept the gift. In addition, it is
important to note that no state funds are involved in the
transaction. All funds used to support this transaction will be
generated through private fundraising and held on deposit with
WVU Foundation.

April 30, 2008 email from Russell Sharp to Narvel Weese re: Panasonic gift:

Narvel, I have shared your email with Ed and he would like
confirmation from you that we followed proper procurement
practices regarding these boards. This project began with a free
board and has turned into a $5,000,000 plus expense. Ed is still
concerned that others did not have the same opportunities that
Panasonic did.

=
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(See Exhibit 11, April 29-30, 2008 email exchange between Russell Sharp and Narvel Weese.)
77.  On May 9, 2008, Edward Pastilong drafted a memorandum to Narvel Weese in
which he reiterated his concerns about the improper procurement process used for the
scoreboard:
My concern that WVU is not following proper purchasing
practices regarding the scoreboards continues as Russ shares a
recent email from Panasonic complaining about the manner in
which their name will be displayed on the boards. This project has
gone from one free board to buying two boards for $5,000,000 and
now providing Panasonic the best advertising spot on the boards
for free. Irealize you, President Garrison, and Craig Walker have
told me that we are within the law as the WVU Foundation is
contracted for payment of the boards. However, Panasonic’s name
will be on state property, at the two most visible locations on
campus, for free.

Mr. Pastilong copied President Mike Garrison as well as others on this correspondence.

(See Exhibit 12, May 9, 2008 memorandum from Edward Pastilong to Narvel Weese.)

78. Mr. Pastilong’s concerns, however, fell on deaf ears. Mr. Weese continued
forward to implement the Scoreboard Transaction.

79.  Because the Foundation had to use funds raised for other purposes to pay the
approximately $5 million necessary to secure the Scoreboards, Mr. Weese sought to cause the
Foundation to create a fund entitled the “Scoreboard Fund,” which was to raise donations
sufficient to repay the Foundation for the upfront $5 million payment it was obligated to make to
cover the cost of the two Panasonic scoreboards.

80. As structured, the Scoreboard Fund would begin with a deficit balance of

approximately $5 million because the Scoreboard Fund had already expended these monies,

obligating it to raise these amounts to correct its negative balance.

17-
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81.  Additionally, Mr. Weese drafted a proposed resolution for the West Virginia
University Board of Governors, including Defendant Payne, to approve the acceptance of the
Coliseum and Football Stadium scoreboards from the WVU Foundation. This draft proposed
resolution fails to mention that WVU was obligated to expend approximately $5 million in costs
to repay the Foundation for these scoreboards. (See Exhibit 13, June 2008 Draft Proposed West
Virginia Board of Governors Resolution.)

82. For reasons currently unknown, the West Virginia University Board of Governors
failed to consider or approve Mr. Weese’s proposed resolution. As of this date, the WVU BOG
has never approved the Scoreboard Transaction, although WVU accepted, installed, and has used
these scoreboards since 2009.

83. By 2009, it became clear that the Foundation would be unable to raise sufficient
funds for the Scoreboard Fund to reimburse itself for the original $5 million outlay for the
Scoreboards and correct its negative balance.

84.  As predicted in Mr. Weese’s February 15, 2008 letter, therefore, WVU was
obligated to use its own funds to repay the Foundation for the scoreboard expenditure.

85. On December 18, 2009, David R. Kosslow, Director of Treasury Operations at
WVU, outlined WVU’s plan for repaying the Foundation for its scoreboard expenditure.
Specifically, WVU agreed that WVU Athletics would pay the Foundation approximately
$650,000 per year for four years starting in 2010. And, during the same period, WVU itself
would pay the Foundation an additional $570,000 per year. In total, the Foundation would
receive $4,400,000 in principal (the net remaining deficient balance), plus $480,000 in interest,

resolving the Scoreboard Fund’s deficient balance. (See. e.g., Exhibit 14, December 18, 2009,

-18-
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Email from David Kosslow to Russell Sharp; Exhibit 15, Graphic Representation of
Transaction.)
86.  Starting in 2014, WVU Athletics agreed to repay WVU the $570,000 annual
payments made by WVU until the University was made whole for its Scoreboard-related
payments. To that end, WVU and WVU Athletics entered into an Internal Loan Program
Agreement, which described the transaction as follows:
Central will transfer to the Athletic Department $285,465.54 semi-
annually for four years for a total of $2,283,724.32. The Athletic
Department will use this money to subsidize payment on
scoreboard loan with WVU Foundation. After four years, the
Athletic Department will repay central in the amount of
$285.,465.54 semi-annually for four years.

(See Exhibit 16, June 2010 West Virginia University Internal Loan Program Agreement.)

87.  On June 18, 2010, Pat Robertson of the Foundation acknowledged that certain
funds had been transferred into the Scoreboard Fund under the plan outlined above. The email
further states that “we are expecting to pay the final $500,000 to Panasonic in the next 30 days.
Which will increase the deficit balance in the cash fund. Sometime after that payment is made,
the Foundation will transfer the hard assets to the University at which point the fund will have
both a deficit cash balance and a negative net asset balance. (Ouch —for us.)” (See Exhibit 17,
June 18, 2010, Email from Pat Robertson to David Kosslow (emphasis added).)

88. Accordingly, WVU and its Athletics Department have used their funds, including,
upon information and belief, state funds, to acquire the Coliseum and Football Stadium
scoreboards, using the Foundation as a conduit, without following the proper competitive

bidding and procurement processes mandated by the Procurement Laws. Further, WVU and the

Foundation personally enriched Defendant Richard Ballard, who, upon information or belief,
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received a commission or other compensation arising from the substantial sale of the scoreboards

to WVU.

89.  Upon information and belief, WVU and its Athletics Department have and will
continue to make these payments to the Foundation for the scoreboards until 2014.

D. The Rockbridge Sports Group Contract

90.  Although the Insider Defendants achieved their goal of personally enriching their
co-conspirator Defendant Richard Ballard by bypassing the procurement process for the
Coliseum and Football Stadium scoreboards, they took notice of Athletic Director Edward
Pastilong’s failure “to play ball.”

91.  The Insider Defendants, therefore, engineered the force-out of Mr. Pastilong,
going so far as to have Defendant Ralph Ballard brag publicly at the 2010 NCAA Men’s
Basketball Final Four about having Mr. Pastilong terminated or, in Ralph Ballard’s words,
“axed.”

92. Defendant Luck, who was then a member of the West Virginia University Board
of Governors and who had, and continues to maintain, a close personal relationship with
Defendants Payne and Cary, replaced Mr. Pastilong as Athletic Director in 2010.

93.  Having removed a substantial impediment to their unlawful efforts to use WVU
and its Foundation for their own personal profit, the Insider Defendants now saw their chance to
cash in with a much larger prize — WVU’s third-tier media rights.

94.  Upon taking control of the Athletic Department, Defendant Luck determined that
WVU would change its long standing practice of managing its own third-tier media rights
through the Mountaineer Sports Network, an internally controlled and operated media outlet.

95. The term “third-tier media rights” generally refers to various broadcasts,

marketing, and advertising opportunities held by WVU, including, but not limited to, the
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following: marketing rights, which include the rights to coach endorsements; on premises
signage; event marketing rights; tickets, hospitality, and unique experiences, including premium
seating opportunities; video content rights subject to current and future conference and third-
party agreements; audio content rights, including the radio rights for football and men’s
basketball games; print rights for game-day publications and promotional materials; and digital
rights, subject to current and future conference and third-party agreements.

96. Specifically, Defendant Luck announced that WVU’s third-tier media rights (the
“Third-Tier Media Rights™) would be put out for bid to any and all pre-qualified interested
bidders. What was unknown at that time, however, was that Defendant Luck and the other
Insider Defendants intended that only one potential bidder receive these rights: Defendant WV
Media.

97.  As the first step in its plan to secure these rights for the media company owned by
certain of the Insider Defendants, Defendant Luck licensed “the Bob Huggins Show,” which had
been previously produced by Mountaineer Sports Network, to Defendant WV Media without
engaging the services of the WVU Procurement Department or otherwise competitively bidding
these licensing rights. Defendant Luck’s decision to license “the Bob Huggins Show™ to WV
Media without a competitive bidding process benefited Defendant WV Media and its owners,
Defendants Payne, Cary, Alvarez, and Ralph Ballard.

98.  Defendant Luck next engaged the services of Rockbridge Sports Group
(“Rockbridge™), a Charlottesville, Virginia consulting firm, to assist him in bidding out West
Virginia University’s Third-Tier Media Rights.

99.  Defendant Luck took this action without competitively bidding this consulting

contract or even notifying the WVU Procurement Department.
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100.  Specifically, Rockbridge was organized in July of 2011.

101.  Defendant Luck engaged Rockbridge on three separate occasions to provide
services related to the bidding of WVU’s Third-Tier Media Rights.

102.  First, Defendant Luck engaged Rockbridge’s services approximately two months
after its organization in July of 2011 to evaluate the financial aspects of Mountaineer Sports
Network and the potential financial benefit of outsourcing the University’s multi-media rights.
This contract exceeded the $25,000 floor in the Procurement Rules, requiring it be competitively
bid.

103.  Defendant Luck then contracted with Rockbridge a second time in or about
February 2012 to assist in the drafting of the RFP related to these Third-Tier Media Rights. This
contract exceeded the $25,000 floor in the Procurement Rules, requiring it be competitively bid.

104.  Finally, in July of 2012, Defendant Oliver Luck issued a third contract with
Rockbridge to serve as a consultant relating to the bidding of WVU’s Third-Tier Media Rights.
This contract, valued at $190,000, exceeded the $25,000 floor in the Procurement Rules,
requiring it be competitively bid.

105.  Defendant Luck did not seek approval of the WVU Procurement Department or
competitively bid- any of the three contracts entered into with Rockbridge.

106.  Defendant Luck’s improper dealings with Rockbridge eventually came to light,
requiring him to attempt to justify his decision to engage Rockbridge on a non-competitive basis.

107. In September 2012, approximately one year after he entered into the first contract
and months after entering into the others, Defendant Luck argued that it was appropriate to
bypass the competitive bidding statute to engage Rockbridge without a competitive bidding

process.
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108.  Specifically, in an assertion that defied logic and was borderline preposterous
considering that dozens and dozens of other institutions had relied on consultants in entering into
third-tier media rights contracts before the existence of Rockbridge, Defendant Luck claimed
that — although Rockbridge had been formed only in July of 2011, approximately two months
before he first engaged them — Rockbridge was the “sole source™ available for these services.

109.  Under the West Virginia Procurement Rule 5.28.2, however, the University’s
Chief Procurement Officer, not its Athletic Director, decides whether procurement shall be made
as a sole source.

110.  Although Defendant Luck was eventually able to convince Brenda Mowen,
WVU’s Chief Procurement Officer, that Rockbridge was “the only choice the University had to
proceed,” Defendant Luck’s actions clearly violated the Procurement Laws and other West
Virginia law.

111.  Upon information and belief, Defendant Luck engaged Rockbridge Sports Group
for the purpose of promoting his plan to license West Virginia’s Third-Tier Media Rights to

Defendant WV Media.

E. The Third-Tier Media Rights Request for Proposals
112.  Having improperly engaged Rockbridge to assist him in transferring the WVU

Third-Tier Media Rights to the Insider Defendants and their company, WV Media, Defendant
Luck announced that WVU would file a request for proposals for the University’s Third-Tier
Media Rights and athletic sponsorship in May of 2012.

113.  Before releasing the Third-Tier Media Rights Request for Proposals (the “Media
Rights RFP”) to the public, however, Defendant Luck leaked details of the Media Rights RFP to

Defendant Payne, the Chairman of the WVU Board of Governors and part owner of WV Media.
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114.  Specifically on December 20, 2011, Defendant Luck provided Defendant Payne
with an analysis from Rockbridge consultant David Johnston relating to the current landscape of
third-tier media rights market, financial information and projections for the WVU Athletic
Department, and other third-tier media rights related materials provided to officials in WVU’s
Athletic Department.

115.  On May 3, 2012, Defendant Luck forwarded a draft of the Media Rights RFP to
Defendant Payne. On May 4 and May 14, 2012, Defendants Payne and Luck corresponded with
each other concerning the Media Rights RFP and its release to the public.

116. Notably, on May 14, 2012, Defendant Luck refused to share details of the Media
Rights RFP with Dale Miller at Plaintiff WV Radio, stating “[w]e will get that to you as soon as
the lawyers give the go ahead.”

117. Defendants Luck and Payne continued to correspond about the Media Rights RFP
before its public release, exchanging emails on May 14, 15 and 31, 2012.

118. On May 14, 2012, Defendant Luck forwarded Defendant Payne confidential
information about Legends Sales & Marketing, a joint venture between the Dallas Cowboys,
New York Yankees, and Goldman Sachs. Defendant Luck described Legends Sales &
Marketing as a “strong horse in the race” for WVU’s Third-Tier Media Rights.

119. Upon information and belief, Defendants Luck and Payne conferred about the
Media Rights RFP, at which time Luck transmitted confidential information to Payne, in order to
provide Defendant WV Media, the company in which Defendant Payne owns an equity interest,
with the inside track to secure this contract.

120. WVU finally released the Media Rights RFP on June 11, 2012.
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121.  On June 22, 2012, WVU and Defendant Luck held a pre-proposal conference call
with interested bidders. Among the interested bidders were Defendant WV Media and Plaintiff
WYV Radio.

122.  On July 2, 2012, nine firms provided prequalification statements to qualify as a
bidder for the Media Rights RFP. While Plaintiff WV Radio submitted the required statement,
Defendant WV Media chose not to participate, instead choosing to partner/joint venture/
subcontract with IMG College (“IMG”) in its bid.

123.  To determine the successful bidder under the Media Rights RFP, Defendant Luck
impaneled a committee consisting of the following voting members: Defendant Luck (as
Chairman), Mike Parsons (WVU Athletic Department), and Mike Szul (WVU Athletic
Department) and the following non-voting members: Tim Bostonia (WVU Procurement Office)
and David Johnston (Rockbridge) (collectively the “Evaluation Committee™).

124.  In August and September of 2012, the interested pre-qualified bidders, including
Plaintiff WV Radio, submitted the required bidding materials to the Evaluation Committee,
which was chaired by Defendant Luck. By October 2, 2012, only six companies remained
interested in bidding on the Media Rights RFP.

125.  Although Defendant Luck selected the three individuals, including himself, to sit
on the Evaluation Committee, upon information and belief, the three voting members of the
Evaluation Committee could not reach a consensus to select Defendant Luck’s preferred winner,
IMG and its partner, joint venturer, or subcontractor, WV Media.

126. On October 12, 2012 and without explanation, Defendant Luck directed Tim
Bostonia to contact Graham Peace (Associate Dean of the WVU College of Business and

Economics), Robert Griffith (WVU Board of Governors member and Professor of Basic
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Pharmaceutical Services at WVU’s School of Pharmacy), and Steve Kite (WVU Professor of
Geology and Geography) and invite them to join as voting members of the Evaluation
Committee. Associate Dean Pearce and Professors Griffith and Kite were selected by Defendant
Luck.

127.  Additionally, after the release of the Media Rights RFP, Defendant Luck failed to
maintain the confidentiality of the process, again sharing the information about the RFP process
with Defendant Payne.

128.  During the evaluation process, Defendant Cary appeared before the Evaluation
Committee, including Defendant Luck, to participate in IMG’s presentation and represent IMG's
partner, joint venturer, and subcontractor, Defendant WV Media.

129.  Having stacked the Evaluation Committee with supporters (or at least individuals
that he or the othcf Insider Defendants believed they could control) and closely coordinated with
Defendant Payne, a WV Media stockholder, Defendant Luck proceeded to work with the
Evaluation Committee to determine the winner of the Media Rights RFP.

130.  During this process, the Evaluation Committee abandoned the objective criteria
originally formulated for determining the winner and, instead, chose to award the RFP based on
their own subjective view or “group consensus” as to the winning bidder. Removing the
objective criteria from consideration allowed Defendant Luck to exercise additional influence
over the final decision and improperly opened the door to unlawful decisions based on favoritism
and personal relationships.

131.  Not surprisingly, the purported “group consensus™ was to select IMG and its
subcontractor, Defendant WV Media, as the winner of the Media Rights RFP. This

determination was made, however, before the responses from Mike Parsons and Mike Szul, two
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of the original members of the Evaluation Committee, were even received. Indeed, Parsons and
Szul never officially voted.

132.  Nonetheless, on December 3, 2012, Mr. Bostonia contacted IMG to inform it that
it had won the Media Rights RFP process.

133, On December 4, 2012, Mr. Bostonia sent a letter inviting IMG to contract
negotiations on December 11, 2012.

134, On December 11, 2012, representatives of IMG and WV Media met with WVU
officials, including Defendant Luck, to negotiate the contract between IMG Sports, Defendant
WYV Media, and WVU.

135.  On December 12, 2012, WVU informed the remaining bidders, including Plaintiff
WV Radio, that they were no longer being considered for the Media Rights RFP.

136.  In December of 2012 and January of 2013, WVU, including Defendant Luck,
negotiated with IMG and Defendant WV Media regarding the agreement relating to WVU’s
Third-Tier Media Rights.

137.  These negotiations culminated in the execution of a letter of intent between WVU
and IMG on January 23, 2013.

138.  Although these negotiations were purportedly confidential, Defendant Payne
updated various Charleston, West Virginia newspapers on the status of negotiations and the
alleged $5 million in additional annual compensation that WVU would receive through a deal
with IMG beyond what it currently makes by handling the rights in house.

139.  Upon information and belief, Defendant Payne received this information through

improper communications with Defendant Luck as well as other Insider Defendants.
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140.  On February 13, 2013, a representative of WVU stated that Payne and the other
members of the Board of Governors were informed that IMG was the successful vendor and of
the general parameters of the deal, including the alleged $5 million in additional annual
compensation that WVU would receive through a deal with IMG beyond what it currently makes
by handling the rights in house and that Payne erred in disclosing this confidential information.

141. Subsequently thereafter, the same representative of WVU was forced to disclaim
his prior statement, now claiming that Defendant Payne and the other members of the Board of
Governors did not receive even general financial information about the proposed IMG deal.

142.  After a series of complaints about the process made by Plaintiff WV Radio and
one of its owners, John Raese, WVU suspended its on-going negotiations with IMG to conduct
an internal review into the Media Rights RFP process.

143.  WVU engaged the Attorney General of West Virginia, Patrick Morrisey, as its
counsel to review the Media Rights RFP process that resulted in the awarding of the contract to
IMG and its partner/subcontractor, Defendant WV Media.

144.  Although Attorney General Morrisey purported to conclude that the actions taken
by WVU, Defendant Payne, Defendant Alvarez, and Defendant Luck were not “clearly wrong,”
Attorney General Morrisey, functioning as an agent or representative of WVU, admitted the
following:

a.  The procurement process utilized in the evaluation and selection of

proposals was flawed, incomplete and/or not handled in accordance with the
RFP or the University’s Procurement Rules;

b.  All Evaluation Committee Members were not afforded a timely opportunity
to formally vote in favor of the winning proposal, resulting in two of the six
members ultimately not voting;

c.  The make-up of the Evaluation Committee was altered during the pendency
of the evaluation process and (when coupled with the lack of affirmative
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votes from Parsons and Szul) may have materially affected the outcome of
the decision;

There was no strict adherence in the confidentiality/non-disclosure
provisions of the RFP and University Rules;

Evaluation Committee member Luck provided WVU BOG Chair Payne
RFP information/status updates about the RFP prior to the public release of
the RFP;

After the RFP was publicly released, Evaluation Committee member Luck
provided non-substantive status updates to WVU BOG Chair Payne;

Although he lacked actual knowledge of the proposals, WVU BOG Chair
Payne made public statements during the pendency of the process implying
knowledge of the financial terms of the proposals and/or contract;

There was a failure of the WVU Procurement Office and/or the Consultant
to properly document conversations with proposers or potential proposers
during the process;

The evaluation of the proposals did not conform to the RFP criteria,
included specifically the RFP Addendum requirement for weighted scoring;

WVU BOG Chair Payne should have recused himself from any and all
participation in this matter and improperly continued to receive information
about the process; and

WVU BOG member Alvarez did not adhere to the WVU BOG operating
procedure relating to conflicts of interest or recusal.

As counsel for WVU, the statements of Attorney General Morrisey constitute

binding admissions on WVU’s behalf.

Because of the many improper actions taken relating to the Media Rights RFP,

Attorney General Morrisey suggested that WVU reject all proposals and rebid the Third-Tier

Media Rights, allowing all bidders, including IMG and WV Media, a second opportunity to bid.

On April 19, 2013, Plaintiff WV Radio filed a protest to the actions taken by

WVU, Defendant Luck, and Defendant Payne in relation to the Media Rights RFP. Plaintiff

WYV Radio requested that IMG and WV Media be barred from participating in any manner in the
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Third-Tier Media Rights bidding process and sought a hearing on the merits of its protest. (See
Exhibit 18, WV Radio April 19, 2013 Protest.)

148. WVU, however, failed to provide the statutorily mandated hearing on Plaintiff
WYV Radio’s protest. Instead, on May 14, 2013, WVU denied the protest and released a second
request for proposals (No. 90003005) for the WVU Third-Tier Media Rights (the “Second Media
Rights RFP”).

149. The Second Media Rights RFP reflected a substantial revision from the original
Media Rights RFP.

150. Expanding from 27 to 91 pages, the Second Media Rights RFP contained many
new requirements that had not existed in the original RFP. Additionally, the Second Media
Rights RFP identified additional evaluation criteria and ranked these evaluation criteria for the
first time. According to the second RFP, the financial proposal (total cost of ownership) and
adequacy of financial resources, i.e. how much WVU was going to get paid, was the most
important factor in determining the successful bidder.

151. Upon information and belief, the Second Media Rights RFP reflected many of the
terms specifically negotiated between WVU, Defendant Luck, and IMG/WV Media and was
specifically tailored by WVU and the Insider Defendants, including Defendants Luck and Payne,
to ensure that only IMG and WV Media met the requirements for satisfying this Second Media
Rights RFP, rendering the procurement process nothing more than a sham.

152.  On June 12, 2013, Plaintiff WV Radio filed a protest to the Second Media Rights
RFP, alleging that the Second Media Rights RFP represented a sham competitive process
engineered by WVU and the Insider Defendants to ensure that IMG and Defendant WV Media

would win the bid for WVU’s Third-Tier Media Rights.

-30-



1866748.v1

153.

154.

F.

155.
Insider Defendants concerning WVU’s Third-Tier Media Rights, Plaintiff WV Radio has been
forced to file multiple West Virginia Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”) requests (the “FOIA
Requests™), pursuant to W.Va. Code § 29B-2-1, et seq., the expense of which has been borne by

Plaintiff WV Radio, in an attempt to pierce the veil of secrecy that has historically insulated

Plaintiff WV Radio also specifically sought a hearing on the merits of its protest.

As of this time, Plaintiff WV Radio’s protest has not been heard or resolved.

Plaintiff WV Radio’s FOIA Requests

As a direct result of the tainted competitive process engineered by WVU and the

WVU and the Insider Defendants’ improper actions and omissions.

156.

Turning to the specific requests, by letter addressed to Ms. Mowen dated March

15, 2013, Plaintiff requested pursuant to FOIA:

157.

All documentation, in any medium or format, transmitted,
published, or disseminated by and between West Virginia
University, including but not limited to its Procurement Office, or
any agent thereof, and the West Virginia University Board of
Governors or any agent thereof or otherwise authorized recipient,
relating to the Media Rights Bid: Proposal 90002782X: Athletic
Sponsorship and Media Rights.

By a form letter dated March 22, 2012, WVU effectively denied the request and

summarily stated that “there are no documents responsive to this request.”

158.

seeking:

Then, on March 29, 2013, Plaintiff sent another FOIA request letter to Ms. Mown

Any and all Mandatory Pre-Qualification Statements submitted in
respect to Proposal Number 90002782X—Athletic Sponsorship and
Media Rights, to specifically include all sub-contractor/partner pre-
qualification statements as Appendix III clearly states “if multiple
companies/firms are partnering to provide the services pursuant to
the RFP, all entities must individually fill out a pre-qualification
statement and submit it jointly to the university.
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159.  Again, by a form letter dated April 9, 2013, WVU denied the request advising
“that until the procurement process related to the referenced proposal has concluded the
requested records are exempt from disclosure....”

160. By letter addressed to the University and Defendant Clements dated March 29,
2013, Plaintiff made the following request pursuant to FOIA:

Any and all documents, writings or public records in your
possession, or within your control, relating in any way to the West
Virginia University Board of Governors Meeting convened on
March 27, 2013 in which matters of commercial competition and
legal matters were discussed, and further in which a duly noticed
general discussion of issues emanating from the execution session
was tabled by Chairman Payne. Additionally, I hereby request any
and all correspondence, notification, and/or reports transmitted or
prepared by the West Virginia University Board of Governors, or
its agents, in preparation for the West Virginia University Board of
Governors Meeting convened on March 27, 2013 at Stewart Hall.

161.  WVU responded by a form letter dated April 9, 2013, denying the request and
otherwise failing to properly produce the requested files.
162. By letter addressed to Ms. Mowen dated May 20, 2013, Plaintiff again requested
pursuant to FOIA:
Any and all Mandatory Pre-Qualification Statements submitted in
respect to Proposal Number 90002782X—Athletic Sponsorship and
Media Rights, to specifically include all sub-contractor/partner pre-
qualification statements as Appendix III clearly states “if multiple
companies/firms are partnering to provide the services pursuant to
the RFP, all entities must individually fill out a pre-qualification
statement and submit it jointly to the university.
163. Then, WVU denied the request on another form later that was dated April 9,

2013, and concluded “until the procurement process related to the referenced proposal has

concluded the requested records are exempt from disclosure....”
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164. In aletter addressed to Gary G. Furbee, 11, dated May 24, 2013, Plaintifft WV
Radio, through a contracted employee, requested pursuant to FOIA specific and explicit
indications that the WVU BOG considered and acted upon the funding resolution drafted and
proposed by Mr. Weese in June 2008 relating to the Coliseum Lighting and Scoreboard Project
and the Milan Puskar Stadium Scoreboards. Further, Plaintiff WV Radio requested copies of
specific financial documents, such as vouchers and/or checks, evidencing three scheduled annual
payments by the WVU Athletic Department to the WVU Foundation related to the Milan Puskar
Stadium scoreboard acquisition, said payments commencing in January of 2010, each payment
believed to be in the amount of $1,221,723.36.

165. By a form letter dated June 6, 2013, WVU denied the May 24, 2013 FOIA
request, stating summarily that the FOIA request lacked reasonable specificity.

166. Plaintiff made an additional request pursuant to FOIA for substantial documents
related to the inner dealings and conversations of the Insider Defendants through a letter
addressed to Mr. Furbee, dated June 6, 2013.

167. By letter dated June 17, 2013, WVU responded to Plaintiff WV Radio’s FOIA
request dated June 6, 2013, generally stating that WVU believed only two (2) of Plaintiff WV
Radio’s twelve (12) total FOIA subject areas were appropriate requests and required disclosure
of the requested documentation on or before July 16, 2013. Concerning the majority of Plaintiff
WYV Radio’s FOIA subject areas, WVU specifically advised that Plaintiff’s request either lacked
specificity, that WVU was not obligated to respond as the documentation was protected by the
attorney-client privilege and/or that Plaintiff WV Radio’s FOIA subject areas were improper as
the procurement process related to request for proposals 90002782X and 90003005 had not

concluded.
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168. Plaintiff WV Radio is entitled to much, if not all, of the information requested in
the FOIA Requests.
169.  WVU has wrongfully denied the FOIA requests and withheld the requested
records from Plaintiff WV Radio.
COUNTS

COUNT I - ACTION IN MANDAMUS
(Against Defendant West Virginia University Board of Governors)

170.  Plaintiff WV Radio incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 169 of its
Complaint as if stated fully herein.

171.  West Virginia University is obligated to follow its own Procurement Rules as well
as the West Virginia Procurement Code. See, generally, W. Va, Code § 18B-5-4, et seq. (2012).

172.  These Rules require West Virginia University to ensure a fair competitive bidding
process for the purchase or acquisition of any materials or services exceeding $25,000.

173.  Further, under the sealed competitive bid process, which is the preferred method
for entering into contracts exceeding $25,000, in the context of revenue-generating contracts,
West Virginia University is obligated to award the contract to the highest responsible and
responsive bidder in compliance with the Procurement Rules, and an analogous provision applies
to income-generating contracts. See W. Va. Code R. § 133-30-8.4 (“in situations where vendors
are competing to provide a service that will generate income for an institution, the award shall be
made to the highest responsible and responsive bidder, taking into consideration the above
factors™).

174. It is clear that substantial income generating contracts must be competitively bid
in order to satisfy the fiduciary duties of the Board of Governors to ensure that the value of the

University’s assets are maximized. This essential duty cannot be delegated. Similarly,
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transactions that are not in the ordinary course of business or which constitute fundamental
changes like the bidding of WVU’s Third-Tier Media Rights must be approved by the Board of
Governors.

175.  Additionally, in the context of the Media Rights RFP, West Virginia University
chose to use a competitive RFP process to bid the multimedia rights and must follow this process
properly. Further, it is the stated policy of WVU’s Procurement Office, confirmed by Attorney
General Morrisey, that competitive bidding is required for revenue generating contracts.

176. Any person who authorizes or approves purchases or actions taken in
contravention of the West Virginia Code of State Rules, § 133-30-15.1, or any policy or
procedure adopted by the Commission, Council, and Governing Board shall be personally liable
for the cost of such purchase or contract.

177.  Further, purchases or contracts violating the West Virginia Code and/or West
Virginia Code of State Rules, are void and of no effect. W. Va. Code. R. § 133-30-15.1.

178. Defendant WVU BOG, by and through its representatives, Oliver Luck, Andrew
Payne, David Alvarez and other individuals, have failed to follow proper procurement practices
in relation to the Scoreboard Transaction, the “Bob Huggins Show” license, the Rockbridge
Sports Group Contract, and the bidding of the Third-Tier Media Rights.

179. These blatant and unlawful actions are not the result of inadvertence or errors
made in good faith, but instead are the purposeful result of a fraudulent scheme to benefit WV
Media, a corporation certain Insider Defendants own, or to personally enrich themselves or their

friends like Defendant Richard Ballard.
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180.  As relates to the Scoreboard Contract, the Rockbridge Sports Group Contract, and
the bidding of the Third-Tier Media Rights, the actions of West Virginia University constitute
fraud, collusion, and the palpable abuse of discretion.

181.  As a taxpayer, donor to the Foundation, and aggrieved bidder for the Third-Tier
Media Rights, Plaintiff WV Radio has been injured by this conduct and, therefore, has standing
to seek the redress of these unlawful actions taken in the name of West Virginia University.

182.  Given the University’s obvious violations of the applicable Procurement Laws in
its failures in the Scoreboard Transaction, the “Bob Huggins Show” license, the Rockbridge
Sports Group Contract, and the bidding of the Third-Tier Media Rights as outlined above,
Plaintiff WV Radio has a clear legal right to relief.

183. Additionally, Plaintiff WV Radio has no other adequate remedy and an actual and
justiciable controversy exists as to the legality of West Virginia University’s actions taken in
relation to the Scoreboard Transaction, the “Bob Huggins Show” license, the Rockbridge Sports
Group Contract, and the bidding of the Third-Tier Media Rights.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff West Virginia Radio Corporation respectfully requests that
judgment be entered in its favor and the following relief be granted:

(1) A declaration that the Scoreboard Transaction entered into between Panasonic
Corporation of North America, West Virginia University, and the West Virginia University
Foundation violated the applicable Procurement Rules and is thus void;

(2) A declaration that the “Bob Huggins Show” licensing agreement entered into
by West Virginia University and WV Media Holdings, LLC violated the applicable Procurement

Rules and is thus void;
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(3) A declaration that the three Rockbridge Sports Group contracts entered into
by West Virginia University violated the applicable Procurement Rules and are thus void;

(4) An injunction preventing the West Virginia University Board of Governors
from awarding the Third-Tier Media Rights to any entity affiliated or contracting with Defendant
West Virginia Media Holdings, LLC;

(5) An injunction requiring the West Virginia University Board of Governors to
debar Defendant West Virginia Media Holdings, LLC from participating directly or indirectly in
the bid process for the Third-Tier Media Rights;

(6) An injunction requiring the West Virginia University Board of Governors to
debar IMG College from participating directly or indirectly in the bid process for the Third-Tier
Media Rights due to the improper acts of its agent, partner, joint venturer, or subcontractor,
Defendant WV Media;

(7) An injunction requiring the West Virginia University Board of Governors to
complete the original Media Rights RFP process and award the rights to the best remaining
bidder after the debarring of IMG College and Defendant West Virginia Media Holdings, LLC;
and

(8) Any such other relief the Court deems appropriate.

COUNT II - BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY ACTION
(Against Defendants Andrew Payne, David Alvarez, Oliver Luck, James Clements)

184. Plaintiff WV Radio incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 169 of its
Complaint as if stated fully herein.
185. Members of the West Virginia University Board of Governors possess fiduciary

obligations to act at all times in the best interest of the University. See, e.g., West Virginia
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University Board of Governors’ Operating Procedure, § 1.13 (Code of Conduct); W. Va. Code
§ 31E-8-830 (2012).

186.  Additionally, members of the West Virginia University Board of Governors are
required to comply with the West Virginia Ethics Act. See Board of Governors’ Operating
Procedure, § 1.13 (Code of Conduct).

187. Under the Board of Governor’s Operating Procedures, the WVU Procurement
Manual, and the Ethics Act, members of the West Virginia University Board of Governors must
disclose any financial interest they may have in a transaction involving the University, recuse
themselves entirely from consideration of that transaction, and abstain from voting on that
matter. See Board of Governors” Operating Procedures, § 1.14 (Conflicts of Interest); West
Virginia University Procurement Manual, § XIV (Ethical Practices); W.Va. Code § 6B-2-5(j)(3)
(2012).

188.  As fiduciaries, members of the West Virginia University Board of Governors
cannot use their positions on the Board for their personal gain. See W.Va. Code § 6B-2-5(b)(1)
(2012) (“a public official or public employee may not knowingly and intentionally use his or her
office or the prestige of his or her office for his or her own private gain or that of another
person”).

189. As members of the West Virginia Board of Governors, Defendants Payne and
Alvarez possessed fiduciary obligations to act at all times in the best interest of the University.

190. Defendants Payne and Alvarez breached their fiduciary obligations in the
following manner:

(a) By failing to disclose their financial interest in Defendant WV Media in
relationship to the Media Rights RFP;

(b) By failing to recuse themselves in all respects from consideration of the Media
Rights RFP;
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(c) By acting to personally enrich themselves at the expense of the University
through their insider connections at the University and their ownership interest
in WV Media; and

(d) By taking other such action to personally enrich themselves and their friends
at the expense of West Virginia University and the Foundation.

191.  Additionally, Defendant Payne breached his fiduciary obligations in the following

manner:

(a) By intervening into the Scoreboard RFP process to ensure that Defendant
Richard Ballard, the brother of his business partner, Defendant Ralph Ballard,
receive the Scoreboard Contracts in an unlawful, non-bid manner;

(b) By seeking confidential information about the Media Rights RFP from
Defendant Luck before this confidential information was available to non-
insiders to assist a company in which he has equitable interest, Defendant WV
Media, in securing this contract;

(c) By improperly communicating with Defendant Luck throughout the Media
Rights RFP to gain an advantage for a company in which he has equitable
interest, Defendant WV Media, in securing this contract;

(d) By improperly releasing confidential information about the Media Rights RFP
process to the media; and

(e) By orchestrating the Media Rights RFP process to ensure that Defendant WV
Media, a company in which he has equitable interest, secured this Contract.

192.  Similarly, officers and employees of West Virginia University possess fiduciary
obligations to act at all times in the best interest of the University. See W.Va. Code § 6B-1-2(a)
(2012).

193.  Additionally, officers and employees of West Virginia are required to comply
with the West Virginia Ethics Act. See W.Va. Code § 6B-1-2(a) (2012).

194.  Under the Ethics Act, officers and employees of West Virginia University must
disclose any financial interest they may have in a transaction involving the University, recuse
themselves entirely from consideration of that transaction, and abstain from voting on that

matter. See W.Va. Code § 6B-2-5(j)(3) (2012).
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195.

As fiduciaries, officers of the West Virginia University cannot use their positions

for their personal gain. See, e.g., W.Va. Code § 6B-2-5(b)(1) (2012) (*a public official or public

employee may not knowingly and intentionally use his or her office or the prestige of his or her

office for his or her own private gain or that of another person.”).

196.

As executive officers of West Virginia University, Defendants President James

Clements and Athletic Director Oliver Luck possess fiduciary obligations to act at all times in

the best interest of the University.

197.

198.

Defendant Clements breached his fiduciary obligations in the following manner:

(a) By failing to adequately supervise Defendant Luck to ensure that Defendant
Luck complied with the applicable procurement rules and codes as well as the
Ethics Act in relation to the licensing of the “Bob Huggins Show,” the
engagement of Rockbridge Sports Group, and the bidding of the Media Rights
RFP;

(b) By failing to ensure that West Virginia University and its employees complied
with the applicable procurement rules and codes as well as the Ethics Act in
relation to the licensing of the “Bob Huggins Show,” the engagement of
Rockbridge Sports Group, and the bidding of the Media Rights RFP; and

(c) By turning a “blind eye” to the self-interested, self-dealing actions taken by
Defendants Payne, Luck, and Alvarez to personally profit from their insider
connections at the University.

Defendant Luck breached his fiduciary obligations in the following manner:

(a) By licensing the “Bob Huggins Show™ to Defendant WV Media without
complying with the applicable procurement rules and codes as well as the
Ethics Act for the purpose of enriching Defendant WV Media and his friends,
Defendants Payne and Cary;

(b) By engaging Rockbridge Sports Group without complying with the applicable
procurement rules and codes for the purpose of promoting the licensing of the
Third-Tier Media Rights as part of a larger scheme to transfer them to
Defendant WV Media;

(c) By improperly providing confidential information relating to the Media Rights
RFP before its release and during the evaluation process to Defendant Payne
for the purpose of providing Defendant WV Media with the “inside track™ to
securing all or part of the Media Rights contract;
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(d) By adding additional members of the Media Rights RFP Evaluation
Committee mid-way through the evaluation process to ensure that Defendant
WV Media’s partner, IMG College, secured the Third-Tier Media Rights bid;

(e) By directing the Evaluation Committee to abandon the objective scoring
criteria and instead embrace a subjective, “group consensus” method of
determining the winning bidder for the Media Rights RFP, thereby making it
easier to steer this contract to Defendant WV Media;

(f) By causing the selection of Defendant WV Media’s partner, IMG College, to
occur before two original voting members were allowed to vote;

(g) By improperly, incompetently, and unlawfully managing the Media Rights
RFP process;

(h) By causing WVU and the State of West Virginia, through its Attorney
General, to unnecessarily expend funds to review Defendant Luck’s improper,
incompetent, and unlawful management of the Media Rights RFP process;

(i) By tailoring the Second Media Rights RFP to render Defendant WV Media’s
partner, IMG College, the only qualified bidder, thereby transforming the RFP
process into a sham; and

(j) By taking other such action to personally enrich himself or his friends at the
expense of West Virginia University.

199. The actions of Defendants Payne, Alvarez, Clements, and Luck were not taken in
good faith, were not reasonably believed to be in the best interests of WVU or the Foundation,
and arose from their lack of objectivity due to their own personal financial or business
relationships or from a lack of independence due to their domination or control by another
person having a material interest in the transactions at issue.

200. For the reasons outlined above, Defendants Payne, Alvarez, Clements, and Luck
were, at a minimum, grossly negligent in performing their duties as directors of the West
Virginia University Board of Governors and the Foundation and as officers or employees of
West Virginia University.

201. As ataxpayer, donor to the West Virginia University Foundation, and aggrieved

bidder for the Third-Tier Media Rights, Plaintiff WV Radio has been injured by Defendants’
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breaches of their fiduciary obligations and, therefore, has standing to seek the redress of these
unlawful actions taken in the name of West Virginia University and the Foundation.

202. Moreover, Plaintiff WV Radio suffered damages as a result of Defendants’
breaches of their fiduciary duties, including without limitation the costs it incurred to participate
in the sham Media Rights RFP process.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff West Virginia Radio Corporation respectfully requests that
judgment be entered in its favor and the following relief be granted:

(1) An injunction be entered requiring that Defendants Payne, Alvarez, Clements,
and Luck recuse themselves from any further involvement in the Third-Tier Media Rights
bidding or awarding process or any other dealings, directly or indirectly, with Defendant WV
Media on behalf of WVU, the WVU BOG, or the Foundation;

(2) An award of compensatory damages to compensate Plaintiff for the injuries it
has suffered;

(3) An award of exemplary damages to punish Defendants Payne, Alvarez,
Clements, and Luck for their outrageous and scandalous behavior and to deter other future such
breaches of their fiduciary obligations; and

(4) Any such other relief the Court deems appropriate.

COUNT III - VIOLATION OF THE SOLICITATION OF CHARITABLE FUNDS ACT
(Against Defendant West Virginia University Foundation, Inc.)

203. Plaintiff WV Radio incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 169 of its
Complaint as if stated fully herein.

204. Pursuant to the Solicitation of Charitable Funds Act, W. Va. Code § 29-19-13, no
person may, in connection with the solicitation of contributions for charitable purposes,

misrepresent, mislead, or omit information concerning how the proceeds will be used. Proceeds
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gathered from any given solicitation must be used for the charitable purposes represented in the
materials sent or the presentation given by the solicitor.

205. For years, the West Virginia Foundation has solicited contributions for the stated
purpose of providing student scholarships, faculty development, public service initiatives, and
other priorities of West Virginia University.

206. At no time did the Foundation communicate to potential contributors that their
contributions would be used to allow West Virginia University to side-step its procurement rules
and obligations for the purpose of enriching politically connected insiders like Defendant
Richard Ballard, or otherwise.

207.  The Foundation, however, used charitable solicitations to allow West Virginia
University to side-step its procurement rules and obligations for the purpose of enriching
politically connected insiders like Defendant Richard Ballard, Defendant WV Media, or
otherwise, in relation to the acquisition of the Coliseum and Football Stadium Scoreboards as
well as video boards for the new WVU Basketball Practice Facility, the Facilities Building, and
other athletic facilities.

208. Accordingly, the Foundation violated the Solicitation of Charitable Funds Act
when, in connection with the solicitation of contributions for charitable purposes, it
misrepresented, misled, and omitted information regarding its intent to use charitable
solicitations to allow West Virginia University to side-step its procurement rules and obligations
for the purpose of enriching politically connected insiders like Defendant Richard Ballard, or
otherwise, in relation to the acquisition of the Coliseum and Football Stadium Scoreboards as
well as video boards for the new WVU Basketball Practice Facility, the Facilities Building, and

other athletic facilities.
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209. As adonor to the West Virginia University Foundation, Plaintiff WV Radio was
injured by the Foundation’s violation of the Solicitation of Charitable Funds Act and, therefore,
has standing to seek the redress of these unlawful actions taken by the West Virginia University
Foundation.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff West Virginia Radio Corporation respectfully requests that
judgment be entered in its favor and the following relief be granted:

(1) An award of compensatory damages to compensate Plaintiff for the injuries it
has suffered;
(2) An award of the costs Plaintiff has incurred in bringing this action;
(3) An award of Plaintiff’s reasonable attorneys’ fees; and
(4) Any such other relief the Court deems appropriate.
COUNT IV - CONSTRUCTIVE FRAUD

(Against Defendants West Virginia Media Holdings, LLC, Andrew Payne, David Alvarez,
Albert Bray Cary, Ralph Ballard, Oliver Luck, and James Clements)

210. Plaintiff WV Radio incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 169 of its
Complaint as if stated fully herein.

211. As members and officers of the West Virginia Board of Governors and the West
Virginia University Foundation and citizens of West Virginia, Defendants West Virginia Media
Holdings, LLC, Payne, Alvarez, Cary, Ralph Ballard, Oliver Luck, and James Clements possess
a legal or equitable duty to refrain making statements or taking actions that tend to deceive
others, violate public or private confidence, or injure public interests.

212. Defendants West Virginia Media Holdings, LLC, Payne, Alvarez, Cary, Ralph
Ballard, Oliver Luck, and James Clements breached this duty by using their insider positions (or
connections to insiders) at West Virginia University and the West Virginia University

Foundation to personally enrich themselves and corporations in which they have a personal
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interest in relation to the acquisition of the Coliseum and Football Stadium scoreboards or in the
disposition of WVU’s Third-Tier Media Rights.

213.  Exploiting personal or political connections at WVU and its Foundation for one’s
personal benefit — while representing that one is acting at all times in those institutions” best
interests — tends to deceive others, violates public confidence, and injures the public interest of
the State of West Virginia.

214.  Such actions impose a gross and unreasonable burden on the public.

215.  As a taxpayer, donor to the West Virginia University Foundation, and aggrieved
bidder for the Third-Tier Media Rights, Plaintiff WV Radio has been injured by the Insider
Defendants’ unlawful actions and, therefore, has standing to seek the redress of these unlawful
actions taken in the name of West Virginia University and its Foundation.

216. Specifically, Plaintiff WV Radio relied upon the Insider Defendants’ unlawful
statements and behavior by incurring costs to participate in the sham Media Rights RFP process.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff West Virginia Radio Corporation respectfully requests that
judgment be entered in its favor and the following relief be granted:

(1) An award of compensatory damages to compensate Plaintiff for the injuries it
has suffered;

(2) An award of exemplary damages to punish Defendants Payne, Alvarez,
Clements, and Luck for their outrageous and scandalous behavior and to deter other future such
breaches of their fiduciary obligations; and

(3) Any such other relief the Court deems appropriate.
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COUNT V - CIVIL CONSPIRACY
(Against Defendants West Virginia Media Holdings, LLC, Andrew Payne, David Alvarez,
Albert Bray Cary, Ralph Ballard, Richard Ballard, Oliver Luck, and James Clements)

217.  Plaintiff WV Radio incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 169 of its
Complaint as if stated fully herein.

218. Defendants West Virginia Media Holdings, LLC, Payne, Alvarez, Cary, Ralph
Ballard, Richard Ballard, Oliver Luck, and James Clements worked in combination to use their
insider positions (or connections to insiders) at West Virginia University and the West Virginia
University Foundation to personally enrich themselves and corporations in which they have a
personal interest in relation to the acquisition of the Coliseum and Football Stadium scoreboards
and video boards for the new WVU Basketball Practice Facility, the Facilities Building, and
other athletic facilities, as well as the disposition of WVU’s Third-Tier Media Rights.

219. The Insider Defendants conspired to avoid the fair, competitive bidding
requirements of the West Virginia University Procurement Rules as well as West Virginia
procurement law and regulations to personally enrich themselves and the corporation in which
they have a personal interest.

220. Each Defendant has taken a substantial step in furtherance of this conspiracy.

221. As a taxpayer, donor to the West Virginia University Foundation, and aggrieved
bidder for the Third-Tier Media Rights, Plaintiff WV Radio has been injured by the Insider
Defendants’ unlawful conspiracy and, therefore, has standing to seek the redress of these
unlawful actions.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff West Virginia Radio Corporation respectfully requests that
judgment be entered in its favor and the following relief be granted:

(1) An award of compensatory damages to compensate Plaintiff for the injuries it

has suffered;
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(2) An award of exemplary damages to punish Defendants Payne, Alvarez,
Clements, and Luck for their outrageous and scandalous behavior and to deter other future such
breaches of their fiduciary obligations; and
(3) Any such other relief the Court deems appropriate.
COUNT VI - ACTION FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT VIOLATIONS
(Against Defendant West Virginia University Board of Governors)

222, Plaintiff WV Radio incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 169 of its
Complaint as if stated fully herein.

223. Pursuant to W.Va. Code § 29B-2-1, the public policy of the State of West
Virginia is that all persons or entities are generally entitled to full and complete information
regarding the affairs of government and the official acts of those who represent them as public
officials and employees.

224. Defendant West Virginia University Board of Governors is the overarching entity
charged with the obligation to fully and completely disclose WVU's institutional affairs and the
affairs of its officials and employees.

225. Plaintiff WV Radio served multiple FOIA requests upon WVU, by certified mail
delivery to various WVU officials and employees, which were improperly denied, in whole or in
part. These improper denials give rise to this statutory cause of action.

226. To the best of Plaintiff WV Radio’s belief, all requested records are kept in
Monongalia County, West Virginia.

227. 'WVU has failed to properly respond to the FOIA Requests of Plaintiff WV Radio,
citing improper exclusions to disclosure and otherwise simply refusing to produce documents
contrary to FOIA and the spirit of the law. Plaintiff WV Radio’s right to review the requested

files has clearly been stymied by WVU’s improper actions.
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228. 'WVU's refusal to properly respond is arbitrary, capricious, and frustrates the
public policy of the FOIA as set forth in W.Va. Code § 29B-2-1.

229. WVU’s failure to properly respond triggers the enforcement provision of the
FOIA, which provides that “any person denied the right to inspect the public record of a public
body may institute proceedings for injunctive or declaratory relief in the circuit court in the
county where the public record is kept.” W.Va. Code § 29B-2-5(1) (2012).

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff West Virginia Radio Corporation respectfully requests that
judgment be entered in its favor and the following relief be granted:

(1) An injunction compelling the West Virginia University Board of Governors
to disclose the requested records in their entirety and make copies available to Plaintiff WV
Radio; and

(2) An award to Plaintiff of all attorneys’ fees and court costs from the West
Virginia University Board of Governors consistent with W.Va. Code § 29B-2-7; and

(3) Any such other relief the Court deems appropriate.
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DATED: June 19, 2013

Respectfully submitted,

SIMMERMAN LAW OFEICE, PLLC

Frank E. Simmerman, Jr.
(W. Va. Bar # 3403)
Chad L. Taylor

(W. Va. Bar # 10564)
Frank E. Simmerman, III
(W. Va. Bar #11589)

254 East Main Street
Clarksburg, WV 26301
(304) 623-4900

COHEN & GRIGSBY, P.C.
Clifford B. Levine

(Pro Hac Vice Application Pending)
Morgan J. Hanson

(Pro Hac Vice Application Pending)
625 Liberty Avenue

Pittsburgh, PA 15222-3152

(412) 297-4900
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VERIFICATION

1. J. Robert Gwynne. being first duly sworn, aver that I am the Assistant Secretary of
West Virginia Radio Corporation, that I am authorized to make this Verification on its behalf and
that the statements of fact contained in the foregoing Verified Complaint are true and correct to

the best of my knowledge, information, and belief, subject to correction if error should appear at

Q&f@u

oben Gwynne

a later date.

Taken, subscribed and sworn to before me this 19th day of June, 2013.

Notarial Seal

Michelle L. Vezzani, Notary Public

City of Pittsburgh, Allegheny County
m

EMBER, PENNSYLVANIA ASSDCIATION OF NOT.

My commission expires:

e \_/// bo —

NOTARY PUBLIC
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Report of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors
West Virginia University Foundation, Incorporated

We have audited the accompanying statement of financial position of West Virginia University
Foundation, Incorporated ("Foundation") as of June 30, 2007, and the related statements of
activity and cash flows for the yeer then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility
of the Foundation’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. The financial statements as of June 30, 2006 were audited by
Simpson & Osborne A.C., who merged with Dixon Hughes PLLC as of February 1, 2007, and
whose report dated January 31, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Foundation's internal cootrol over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of West Virginia University Foundation, Incorporated at June 30, 2007,
and the results of its activities and its cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

We also audited the adjustments described in Note 11 that were applied to restate the 2006

financial statements. In our opinion, such adjustments are appropriate and have been properly
applied.

Devon Fughes PLLE

November 20, 2007
150 Clay Stroet, Sulls 410
PO Bax 1556 S5
Morgantown, WV 26507 Praxl_tx :
Ph, 304.202.7343 Fx, 304.202.7000 —-—.— 1y
Tol Free 877.826.6372

www.dixon-hughes.com



West Virginia University Foundation, Incorporated 2
Statements of Financial Position
(Restated)
2007 2006
(in Thousands)
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents S 49,563 $ 31,730
Contributions receivable, net 22,932 15,613
Other receivables, net 3,604 4,065
Investments carried at estimated fair value:
Short-term 61,789 27,267
Long-term 816,568 682,892
878,357 710,159
Equity investment in limited partnership 4,280 4,364
Land, buildings primarily leased, and equipment, net 25,579 26,830
Beneficial interest in external trusts at estimated fair value 8,456 9,697
Other assets 7,419 6,668
Total assets $ laoooiwo $ 809,126
Liabilities and net assets
Liabilities:
Bonds payable, net of unamortized discount of $933
and $964 at June 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively $ 30,027 $ 30,606
Interest and accounts payable and other liabilities 3,305 3,352
Accrued supplemental retirement benefits and deferred
compensation 5,424 5,379
Annuity obligations 12,407 11,107
Funds held in custody for others 401,715 306,312
Total liabilities 452,878 356,756
Net assets:
Unrestricted 17,918 12,382
Board designated funds 12,078 11,854
Total unrestricted net assets 2 24,236
Temporarily restricted 58,863 42,207
Permanently restricted 458,453 385,927
Total net assets 547,312 452,370
Total liabilities and net assets $ 1,000,190 $ 809,126

See notes to the financial statements.




This page intentionally left blank.



West Virginia University Foundation, Incorporated 3

Statements of Activity

Year Ended June 30, 2007 Year Ended June 30, 2006 (Restuted)

¥ Ermancn

Temporanily  Permancntly

Unrestricted  Restricted  Restricted Total Unresiricied ~ Restricted  Restricted Totsl
(in Thowsunds)
Revenues, galos (losscs), sod other support
Contributivns H M 5§ MSI7T 5 19,595 § 540 H 446 § 19,807 § 13,538 § 3,191
Registrations and ather fees 1,720 - - 1120 1,499 . - 1,499
Investment eamings
Imerest and dividends net of
related {ees of §1,028
and 587 6,724 1,590 . 9,614 5701 715 - 6416
Net realized gaing
on sales of invesiments 749 611 17,482 18840 5212 27 15289 20,728
Net unrealized gains (losses)
on investments 44T 7,962 35,426 47,887 (1.550) m 2837 21,588
Investment camings 11,952 11,484 52,908 76344 8,363 1,243 18,126 48,732
Revalustion of beneficial i
in perpetual rusts - (1267) (175) (1442) . 1,065 n 1,097
Lease rovenuo 1975 - - 1,975 1,975 - . 1,978
Other revenue 921 8,635 194 9,806 3 5001 789 6,124
Net assets reieased from
restrictions 36,764 (36,764) & g 30,942 (30,942) x .
Total revenues, gains (losses),
snd other support 53,543 16,656 72,526 141,715 44,549 (3816 52,483 93,218
Expenaes and sapport
University support 37913 - . 37,913 37.032 . 37.032
Occupancy expense 1438 - - 143 2,434 - Z4AM
Expenses of Foundation direcied
fund raising activities 3,880 - - 3880 3469 - - 3469
Foundation financial management
cxpenscy 3,539 - - 359 3310 . 3310
Total Foundation expenses 7,419 - - TA12 6,779 - 6,779
Total expenses and support 41, - - 41T 46,245 . - 46,245
Provision for uncollectible pledges 40 - - @ (344) - (344)
Net gains on revaluation of
annuity paysble 2N " - 27 (2,232) - . (2.232)
Totwl expenses and supporn 47,783 - - 47,780 43,469 - 43,469
Changes in net nssety 5,760 16,656 72,526 94,942 1,080 (3,816) 52,485 49,749
Nel sasels at beginning of yosr 24,236 41,107 385,927 4523710 23,156 46,021 331,442 402,621
Wet axsetn &t end of yeur § 299% $ 58863 5 458453 § 547312 s 24,236 § 42207 § 345927 § 452370

See notes to the financial statements.
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West Virginia University Foundation, Incorporated 4
Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended June 30

(Restated)
2007 2006

(in Thousands)

Reconciliation of change in net assets to net cash
provided by operating activities
Change in net assets § 94,942 $ 49,749
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash
provided by operating activities

Actuarial gain (loss) on annuity obligations 146 (2,232)
Amortization of discount on bonds payable 31 30
(Increase) decrease in contributions receivable (7,319 15,438
Contributions restricted for long-term investments (19,595) (13,538)
Depreciation expense 1,292 1,343
Net realized and unrealized gains on investments (65,862) (42,500)
Change in beneficial interest in external trusts 1,241 (1,080)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities 946 (1,905)
Net cash provided by operating activities 5,822 5,305

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of land, buildings primarily leased,

and equipment (41) (41)
Purchases of investments (508,516) (198,224)
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 501,583 199,676
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (6,974 1,411

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from contributions restricted for long-term

investment 19,595 13,538
Payments on bonds payable (610) 590)
Net cash provided by financing activitics 18,985 12,9
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 17,833 19,664
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 31,730 12,066
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year S 49,563 5 31,730

Supplemental Information
Interest paid $ 1,482 $ 1,478

See notes to the financial statements.




West Virginia University Foundation, Incorporated
Notes to Financial Statements
(Dollars in Thousands)

1. Significant Accounting Policies and Other Matters

The West Virginia University Foundation, Incorporated (the "Foundation") is a scparate
nonprofit organization, incorporated in 1954, and has as its purpose “10 aid, strengthen and
further in every proper and useful way the work and services of West Virginia University (the
"University" or "WVU") and its affiliated nonprofit organizations.” Oversight of the
Foundation is the responsibility of an independently elected Board of Directors not otherwise
affiliated with the University. The President of the University is a voting member of the
Board of Directors. In camrying out its responsibilities, the Board of Directors of the
Foundation employs management, forms policy, and maintains fiscal accountability over
funds administered by the Foundation. While contributions generally are for the benefit and
support of the University and/or its affiliates, the Foundation exhibits discretion over the
distribution of assets for the benefit of the University through the guidelines and policies
under which the ultimate disbursement of assets is made. This discretion includes the right to
deny disbursement requests for items that in the Foundation's view do not meet the
guidelines and policies. In addition, the Foundation obtains legal title to the assets which it
solicits, and changes the form of the assets, upon receipt, to conform to its investment
policies, guidelines, and strategies.

Basis of Accounting

The financial statements presented herein have been prepared on the accrual basis of
accounting in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
and require management to make estimates and develop assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the financial statements and related footnotes. Actual results may differ from
management’s estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, the Foundation considers unrestricted highly
liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased to be
cash equivalents.

Contributions and Contributions Recelvable

Contributions are recorded at their estimated fair value and are considered to be available for
unrestricted use unless specifically restricted by the donor. Amounts received that are
designated for future periods or restricted by the donor for specific purposes are reported as
temporarily restricted or permanently restricted support that increases those net asset classes.




West Virginia University Foundation, Incorporated
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(Dollars in Thousands)

1. Significant Accounting Policies and Other Matters (Continued)
Contributions and Contributions Receivable (Continued)

Unconditional promises to give that are expected to be received within one year are recorded
at estimated net realizable value. Unconditional promises to give that are expected to be
received in future years are recorded at the present value of their estimated future cash flows.
The discounts on those amounts are computed using risk-free interest rates for United States
government securities having maturities that correspond to the years in which the promises
are expected to be received, Amortization of discounts is included in the contribution
revenue. Conditional promises to give are not included as support until the conditions are
substantially met.

The Foundation uses the allowance method to determine the uncollectible portion of
unconditional promises to give. The allowance for uncollectible contributions is provided
based upon management’s judgment including such factors as overall economic conditions,
current and historical loss experience, and recent contribution activity.

Student Loans

The Foundation makes loans to University students at interest rates determined by the terms
of the respective donor gift agreement. These loans are unsecured and require payment of
principal and interest once the respective student has graduated. These amounts are reflected
on the balance sheet net of allowances for doubtful accounts, which are determined based
primarily on national student loan repayment.

Investments

Investments in marketable equity and debt securities are reported at their estimated fair
values based upon quoted market prices. Short-term investments consist of investments or
portions of investments that arc non-endowed.

The Foundation also invests in alternative investments that are defined as venture capital,
international and domestic private equity investments, absolute return (hedge) funds, energy
partnerships, and real estate. The recorded market price for alternative investments is
estimated by the individual investment manager taking into account such factors as the
financial condition of each investee, economic and market conditions affecting their
operations, any changes in management, the length of time since the initial investment, recent
arm’s-length transactions involving the securities of the investee, the value of similar
securities issued by companies in the same or similar businesses, and limited marketability of



West Virginia University Foundation, Incorporated
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(Dollars in Thousands)

1. Significant Accounting Policies and Other Matters (Continued)
Investments (Continued)

the portfolio. Valuations provided by the general partners and investment managers are
evaluated by management through accounting and financial reporting processes to review
and monitor existence and valuation assertions. Management has instituted processes in the
areas of initial due diligence, ongoing monitoring and financial reporting. Specific efforts
employed by management include ongoing interaction with the fund manager to include on-
site visits and interviews, ongoing monitoring of portfolio holdings, activities and
performance. Management also reviews interim financial information and reviews details of
investment holdings to obtain an understanding of the underlying investments. Monitoring
also includes obtaining and reviewing audited financial statements noting the type of opinion,
basis of accounting, procedures pertaining to the valuation of alternative investments and
comparison of audited valuation with the fund’s valvation. Management believes the
estimated fair values of the Foundation’s alternative investments are reasonably stated at
June 30, 2007 and 2006,

Certain alternative investments require as much as 90 days notice to liquidate, while other
investments are committed to for the life of the fund. As of June 30, 2007 and 2006,
unfunded commitments totaled $111,220 and $88,876, respectively. Because of the
liquidation restrictions and the inherent uncertainty of valuation of the alternative
investments, the fair values estimated by the individual investment manager, in the absence
of readily ascertainable market values, may not necessarily represent the amounts that could
be realized from sales or other dispositions of investments, and the differences may be
material As of June 30, 2007 and 2006, alternative investments comprise 35% and 31% of
the reported fair value of the investment portfolio, respectively.

The Foundation operates a pooled investment portfolio. New funds or additions to existing
funds are assigned shares in the investment pool based upon the per share estimated fair
value at the beginning of the month in which the funds are deposited.

Income, including unrealized appreciation or depreciation and realized capital gains and
losses, is allocated on a monthly basis. Indicators of impairment are evaluated, and, if any
impairment exists, the loss from impairment is charged to operations in the period the
impairment is identified.

Land, Buildings Primarily Leased, and Equipment

Land, buildings primarily leased, and equipment are recorded at cost, when purchased, or
estimated fair value if acquired by gift. The Foundation’s capitalization policy requires

purchases of property and equipment in excess of $1 to be recorded as a capital assel.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method for buildings primarily leased and
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(Dollars in Thousands)

1. Significant Accounting Policles and Other Matters (Continued)
Land, Buildings Primarily Leased, and Equipment (Continued)

equipment in the amounts sufficient to amortize the cost thereof over their estimated useful
lives. The Foundation has assigned useful lives of 30 years for buildings and improvements
and 5 to 10 years for equipment. Maintenance and repairs of existing facilities are charged to
operating expense as incurred. Equipment purchased for departments of the University is
recognized as University support and transferred to the University.

Beneficial Interest in External Trusts

The Foundation maintains an irrevocable right to receive the income earned on trust assets
held in perpetuity by a third party. Upon the establishment of such a trust, the Foundation
records an asset and contribution revenue based on the fair value of the contribution, which is
measured as the present value of the estimated future cash receipts for the trust's assets. The
contribution is recorded as permanently restricted, and adjustments to the asset, based on an
annual review, are recorded as a permanently restricted gain or loss included in investment
income. At June 30, 2007 a discount rate of 11.6% was utilized by the Foundation to measure
the asset. At June 30, 2006 discount rates ranging from 5% to 10% besed on the underlying
assets of the trust were utilized.

Annuities Payable

Under the terms of the Foundation's annuity and trust agreements, the donors or their
designees, during their lifetime or for a fixed term, receive either a predetermined
distribution or a fixed rate return based upon the estimated fair value of the trust as
determined annually. Upon the death of the donor or expiration of the fixed term, the trust
assets are utilized by the Foundation for the purpose specified in the annuity agreement. The
Foundation records the related assets held in trust at fair value when received and the liability
is recorded at the present value of the estimated future payments to be distributed over the
expected life. Discount rates of 3.60% — 11% and 3.60% - 10.6% were used as of June 30,
2007 and 2006, respectively, in the determination of amounts due donors and/or designees.

Net Assets

The Foundation has classified its net assets and its revenues, eXpenses, gains, and losses
based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. Below is a summary of
those classifications:

Unrestricted: Assets and contributions that are not restricted by donors or for which
restrictions have expired are unrestricted. Unrestricted net assets also include assets that
have been restricted for use by the Foundation’s board of directors.
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1. Significant Accounting Policies and Other Matters (Continued)

Net Anets (Continued)

Temporarily Restricted: Assets and contributions for which the donor has imposed
restrictions that permit the Foundation to use or expend the donated assets for University
support according to the restricion are temporarily restricted. The restrictions are
satisfied either by the passage of time or by actions of the Foundation.

Permanently Restricted: Assets and contributions for which the donor stipulates that
resources be maintained permanently are permanently restricted. Generally, the donor
permits the Foundation to use or expend part or all of the income derived from the
donated assets. Such assets are comprised of endowments, which are subject to the
restrictions of gift instruments requiring that the principal be invested in perpetuity
Spending of the related investment income for University support is mandated by the
Foundation's spend policy as approved annually by the Board of Directors. The Board of
Directors has interpreted the facts and circumstances under which endowment gifts have
been solicited as placing permanent restrictions on the net appreciation of endowment
fund assets.

Funds Held in Custody for Others

The Foundation holds investments and other funds for certain third-parties under a custodial
or agency relationship. The investments and other funds are reported as assets, while an
offsetting liability is recorded in Funds Held in Custody for Others. Investments that are held
and managed for the custody of others primarily represent investments managed by the
Foundation for the benefit of the West Virginia University Hospitals, Inc. ("WVUH") in
accordance with the Investment Management Agency Agreement between WVUH and the
Foundation. Investments and other funds that are held under an agency relationship
represents assets received from the donor in which the Foundation agreed to use those assets
on behalf of or transfer those assets, the return on investment of those assets, or both to a
beneficiary specified by the donor. Funds held for the custody and the related assets are
measured at estimated fair value.

Reclassifications

Certain 2006 net asset amounts have been reclassified to conform to the 2007 presentation
based on management's reassessment of the restriction classifications. Such reclassifications
had no impact on total net assets on the statements of financial position or on the net change
in assets on the statements of activity.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

(Dollars in Thousands)

2. Receivables

The following table summarizes outstanding receivables and the related allowances:

Amounts to be received within one year

Amounts to be received within one to five years

Amounts to be received after five years

Promises to give before unamortized discount,
allowance for uncollectible receivables, and
allowance for conditional pledges

Allowance for uncollectible receivables

Allowance for conditional pledges

Unamortized discount
Contributions receivable, net

Student loans and advances, net
Notes and other

Less allowance for doubtful accounts
Other receivables, net

10

June 30
2007 2006
§ 13,293 $ 9399
13,429 0,652
1,475 1,475
28,197 20,526
(1,500) (1,569)
(1,462) (1,765)
25,2358 17,192
(2,303) (1,579)
§ 22932 $ 15,613
$ 2,563 $ 2,499
1,223 1,748
3,786 4,247
(182) (182)
§ 3,604 $ 4,065

Discount rates approximating 5% were used to record unconditional promises to give at the
present value of their estimated cash flows at June 30, 2007 and 2006.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(Dollars in Thousands)

3. Investments

The cost and estimated fair values of investments at June 30 are as follows:

2007 2006
Estimated Estimated
Fair Value Cost Fair Value Cost
Fixed Income:
Corporate bonds
and notes § 104065 § 100,624 § 83,922 § 87,505
United States Treasury,
government agency, and
other government
obligations 32,003 31,113 25,978 26,138
International 38941 _  35.265 36,187 35,174
Subtotal 175,009 167,002 146,087 148,817
Equity:
Large cap 158,058 128,304 156,203 142,647
Mid cap 31,190 26,350 27,960 27,601
International 132,906 91,097 122,249 93,638
Small cap - - 13,227 11,713
Other 33.933 28473 - -
Subtotal 356,087 274,224 319,639 275.599
Alternative Investments:
Private capital 71,693 61,052 73,776 68,434
Real assets 134,035 105,673 87,766 76,155
Hedge funds 110,391 89,810 67.448 56,963
Subtotal 316,119 256.535 228,990 201,552
Money market funds 31142 ____ 31123 15.443 15,443
Total investments 878387 S__ 728884 $__ 710150 § 641411

The gain or loss on investments is reported net of custodial and investment management fees
approximating $1,028 and $887 for the years ended June 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
Further the gain or loss on investments does not reflect approximately $19,942 and $7,994 of
unrealized losses or $28,906 and $14,212 of realized gains related to agency transactions, as
of June 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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West Virginia University Foundation, Incorporated
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(Dollars in Thousands)

3. Investments (Continued)

During 2002, the Foundation purchased investments in West Virginia Media Holdings, LLC
(West Virginia Media), a media company operating television stations and a newspaper in
West Virginia. The Chairman of West Virginia Media was a member of the Foundation's
Board of Directors; (his term expired in August 2005) and five members of the Foundation's
Board of Directors have advised the Foundation that they have individual investments in
West Virginia Media. The Foundation's investment in West Virginia Media was comprised
of a $2,000 equity position and $5,750 of senior subordinated notes that mature in 2010.
Interest was scheduled to be paid quarterly on the Notes at an annual rate of 10% through
December 31, 2007 and at 8.61% thereafter. During 2006 an unrealized loss on investments
of $5,047 was included in the Statement of Activity. The investment was sold in January
2007 at the June 30, 2006 carrying value of $2,703.

The Foundation receives deferred giving vehicles from donors which are subject to split-
interest agreements, These agreements consist primarily of charitable gift annuities,
charitable remainder unitrusts and charitable remainder annuity trusts. The Foundation
received contributions to establish new split-interest agreements of $1,50]1 and $583 for the
years ended June 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Of the amount recorded as long-term
investments, approximately $25,665 and $22,894 represent assets from split-interest
agreements at June 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively. These amounts include split-interest
agreements with certain Foundation employees and members of its Board of Directors
consisting of assets of approximately $1,501 and $583 at June 30, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. Payments are made to donors and/or other beneficiaries in accordance with the

respective agreements.
4. Land, Buildings Primarily Leased, and Equipment

A summary of land, buildings primarily leased, and equipment and accumulated allowances
for depreciation follows:

ne 30
2007 2006
Land $ 1,611 § 1,611
Buildings primarily leased and improvements 28,691 28,691
Equipment 2,910 2.869
33,212 33,171
Less allowance for depreciation ( 7.633) 6.341)

25570 $ 26830

Depreciation expense for the years ended June 30, 2007 and 2006 was $1,292 and $1,343,
respectively.
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West Virginia University Foundation, Incorporated
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(Dollars in Thousands)

4. Land, Buildings Primarily Leased, and Equipment (Continued)

Included within the amounts above is $30,302 related to One Waterfront Place, a seven floor,
172,000-square-foot office building that was purchased in 2001 and is located on the
waterfront in Morgantown, West Virginia. The Foundation occupies one floor of the building
while the remaining six floors are leased to the University through an operating lease with
the State of West Virginia, Department of Administration, acting on behalf of the University.
The lease began on June 1, 2001 and ends on May 31, 2031; however, it is cancelable upon
30-days written notice from the State. The carrying amount of the property leased is
approximately $20,664 and $21,517 as of June 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The total
lease payments are $165 per month. During 2007 and 2006, the Foundation recorded $1,975
of lease revenue related to this lease.

5. Equity Investment in Limited Partnership

The Foundation owns a 39% equity interest in the Waterfront Place Parking Garage, LLC
(the Garage), which owns and operates & parking garage located adjacent to One Waterfront
Place. Southside Lumber Company, a for-profit corporation, owns the remaining 61% of the
Garage. The Foundation's investment is accounted for under the equity method of accounting
whereby its initial investment was recorded at a cost of $4,855 and the carrying amount of
the investment is adjusted to recognize the Foundation’s portion of the Garage’s income or
loss since the date of acquisition. Such amounts were not material for the years ended June
30, 2007 and 2006.

6. Long Term Debt

On March 14, 2002, the West Virginia Economic Development Authority (the Authority)
issued $3,000 of Series A 2002 Bonds and $30,310 of Series B 2002 Bonds on behalf of the
Foundation to finance the cost of the acquisition, construction, equipping, and furnishing of
One Waterfront Place. The Foundation occupies approximately 11% of the building, and the
remainder is occupied by the University. Lease payments received approximate the annual
debt service on the Series B Bonds.

The Series A Bonds are secured by a promissory note from the Foundation to the Authority
and, as such, are an obligation of the Foundation. The Foundation has entered into a Standby
Bond Purchase Agreement with PNC Bank to provide a liquidity facility. The Series A
Bonds are rated A+/Al by Standard & Poor’s and As3/VMIG-1 by Moody's Investors
Service.

The Series A Bonds were issued as variable-rate bonds bearing interest at a weekly rate to be
determined by the Remarketing Agent (PNC Bank) but may be converted to another mode of
interest. From July 1, 2006 through June 30, 2007, the actual interest rate ranged from 3.4%
to 4% per annum. The Series A Bonds will mature on July 1, 2017.
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6. Long Term Debt (Continued)

The Series B Bonds are secured by a promissory note from the Foundation to the Authority.
The sole source of revenues available to the Foundation to meet its obligations is lease
payments reccived from the State on behalf of the University. Pursuant to the loan
agreement, the Foundation has assigned to United National Bank (the Trustee) its right to
receive such lease payments. Neither general funds of nor future contributions to be received
by the Foundation were pledged to the payment of the Series B Bonds. The Series B Bonds
were priced so that the annual debt service for principal and interest approximates the annual
lease payments to be received from the State. The Series B Bonds are further secured through
a financial guaranty insurance policy issued by Ambac Assurance. The Series B Bonds are
rated AAA by Standard & Poor's and Aaa by Moody's Investors Services.

The Series B Bonds are recorded net of discounts totaling $1,100 at issuance that are being
amortized over the life of the Series B Bonds using the effective-interest method. The
unamortized discount approximated $933 and $964 at June 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The Series A and B 2002 Bonds were issued by the Authority on behalf of the Foundation
with maturities as detailed below:

Maturing in July Coupon Principal
Series B serial bonds
2007 350% $ 625
2008 3.70% 650
2009 3.90% 675
2010 4.05% 700
2011 4.15% 730
2012 4.25% 760
2013 4.40% 790
2014 4.50% 825
2015 4.60% 865
Total serial bonds 6,620
Serial B term bonds
2019 5.00% 3,885
2022 5.00% 3,455
2031 5.00% 14,000
Total term bonds 21,340
Total series B bonds 27,960
Series A bonds maturing 2017 3,000
Total bonds outstanding 30,960
Unamortized discount 933

Net $ 30,027
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West Virginia University Foundation, Incorporated
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(Dollars in Thousands)

6. Long Term Debt (Continued)

Debt service for the Series A 2002 and Series B 2002 bonds for the fiscal years ending June
30 follows:

Total
Fiscal Year Principal
Ending Principal Interest and Interest
2008 $ 625 § 1342 § 1,967
2009 650 1,320 1,970
2010 675 1,296 1,971
2011 700 1,270 1,970
2012 730 1,241 1,971
Thereafter 27,580 14,806 42,386

§ 30960 S 21,275 _§ 52235

As of June 30, 2007, $1,176, included in Investments, was held by the Trustee for scheduled
principal and interest payments on the outstanding bonds.

7. Retirement Benefits and Deferred Compensation

The Foundation has a contributory retirement plan covering its full-time employees.
Employer contributions are based on a percentage of salary and are applied as premiums on
regular retirement annuity contracts owned by each employee after a two-year vesting period.
Retirement expense approximated $391 and $413 in 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The Foundation has six supplemental retirement or deferred compensation plans covering
certain current and former employees of the University or Foundation that provide for
payments upon retirement, death, or disability. The liability associated with these plans was
$5,424 and $5,379 as of June 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The Foundation entered into agreements in 1982 with two former WVU coaches. These plans
were funded through private gifts and are fully vested with each of the individuals currently
receiving benefits.

The Foundation entered into agreements in 1987 with the former WVU President and the
former WVU Foundation President. These plans are funded in arrears through life insurance
proceeds and are fully vested with each of the individuals currently receiving benefits.

The Foundation entered into an agreement in 1998 with the former WVU Foundation
President. This plan is funded through the Foundation’s operational budget and is fully
vested. However, the individual does not currently receive benefits,
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7. Retirement Benefits and Deferred Compensation (Continued)

The Foundation entered into an agreement in 2004 with the University for the benefit of the
WVU President. The Foundation has agreed to provide funding for a contingent retirement
program for the present and future presidents based upon years of service to the University
by the respective president. As of June 30, 2007, all participants of the program that have
vested are included in the deferred compensation liability on the Statements of Financial
Position. Future benefit obligations will be accrued as the participants become vested.

8. University Support

A summary of University support is presented below:

Years Ended June 30
2007 2006
University salaries and professional development
grants and awards $ 9,338 $ 10,722
Student support 10,460 10,140
Faculty, staff, and student travel 1,344 1,391
Cultural programs and meetings 3,164 2,897
Professional services 2,809 2,907
Capital projects and equipment 6,669 4,776
Other support 4,132 4,199

§ 37913 § 37,032

Included in University support are University directed fund raising costs, which
approximated $2,825 and $3,350 in 2007 and 2006, respectively.

9. Custodial and Agency Transactions

The Foundation holds investments and other funds for certain third parties in a custodial or
agency relationship. Because the assets and liabilities are always equal, no net assets are
reported. A summary of the outstanding investments and other funds held for certain third
parties follows:

June 30
2007 2006
West Virginia University Hospitals, Inc. $ 346,312 $ 283,298
West Virginia University 36,811 6,040
WVU Alumni Association, Inc, 9,828 7,784
Blanchette Rockefeller Neurosciences Institute, Inc. 8,561 8,971
Other 203 219

$ 401,715 $ 306,312
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West Virginia University Foundation, Incorporated
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
(Dollars in Thousands)

9. Custodial and Agency Transactions (Continned)

During 2003, the Foundation entered into a revolving line of credit agreement with the
Blanchette Rockefeller Neurosciences Institute, inc. (BRNI). Under the terms of this
agreement and subsequent amendments, the line of credit is secured by BRNI's gift fund,
which approximated $12,828 and $11,301 at June 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The
maximum amount that can be outstanding at any time cannot exceed 65% of the fair value of
the unencumbered amount of BRNI's gift fund. The interest rate on the line of credit is 5%
per annum and is payable on a monthly basis. The initial term of the agreement was three
years and at the discretion of the Foundation is renewable for additional one-year terms. The
amount owed to the Foundation as of June 30, 2007 and 2006, approximates $7,358 and
$5,462, which is netted in the liability Funds Held in Custody for Others on the Statements of
Financial Position based on the Foundation's ability to legally set-off the amount owed
against BRNI's gift fund investments.

10. Tax Status

The Internal Revenue Service has ruled that the Foundation is exempt from income taxes as
an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and is classified
as a public charity under Section 509(2)(1) and Section L70(b)(1)(A)(iv).

11. Retrospective Adjustment

The Foundation holds investments in several funds for the West Virginia University Alumni
Association and West Virginia University Hospital. In the past, the Foundation has treated
some of these funds as agency accounts as discussed in Note 9. During the year ended June
30, 2007, Foundation management determined that additional funds should have been treated
as agency accounts, It was also determined that certain funds restricted by the Foundation’s
board of directors that were previously reported as temporarily or permanently restricted
should have been reported as unrestricted. The accompanying financial statements for 2006
have been restated to reflect the corrections. Also, net assets at July 1, 2005, were reduced
by $6,968 as a result of the adjustments described above,

The following is a summary of the restatements for 2006:

Reduction of contributions revenue $ (3,637)
Reduction of investment earnings (159)
Increase of other revenue 11

Reduction of University support 1,906

Total reduction of change in net assets N (1.879)
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11. Retrospective Adjustment (Continued)

The effect on the Foundation's previously issued 2006 financial statements are summarized
as follows:

Statement of Financial Position - June 30, 2006

Previously Increase
—Reported = __ Restated = _ (Decrease)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 31,730 § 31,730 § .
Receivables 19,678 19,678 -
Investments at fair value 710,159 710,159 -
Equity investment 4,364 4,364 -
Land, building, and equipment 26,830 26,830 -
Beneficial interest in external trusts 9,697 9,697 -
Other assets : 6,668 6,668 -
Total assets $__800126 § 809426 § -
Previously Increase
—Reported = __Restated = _ (Decrease)

Bonds payable $ 30,606 $ 30,606 $ -
Interest, accounts payable, and

other liabilities 3,352 3,352 -
Accrued supplement retirement

benefits and deferred compensation 5,379 5,379 -
Annuity obligations 11,107 11,107 .
Funds held in custody for others 297,465 306,312 8,847
Net assets 461,217 452,370 (8.847)

Total liabilities and

net assets $ 800,126 $ 809,126 T r-
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11. Retrospective Adjustment (Continued)

Statement of Activities — June 30, 2006

Previously Increase
- __Reported ~ _ Restated = _ (Decreasc)
Contributions $ 37,428 § 33,791 § (3,637)
Registrations and other fees 1,499 1,499 -
Investment earnings 48,891 48,732 (159)
Revaluation of beneficial interests 1,097 1,097 -
Lease revenue 1,975 1,975 -
Other revenue 6,113 6,124 11
Total revenues, gains (losses),
and other support ’ 97,003 93,218 (3,785)
University support 38,938 37,032 (1,906)
Occupancy expense 2,434 2,434 -
Expenses of Foundation directed
fund raising activities 3,469 3,469 B
Foundation financial management
expenses 3,310 3,310 -
Provision for uncollectible pledges (544) (544) -
Net gains on revaluation of
annuity payable (2.232) (2.232) -
Total expenses and support 45.375 43,469 (1.906)
Changes in net assets 51,628 49,749 (1,879)
Net assets at beginning of year 409,589 402.621 (6.968)
Net assets at end of year $ 461217 § 452370 §__ (8.847)
Statement of Cash Flows — June 30, 2006
Previously Increase
—Reported ate _(Decrease)
Cash flows from operating activities § 6,472 § 5,305 § (1,167)
Cash flows from investing activities (416) 1,411 1,827
Cash flows from financing activities 13.608 12,948 (660)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 19,664 19,664 -
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year 12.066 12,066 2
Cash and cash equivalents at
ending of year § 31730 8 31,730 §__ -
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DIXON HUGHES
Cartifed! Public Acoountants end Advisors

Report of Independent Aunditors
on Other Financial Information

Board of Directors
West Virginia University Foundation, Incorporated

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the 2007 financial statements
of the Foundation taken as a whole. The financial statements as of June 30, 2006 were audited
by Simpson & Osborne A.C., who merged with Dixon Hughes PLLC as of February 1, 2007,
and whose report dated January 31, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements.
The following reconciliation of contributions is presented for purposes of additional analysis and
is not a required part of the financial statements of West Virginia University Foundation,
Incorporated. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our
audit of the 2007 financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects

in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.

Diron Rughes PLLE

November 20, 2007

150 Clay Street, Suite 410

PO Box 1556

Morgantown, WV 26607

Ph. 304.202.7343 Fx. 304.202.7029
Toll Free 877.826.6372
www.dxon-hughes.com

Praxjﬁi":

RN
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Reconciliation of Contributions

Years Ended June 30
(Restated)
2007 2006
(in Thousands)
Contributions

Contributions received as gifts by the Foundation § 86,976 $ 61,221
Difference in valuation of trust gifts for financial

statement presentation (40) (934)
In-kind gifts received directly by the University (26,042) (1,638)
Other non-GAAP gifts (8,211 (4,304)
Net impact of adjustments to contributions receivable 7,318 (15,885)
Life income gifts reclassified to annuities payable (920) (365)
Contributions from perpetual trusts reclassified to

interest income (896) (538)
Life income gifts released from annuities payable

due to termination of trust 191 282

Contribution recorded as agency liability (4,054) (4,048)
Contributions per staterments of activity 5 54,322 33,791
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$$$$$

Descnption QF contract or
instrument

Name of person or
organization with whom

contract is made

$$$$$

9999999
oooooo

e

OPERATING AGREEMENT OF
WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

PARTNERS, LP AND

WEST VIRGiNfA' MED;A?

i

-

08/20/2003

\\\\\\

i

Description of contract or '
instrument

Namé i)i‘ person or

organization ! with wh'or'h'

contract is made

Date of Execution

Date of Expira:t:ioq

WBOY NBCNETWORK _NBC TELEVISION | ]
AFFILIATION AGREEMENT _|NETWORK s el
: : Q il Name of person or ;

Descrlptlon of contract 9 .
lnstrument

~ |organization with wt@om

contract is made

Date of Execution

Date of Expiration

~ |WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

HOLDINGS, LLC;

- TELEVISION $
i ACQUISITION, LLC; 1 ke
: pROMISSORY NO'FE WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA 12/13/2001 g1/0:2/2014
:f i MANAGEMENT, LLC; & S
BRANCH BANKINGAND | ;
E - TRUST COMPANY b

Description of contract or

Name of person or

jorganization with whom

~ |Date of Execution

Date of Exéiratié:i

Descrlptlon of conttactidr‘
tnstrument " -

ooooo

aaaaa

instrument contract is made :
WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
|HOLDINGS, LLC;
(e S - |TELEVISION o LB Sk S
‘é " . O ‘: »22‘9 ACQUISHION LLC|‘° »x &_‘& a o -
PR?M{%SQRY NOTE WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA_ 12/ 13/;001 01/02/2014
. MANAGEMENT, le€ &
UNITED NAEONAL 4| -
BANK s n N

- |Date of Expiration

https:;"flicens'mg.fcc.gow’cgi-bin}ws.exeﬁprodg"..ext=25&appn=101245495&f0rmid=323&fac_num=.71220 (4 of 45) [5}24{20‘.13.4:37:2.5 PM] |
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\\\\\\\

|WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

HOLDINGS, LLC;
TELEVISION
ACQUISITION II, LLC;

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
MANAGMENT, LLC; &

04/30/2002

4/02/2014

UNITED BANK, INC.

Description of contract or
instrument

contract is made

orgamgat;lon with whom'

Date of Execution

Date of Expiration

ooooooo

\\\\\\

HOLDINGS, LLC;
TELEVISION
ACQUISITION II, LLC;

»»»»»

;TRUST COMPANY

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA 04730/ 200

MANAGEMENT LLC; &
BRANCH BANKING AND

999999

- 14/02/2014

ooooo

Description of contract or s
linstrument «»

Nai'ne of person or
organlzatlon with whom
 |contract is made

99999

ooooooo

99999

PLEDGE AGREEMENT
(TELEVISION ACQUI;‘E;T;QI‘% 1,
Loy $

~ |WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

$$$$$

~ |HOLDINGS, LLC; WEST
 VIRGINIA MEDIA

MANAGEMENT, LLC;
BRANCH BANKING AND
TRUST COMPANY;
UNITED BANK, INC.; &
TELEVISION

04/30/2002

ACQUISITION IL, LLC |

o
L
§§§§§

\\\\\\\\\\\
e
S

Description of contract or
instrument i

$$$$$
$$$$$

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

oooooooooo
»»»»»

$$$$$

Date,, of Executloh

Date of Expiration

CBS TELEVISION NETWQRK
AFFILIATION AGREEMENT
(AND ALL RELATED
INSTRUMENTS AND

CBS TELEVISION
NETWORK AND
BRISSETTE TV OF

WHEELING, INC.

11/08/1994

06/30/2013

| |AMENDMENTS)

e

G

G
e

https ;‘;‘hcensmg fcc.gov/cgi-bin/ws.exe/prod/...ext= ZS&appn 101245495&form|d 323&fac_num=71220 (8 of 45) [5;‘24!2013 4: 3? 25 PM]
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$$$$$

oooooooooo

ooooooo
.........

.....

$$$$$$$$$

ttéziorgamzatlon with wl§om Date of Executlon Date ef Explratlon
~ |contract is made

......

- |ACQUISITION III, LLC

SIL NORTHEAST LLC ‘‘‘‘‘ -
SJL NORTHEAST =

LICENSE SUBSIDIARY, |
|LLC; WEST VIRGINIA  (05/01/2002

 |MEDIA HOLDINGS, LLC; | e
- |& TELEVISION i P

instru ment

|[Name of person or 3 e
|organization with whom |Date of Execution |Date of Expiration
|contract is made ? ¥

CBS TELEVISION NETWORK
AFFILIATION AGREEMENT
(AND ALL RELATED
INSTRUMENTS AND
AMENDMENTS)

écas TELEVISION

- [NETWORK AND v : S
GATEWAY 05/24/1995  |5/14/2013
COMMUNICATIONS, - e
e

««««««««

\\\\\\\

ooooooo

Description of contract or
instrument

oooooooo

orgamzataBH ;n;ffh whom |Date of Exeféﬁtiﬁon Date of E_xpiratibn
contract is madé ” L s

i

il PLEDGE AGREEMENT
| {(TELEVISION ACQUISITION
| i, LLC}

~ [TRUST COMPANY;
~ |UNITED BANK, INC.; &

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA ; g o
HOLDINGS, LLC; WEST | T vl
VIRGINIA MEDIA : el B
MANAGEMENT LLC gk 0 oo

«««««««

~ [BRANCH BANKING AND [05/01/2002

TELEVISION

ACQUISITION III, LLC

Description of contract or
instrument

.........

......
.......
9999999999999

Name of [iéifscilfx or

oooooo

$$$$$

ooooo
$$$$$$

$$$$$$$$$$$

.................

............
..............

ooooooooooooo

ooooo

99999
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TERM LOAN AGREEMENT
(HUNTINGTON-CHARLESTON/
WOWK-TV)

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

HOLDINGS, LLC;
TELEVISION -
ACQUISITION 111, LLC
WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
MANAGEMENT, LLC;
BRANCH BANKING AND
TRUST COMPANY; &
UNITED BANK, INC.

$$$$$$$

\\\\\

Description of contract or
instrument

Name of person of

e

g:pntract IS made‘

Date ;fof Execution |Date of Expiratiﬁn |

FIRST AMENDMENT TO
SECURITY AGREEM ENT

$$$$$

$$$$$$$$$$$

$$$$$$$
$$$$$$$
$$$$$$$

[TELEVISION
|ACQUISITION, 1I, LLC;
* |WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA |
;g HOLDINGS, LLC; WEST
VIRGINIA MEDIA

* IMANAGEMENT, LLC;

BRANCH BANKING AND
TRUST COMPANY; &

~ 105/01/2002

\\\\\\\\
VVVVVVV
999999

ooooo
«««««
ooooo

UNITED BANK, INC.

o
G

ooooooo

«««««
$$$$$
G

Name of pieﬁrsqng or
organlzatlen with whom
contract is made

ooooo

¢¢¢¢¢
$$$$$
$$$$$

$$$$$$$$

$$$$$
$$$$$

ooooo

ooooo

$$$$$$$

FIRST AMENDMENT TO TERM
LOAN AGREEMENT (WHEELING/
WTRF-TV)

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC
TELEVISION
ACQUISITION II, LLC
WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
MANAGEMENT, LLC;

S
$$$$$

z BRANCH BANKING AND

oooooo

 [TRUST COMPANY; &
 |UNITED BANK, INC.

oooooooo

$$$$$$$$

$$$$$$

vvvvvv
»»»»»

,,,,,
,,,,,

oooooooooo

99999

ooooo

\\\\\

««««««
ooooo

99999
$$$$$$

oooooooooooo

ooooooo
oooooooo

Descrlptlon of contract or
instrument i

Name of person or

organization with whom

A
sssss

contract is made

«««««««
oooooooo

$$$$$

https://licensing.fcc. gov!cgl bin/ws.exe/prod/...ext= 25&appn 101245495&formid= 323&fac num=71220 (11 of 45) {5)‘24{2013 4: 37 26 PM]
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\\\\\

|SECOND AMENDMENT TO
TERM LOAN AGREEMENT

\\\\\

WEST VIRGINIA MEDBA
HOLDINGS, LLC; WBOY-
TV, AWV LLC; WEs?r
VIRGINIA MEDIA
MANAGEMENT, LLC;
BRANCH BANKING AND
TRUST COMPANY; AND
UNITED BANK, INC.

e
,,,,,,

05/01/2002

Name of person or
organization with Whom

<<<<<<

««««««

- conh'act is made

o contractismade | -
WBOY-TV, A WV LLC
feadl WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
SECOND AMENDMENT TO ;’I%'E;[’IgﬁSM'E'B‘I:AWEST s
SECURITY AGREEMENT 05/01/2002
(CLARKSBURG/WBOY-TV) MANAGEMENT, LLC; |7
i ~ [BRANCH BANKING AND |
IIIIII ~ [TRUST COMPANY; AND
o U,,NITED BANK, INC. -
°°°°°°° . Name of pEES:OT'I or = .
Description of contract or - e .
T e ; o;ganlzation with whom - ?at%pf Execution

Date of Expiration

AMENDED ANEI?RESJAIEQ

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC &

OPERATING AG“REEMENT*OF%%I

" |WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA |
 IWEST VIRGINIA MEDIRE 01/02/2002
L PARTNERS GP, LLC

PARTNERS LP AND

ooooo
ooooo

oooooo

ooooo

| |Description of contract or
instrument

Name of person or
organization wn;h whom
contract is made

ooooo

Date of Execution

Date of Expiration ||

WRITTEN AGREEMENT OF
MEMBERS IN LIEU QF -

oooooo

$$$$$$
$$$$$$
$$$$$$

$$$$$

25, 2002

MEMBERS OF WEST
+  |VIRGINIA MEDIA
~ |HOLDINGS, LLC

 04/25/2002

G
oooooo

\\\\\\\\
\\\\\\

oooooooo

sssss

\\\\\
ooooo

Déscriptiio:j of contract or
instrument_ =

Name of personor
organization with whom

contract is made

Date of ;Egecution

Date of Expiration i

https://licensing.fcc.gov/cgi-bin/ws.exe/prod/...ext=25&appn=101245495&formid=323&fac_num=71220 (12 of 45) [5/24/2013 4:37:26 PM]
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kit § N

| |SECURITY AGREEMENT (wvsx-
vy _ :

ACQUISITION 1V, LLC;
WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
MANAGEMENT, LLC;

TRUST COMPANY AND'
UNITED BANK INC.

[WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
~ |HOLDINGS, LLC;
- [TELEVISION

BRANCH BANKING & |

: 02/28/20@3

Gl

,,,,,

'Descrlptlon of contract or
mstru ment ‘

Name of person er .
~|organization with whom
~ |contract is made

Date of Execution |Date of Expiration

| [THIRD AMENDMENT TO
| [SECURITY AGREEMENT
(CLARKSBURG/WBOY-TV)

.....

“[WBOY-TV, AWV LLC;

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC; WEST
VIRGINIA MEDIA
MANAGEMENT, LLC;
BRANCH BANKING AND

TRUST COMPANY: AND gfi |

02/28/2003

UNITED BANK, INC.

Descnption of contract or
mstru ment '

Name of person or

contract is made .

organization with whom

Date of Execution Date of Expiration

| |SECOND AMENDMENT TO
| |SECURTTY AGREEMENT
(WHEELING/WTRF—TV)

WTRF-TV, LLC; WEST

- |VIRGINIA MEDIA
- |HOLDINGS, LLC; WEST
'|VIRGINIA MEDIA

MANAGEMENT, LLC;
BRANCH BANKING AND
TRUST COMPANY; AND
UNITED BANK, INC

~ 102/28/2003

! Descnptlon of contract or
mstrument

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

Date of Eicecuticl;n Date of Expi‘ration

https://licensing.fcc.gov/cgi-bin/ws.exe/prod/...ext=25&appn=101245495&formid=323&fac_num=71220 (14 of 45) [5/24/2013 4:37:26 PM]




WD riinL

FIRST AMENDMENT TO
SECURITY AGREEMENT
|(HUNTINGTON-CHARLESTON/
wowk-Tv)

WOWK-TV [Cs WEST '

VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC; WEST

~ |VIRGINIA MEDIA
IMANAGEMENT, LLC; [
BRANCH BANKING AND |
~ [TRUST COMPANY; AND

~ |UNITED BANK, INC.? L.

|02/28/2003

= Descriptio:ﬁ of contract or
: mstrument

.........

ooooo

organlzation with whoﬁm
contract is made

Date of Execution Date 0f Explratlon

aaaaa

PLEDGE AGREEMENT
(TELEVISION ACQUISITION Iv,
LLC) Lo

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC; WEST
VIRGINIA MEDIA
MANAGEMENT, LLC;
BRANCH BANKING AND
TRUST COMPANY;
UNITED BANK, INC;
AND TELEVISION
ACQUISITION 1V, LLC

..........

B

| [Description of contract or
| [instrument

|Name of person or
|organization with whom

toqtract is made

Date of Execution [Date of Expiration

.......

PLEDGE AGREEMENT
(TELEVISION ACQUISITION I)

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

$$$$$$$$

HOI:DINGS LLC WEST

~ |VIRGINIA MEDIA
 IMANAGEMENT, LLC;

- |[BRANCH BANKING AND

TRUST COMPANY;

UNITED BANK, INC.;
AND WBOY-TV, A WV
Kileii i &

102/28/2003

Description of contract or
instrument L

Name of person or
organization with whom

contract is made

Date of Execution Da’:t'ef of Expiréfion

https://licensing.fcc.gov/cgi-bin/ws.exe/prod/...ext=25&appn=101245495&formid=323&fac_num=71220 (15 of 45) [5/24/2013 4:37:26 PM]




wUDD FIIIL

FIRST AM:EN DMENT TO.

|(TELEVISION ACQUISTTION I

~ [WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

HOLDINGS, LLC; WEST
VIRGINIA MEDIA
MANAGEMENT, LLC;
BRANCH BANKING AND
TRUST COMPANY;
UNITED BANK, INC.:
AN}'ji% WTRF-TV, LLC

02/28/2003

| [Description of contract or
instrument

Name of person or

organization with whom
contract is made

,,,,,,,,,,

FIRST AMENDMENTTO
PLEDGE AGREEMENT
(TELEViSION ACQUISITION m)

\\\\\\\\\\\

\\\\\\\\\

MANAGEMENT, LLC;
BRANCH BANKING AND
[TRUST COMPANY;

~ |UNITED BANK, INC.;

AND WOWK-TV L‘?.C

[WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA |
- |HOLDINGS, LLC; WEST
IVIRGINIA MEDIA

.....

02/28/2003

wwwwww

.....

Description of contract os:
mst;:ument ’

Name of person or
organization with"i’NhOm
contract is made

Date of Executioh\ Date of ;éxpiration

| [FIRST AMENDMENT Io TERM
| |LOAN AGREEMENT
| [(HUNTINGTON-CHARLESTON/

WOWK-TV) C e

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC;
WOWK-TV, LLC; WEST
VIRGINIA MEDIA
MANAGEMENT, LLC;
BRANCH BANKING AND

06/28/2002

TRUST COMPANY; AND |
UNITED BANK, INC. |

| [Description of contract or
| |instrument -

Name of person or

organization with whom
contract is made

Date of Execution [Date of Expiration

https://licensing.fcc.gov/cgi-bin/ws.exe/prod/...ext=25&appn=101245495&formid=323&fac_num=71220 (16 of 45) [5/24/2013 4:37:26 PM]




LwDD Frin

SECOND AMENDMENT TO
TERM LOAN AGREEMENT
(WHEELING/WTRF-TV)

- IVIRGINIA MEDIA

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

; _:;I".LDINGQ lLC WTRF-
I ALE: WEST ™

MANAGEMENT, LLC;

TRUST COMPANY; AND
UNITED BANK, INC.

|06/30/2002
BRANCH BANKING AND '

! Descrlptlon of contract or
instrument i

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

Date of Execution |Date of Expiration

LOAN AGREEMENT, o

THIRD AMENDMENT TO TERM VIR@INIA MEDIA

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOJ_DINGS LLC WBOY-

oooooo

MANAGEMENT, LLC;
BRANCH BANKING AND

“““““

20 TRUST COMPANY; AND
i UNITED BANI( INC

06/30/2002

Description of contract or
instrumentv e

~ [Name of persen or

organization with whom

_Déte of E{(e{:ution

Date of _Efbiration

WVSX CBS NETWORK
AFFILIATION AGREEMENT
(AND ALL RELATED
INSTRUMENTS AND
AMENDMENTS) (LEWISBURG/
[WVNS-TV)

contract is made

CBS NETWORK AND
HIGH MOUNTAIN
BROADCASTING
CORPORATION

;;07/30/2001

o

3/30/2011

ooooooo

Description of _c_opﬁact or-
instrumeqtj"; - -

;giu Name of person or
; organlzatlon with whom

contract is made

Date of Execution

Date of Exgi'ration

|SECOND AMENDED AND
|RESTATED OPERATING
AGREEMENT OF WEST
VIRGINIA MEDIA HOLDINGS,
LLC

PARTNERS, LP; WEST
VIRGINIA MEDIA
PARTNERS GP, LLC;
AND TORONTO

DOMINION

INVESTMENTS, INC.

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA |

02/28/2003
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: Descriptioh;of_ré:éﬁtraét or
instrument

Name of person or

contract is made

organization with whom

Date of Executlon Date of Explratlon |

| [WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

AOLDINGS; LLC, = =

SECURITYHOLDERS
AGREEMENT “

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC;
TORONTO DOMINION

~ |INVESTMENTS, INC.:
~ |WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
PARTNERS GP, LLC;

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
PARTNERS, LP ALBERT
BRAY CARY JR.; AND
W. MARSTON BECKER

02/28/2003

\\\\\\\

\\\\\\\\\\\\\

\\\\\\\\\\

DESCrIptIQl'i @f contract or
|nstru ment

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

......

SECOND AMENDMENT TO
TERM LOAN AGREEMENT

| [(HUNTINGTON-CHARLESTON/
| WOWK-TV)

IVIRGINIA MEDIA

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC;,

[ WOWK-TV, LLG; wfézr

.

MANAGEMENT, LLC;
BRANCH BANKING AND
TRUST COMPANY; AND

JUNITED BANK, INC.

\\\\\

ooooo
$$$$$
e

Description of contract nr
instrument = .

>>>>>>>>>

contract ls&t;n«aQCJe\

Date of Execution tDate of Expwatlon

,,,,,

THIRD AMENDMENT TO TERM
LOAN AGREEMENT (WHEELING/
WTRF-TV)

HOLDINGS, LLC; WTRF-
TV, LLC; WEST
VIRGINIA MEDIA
MANAGEMENT, LLC;
BRANCH BANKING AND

TRUST COMPANY; AND
UNITED BANK, INC.

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA |

[Description of contract or
instrument

orgamzatton with whom
contract is made

Date of Execution |Date ;o‘f Expiration
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THIRD AMENDMENT TO TERM
LOAN AGREEMENT
|(CLARKSBURG-WBOY-TV)

~ |WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA |
HOLDINGS, LLC; WBOY- |

TV, AWV LLC; WEST
VIRGINIA MEDIA
MANAGEMENT, LLC;

 [BRANCH BANKING AND

.....

~ [TRUST COMPANY; AND

UNITED BANK, INC

02/28/2003

Description of contract or
instruments: | el

= Name of person or
1 organlzatron with whom

contract is made

I.?the of Execution |Date of Expiration

......

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA |
102/28/2003

HOLDINGS, LLC; AND
TORONTO DOMINION
INVESTMENTS, INC.

Descrlption of oontract or
mstrument

Name of person or

organization with whom

contrag:t is made

Date of Execution |Date of Expiration ||

THIliD?iQMEN DED AND
|RESTATED OPERATING
AGREEMENT OF WEST
VIRGINIA MEDIA HOLDINGS,
e

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
PARTNERS, LP; WEST
VIRGINIA MEDIA
PARTNERS GP, LLC;
TORONTO DOMINION
INVESTMENTS, INC.

08/31/2003

.....

| |Description of contract or
instrument

- |Name of person or

organization with whom
contract is made S

Date of Execution Date of Explration

| IFIRST AMENDMENT TO TERM
| |LOAN AGREEMENT
|(LEWISBURG/WVSX)

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC;

[TELEVISION .
ACQUISITION 1V, LLC; |
1|08/31/2003

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA:

......

........

| BRANCH BANKING AND
TRUST COMPANY AND

UNITED BANK, INC.
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Description of contract or

Name of person or

 |organization with whom

D.éte of Execution |Date of Expiration

(HUNTINGTON—CHARLESTON/
WOWK-TV)

mstrument ~ |contract is made _
WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
L o dan s HIHOIBRINGS e
| [THIRD AMENDMENT TO TERM |WOWK-TV, LLC; WEST
LOAN AGREEMENT VIRGINIA MEDIA

MANAGEMENT, LLC;
BRAISICH BANKING AND
TRUST COMPANY AND
UNITED BANK, INC

08/31/2003

,,,,,,,,,
e

Descnptlon of contract or
mstrument 5‘5

Name of person or

contract is made

organization with whom IF

\\\\\

| |FOURTH AMENDMENT TO
ITERM LOAN AGREEMENT
2 (WHEELING/WTRF-TVI

ooooo

:i"ngV LLC; WEST
IVIRGINIA MEDIA

MANAGEMENT, LLC;

~ |UNITED BANK, INC.

'[WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA |
~ [HOLDINGS, LLC; WTRF-

~ |[BRANCH BANKING AND |
- |[TRUST COMPANY; AND

\\\\\\\

\\\\\\\

Name of person or

organization with whom
contract is made

|Date of Execgtién Date of Exi:airation

\\\\\

FIFTH AMENDMENT TD TERM
LOAN AGREEMENT
(CLARKSBURG/WBOY TV)

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC; WOBY-
TV, AWV LLC; WEST
VIRGINIA MEDIA
MANAGEMENT, LLC;
BRANCH BANKING AND
TRUST COMPANY; AND

08/31/2003

~ |[UNITED BANK, INC

il AT Name ofz;erson or -
?;es?ﬁ:-ﬁgﬁ?pf Soli e organization with whom |[Date of Execution |Date of Expiration
: contract is made s
. |WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA |
|OPTION AGREEMENT HOLDINGS, LLC AND 05/01/2002 5/1/2012
W. MARSTON BECKER |
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Descrlptlon of contractor

Name of person or

|organization with whom ||

Date of Explratlon

HsUment contract is made S
WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA o
OPTION AGREEMENT HOLDINGS LLC AND  |05/01/2002 5/1/2012 .

ALBERT BRAY CARY:,G IR

oooooo
......
»»»»»»

| Description of contract or

Name of [ person or
organization with whom

$$$$$

Date of Exfpji*ation x

Al contract is made
\\\\\ WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA o S
OPTION AGREEMENT HOLDINGS, LLC AND R. Q§?0172002 5/ 1]2012

CHARLES DUSIC, III

Description of contract or
instrument

Name of person or

organization with whom
|contract is made

Date of Execution

Date of Expiration:

OPTION AGREEMENT

~ |WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA |
~ |HOLDINGS, LLC AND
~ |CHRIS LEISTER

- 05/01/2002

\\\\\

5/1/2012

instrument

| |Description of contract or

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

Date of Execution

Date of Expiration

lopTion AGREEMENT

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC AND

ESTATE OF T.ORENELLE
WHITE

.....

5/1/2012

Description of contract or
? mstru ment

 |organization with whomj§

- |contract is made

......

Date of Executlon

Da:te of Expi;afiﬁh

 IWEST VIRGINIA MEDIA T

HOLDINGS, LLC AND
GARY WHITE

05/01/2002

5/1/2012

Description of contract or
instrument

Name of person or

organization with whom;

contract is made

Date of Executibn

Date of Eﬁpiration
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WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
- |HOLDINGS, LLC AND
~ |LEO HINDERY

~ los/01/2002

5/1/2012

\\\\\

.

......

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

Date of E}Eécution

Date qf Eicpiration

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

05/01/2002

~ [5/1/2012

GARY MCNAIR

OPTION AGREEMENT HOLDINGS, LLC AND F.
AAAAA THOMAS GRAFF ‘

‘ Lo “ Name cif'ﬁé%éon or - A -
giff:ﬁgﬁ? Of ‘confract or organgggilon with whom |Date of Execution |Date of Expiration
S e contract is made - i =

i WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA | "

|OPTION AGREEMENT HOLDINGS, LLC AND  {03/04/2003 3/4/2013

nnnnnn
\\\\\\\

Description of contract or
instrument

- |Name of person or
~ |organization with whom
~ |contractis made

Date of Exe?c;ution

Date oi‘ Exp;i[étion

~ [WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

ROGER LYONS

OPTION AGREEMENT ~ |HOLDINGS, LLC AND 03/04/2003 3/4/2013
~ |JOHN FAWCETT - .
- |Name of person or . e
ﬁitrscglrzgﬂg g contrau_fi': or\ = organization with whom |Date of Execution [Date of Expiration
2 contract is made R Ol )
| EQRTIQN AGREEMENT HOLDINGS, LLC AND  |08/11/2003 8/11/2013

Description of contract o
instrument e

~ |Name of person or

organization with whom
contract is _madg

Date of Execution

VIRGINIA MEDIA PARTNERS
GP, LLP -

[THIRD AMENDED AND >
| [RESTATED OPERATING ALBERT BRAY CARY,
AGREEMENT OF WEST JR. AND W. MARSTON

BECKER

08/31/2003

Date of Expiration
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oooooooooo

; Descnptnon of contract or
| [instrument

Name of person or\m\

R

contract is madé

| [AMENDED AND RESTATED
OPERATING AGREEMENT OF |
WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
MANAGEMENT, LLC

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC AND

~ |WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

08/31/2003

Date of_; ES{eEution Date of Expii'étibn |

mmmmmmmmmm

~ |PARTNERS, LP

'=‘ Descnp‘tlon of con“tract or? .
mstrument

Name of person or

contract i |s made

Date of Expiration

i o’pi';rxc:)N AéﬁEEﬁENTj

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC AND
JIMMY REED

12/31/2004

12/31/2014

| |Description of contract or
instrument

Name of person or
organization with whom

~ [contract is made

»»»»»

Date of Execution

,,,,,

Date of Ex:ﬁii:'ation

OPTION AGREEMENT

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC AND
MARK ALLEN

12/31/2004

12/31/2014

Description of contract or
instrument

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

Date of ?Execution

Dateof Ef(piration

OPTION AGREEMENT

- |WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
~ |HOLDINGS, LLC AND

MARK ALLEN

08/3 1/2005

.......

~ |08/31/2015

| |Description of contract or
| [instrument

Name of person or
organization with whom

 |contract is made

Date of E)gecdtion

Date of Exbiratidn

OPTION AGREEMENT

[WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

HOLDINGS, LLC AND
SCOTT STERLING

112/31/2004

- [12/31/2014

Description of contract or
instrument

[Name of person or

organization with whom

contract is made

Date of Execution

Date of Expiration
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| |OPTION AGREEMENT

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

HOLDINGS‘ L"fC AND

12/31/2004

12/31/2014

,,,,,,,
zzzzzzzz
.......

Descrlptlon of contract or
instrument .

Name of person or

~ lorganization with whotn
v contract is made

Défe o{‘ Execution

Date of Ig)ééﬁration

OPTION AGREEMENT

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

......

.......

JEFF WHITMAN

HOLDINGS, LLCAND  [12/31/2005 12/31/2015
JOHN OSBORNE- 8 =
e Name of persongor . ; 3
ﬁiﬁf&:ﬂgﬁ? of contract of organization with whom |Date of Execution |Date of Expiration
contract is made . i
il WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA - ;
| [OPTION AGREEMENT HOLDINGS, LLCAND  [12/31/2005  [12/31/2015

Descrtptlon of contract or
lnstrument

~ |Name of person or
~ |organization with whom

contract iS made

Date of E:?écution

Date of Expiration

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

~ |HOLDINGS, LLC AND
~ |JEFF WHITMAN

12/31/2004

12/31/2014

Descrlptlon of contraact or
instrument -

~ |Name of person or

orgamzatlon with whom
contract is made

Date of'E;::ecution

Date of Expiration

| [oPTION AGREEMENT

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

HOLDINGS, LLCAND

BRENT COWEN: |

12/31/2004

! 12/31/2014

Descnptton of contract or{r

instrument

Name of person or
orgamzatlon with whom
contract is made

Date of Execution

Date of Expiration

|OPTION AGREEMENT

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA |
112/31/2005

HOLDINGS, LLC AND

BRENT COWEN

 [12/31/2015
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| linstrument

: Descrlptlon of contract :::rft

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

[j):é:te of Execution

Dateiéf Expiration

\\\\\\\\\

- OPTION AGREEMENT

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA |
HOLDINGS, LLC AND

12/31/2004

12/31/2014

WAYNE PHILLIPS

5escrif3tion of contract or

- |Name of person or

organlzation with whom

Date of Execution

Date of Expiration

12/31/2004

[ U ~ |contract is made
TR " |WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA il i -
|OPTION AGREEMENT HOLDINGS, LLC AND ~ |12/31/2014

STEVE MALLORY

oooooo

| linstrument

Deséf‘iption of contract or

- [Name of b"ejg?son or
organization with whom

contract IS made

Date of Execution

Date of {Expiration |

OPTION AGREEMENT

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLQ AND
STEVE MALLORY

12/31/2005

12/31/2015

Description of con\t;\aﬂn\:’sc\qr
mstrument

\\\\\\\\\\

Name of person or

oooooo

Date of Execution

Date of Expiration

.......

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC AND
TERRY FERRETT

12/31/2004

12/31/2014

bescfiption of contract or
instrument

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

Date of Execution 5:

bate of Expiration

OPTION AGREEM ENT ,,,,,, o

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS LLC AND
JIM PLATZER =

12/31/2004

12/31/2014

“““““

Description of contract or
instrument

Name of person or

contract is made

organization with whom

Date of Execution

Date of Expiration
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Description of contfa'ct or
instrument

\\\\\\\\

\\\\\

Name of person or _

: orgamzatjon with whom

»»»»»»»

Dgt'é" of Execution Date of Expiration

ITHIRD AMENDMENT TO TERM
LOAN AGREEMENT .

| [(HUNTINGTON- CHARLESTON/
| [Wowk-Tv)

HOLDINGS, LLC; _
- [WOWK-TV, LLC; WEST

- [VIRGINIA MEDIA
MANAGEMENT, LLC;
BRANCH BANKING AND
TRUST CGMPANY AND

ooooo

\\\\\\

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA |

‘ 08/31/2003

o

\\\\\\

UNITED BANK, INC.

Description of contcact or
: mstrument

ooooo

Name of person or”'

$$$$$

contract is made

| [FOURTH AMENDMENT TO
TERM LOAN AGREEMENT
(WHEELING/WTRF-TV)

\\\\\

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS LLC; WTRF-
TV, LLC: WEST
VIRGINIA MEDEA
MANAGEMENT, LLC;
BRANCH BANKING AND
TR‘UST COMPANY AND

Q.e.,.v

08/31/2003

Description oF contract or
mstru ment

$$$$$$$$$

' |Name of person or
‘lorganization with whom

contract is made

Date of Execution |Date of Expiration

,,,,,

\\\\\\\\\\\\\

\\\\\\\\\\\

FIFTH AMENDMENT TO TERM
| |LOAN AGREEMENT
o (CLARKSBURG/WBOY-TV)

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

- |HOLDINGS, LLC; WOBY- |
; Tv,Sva LLc;f WESI: :

$$$$$

BRANCH BANKING AND
TRUST COMPANY AND
UNITED BANK INC

08/31/2003

. Descnptlon of contract or
“mstrument

|Name of person or

organization with whom
contract is made .

Date of Execution |Date of Expirétion

OPTION AGREEMENT

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC AND
W. MARSTON BECKER

05/01/2002 5/1/2012
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Description of contract or
mstru ment

Name of person or

e

|Date of Execution

Date of Eﬁplratlon

GPTION AGREEMENT

~ |HOLDINGS, LLC AND
~ |ALBERT BRAY CARY, JR.

WEST VIRGIN IA ,,M EDIA

os;q;(zooz

\\\\\

- [5/1/2012

......

\\\\\\\
\\\\\\
\\\\\

\\\\\

= Descrlptlan of contract or
lnstrument |

Name of person or
organization with whom

~|contract is made

Date of Ef;iécutié'n:

Date of Expiratian

OPTibN AGREEMENT

~ [WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC AND R.

CHARLES DUSIC, III

05/01/2002

i

5/1/2012

$$$$$$$

.......

.....

«««««

Description of contract or
instrument

Name of person or

organization with whom

contract is made

[;)a:te of Execution

o

Date of Explrat;on

OPTION AGREEMENT

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

»»»»»»»

.......

CHRIS LEISTER

05/01/2002

5/1/2012

Description of contract or
instrument

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

Date of Execution

Date of Expiration

OPTION AGREEMENT

- |WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

HOLDINGS, LLC AND

ESTATE OF LORENELLE

WHITE

05/01/2002

5/1/2012

Description of contract or
instrument

Name of person or

organization with whom
contract is made

......

Date of Execution

| [oPTION AGREEMENT

WEST VIRGINIA MEBIA

~ |HOLDINGS, LLC AND
~ |GARY WHITE

05/01/2002

5/1/2012

Description of contract or
instrument

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

Date of Execution

Date of Expiration
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OPTION AGREEMENT

..............

" [WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA |
HOLDINGS, LLC AND

wwwwwwww

05/01/2002

.........

ooooo

5/ 1/2012

. Descrlptlon of contract or
instrument LR

Name c§f persﬁn; or
organization with whom
contract is made

Date of Execution

Date of Expiration

| |OPTION AGREEMENT \

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

~ |HOLDINGS, LLC AND F.
THOMAS GRAFF g

05/01/2002

5/ 1/2012

Description of contract or
instrument .

Nam’é of person or

~ |organization with whom
 |contract is made

Date of Execution

Date of Expiration

........

$$$$$

" [WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA : |
 103/04/2003

\\\\\

HOLDINGS, LLC AND
GARY MCNAIR

3/4/2013

\\\\\\\\\

\\\\\\\

Descrlptlon of contract or
|n5tru ment

e

orgamzat»loh ‘with whom
contract is made

Date of Execution

Date of Expiratiorfi?

\\\\\\

|ROGER LYONS

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA | f
OPTION AGREEMENT HOLDINGS, LLC AND  [03/04/2003  [3/4/2013
R JOHN FAWCETT 4 e

Name oT person or 1 E
¢ B onConHactel organization with whom [Date of Execut:on Date of Expiration
instrument G

contract is made ' -

,,,,,,,, WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA | e

OPTION AGREEMENT """" [HOLDINGS, LLC AND  |08/11/2003 8/11/2013

|Description of contract or
instrument

Name Df person of
organization with whom

~ |contract is made

Date of Executio‘n‘

THIRD AMENDED AND
RESTATED OPERATING
AGREEMENT OF WEST
VIRGINIA MEDIA PARTNERS
GP, LLP

ALBERT BRAY CARY,

JR. AND W. MARSTON
BECKER

|08/31/2003

Date of Expira_'t:iori
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Description of contract or
finstrument

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

,,,,,,

| AMENDED AND RESTATED

| |OPERATING AGREEMENT OF |
 |WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
|PARTNERS, LP

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
| IMANAGEMENT, LLC

[WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA ;'j

HOLDINGS, LLC AND

08/31/2003

Qa:teéaf Exﬁiration

- |Name of person or

Description of contract or
instrument .

- orgamzation with whbm{'

ooooo

oooooooo

Date of Execgjﬁ:gn

Date of Expirai:ion

OPTION AGREEMENT

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC AND
JIMMY REED .

12/31/2004

12/31/2014

Description of contract or
netrimet .

orgamzatlon with whom
contract is made

Date of Exgcﬁtion

Date of Expiration

OPTION AGREEMENT

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC AND
MARK ALLEN

G

el

12/31/2014

| |Description of contract or
instrument

Name of person or
_lorganization with whom
lcontract is made

|Date of Expiration

OPTION AGREEMENT

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC AND
MARK ALLEN

08/31/2015

Description of contract or
instrument

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

,,,,,

.....

Date of Expiration

OPTION AGREEMENT

[WEST VIRGINIA ;Mgom
- |HOLDINGS, LLC AND

SCOTT STERL_I:NG

12/31/2004

12/31/2014

i Descnptlon of contract or
; ;mstrument

Name of person or
organlzatlon with whom

contract is made

Date of Execution

Date of Expiration
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|OPTION AGREEMENT

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC AND
JOHN OSBORNE

[12/31/2004

|Eaos

\\\\\

lnstrument

: Description of contract or§§ o

Name of person or
organization with whom

~ |contract is made

\\\\\\\
ooooooo
\\\\\\\

Date of Expiration

OPTION AGREEMENT

~ [WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

- |HOLDINGS, LLC AND

JOHN OSBORNE

12/31/2015

Déécripfibn of cboht_‘_‘_'aiéct or
lnstrurnent

Name of person or

vvvvv

organization with whom |Date «

contract is made

\\\\\\

D?ate of Eg(piirafidn

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
| 12731/20@5

HOLDINGS, LLC AND

\\\\\

12/31/2015

JEFF WHITMAN

.....

Description of contract or
instrument

$$$$$

contracf |s made

‘5§ Date of Execution

Date of E){E)iration

| |OPTION AGREEMENT

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA |

HOLDINGS, LLC AND
JEFF WHITMAN

 |12/31/2004

12/31/2014

Description of contract or
instru ment ’

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

Date of Executionf

Date of Expiration

"~ |WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC AND

BRENT COWEN

12/31/2004

12/31/2014

ooooo

Description of contract or
instrument

:orgamzatlon with whom
|contract is made

Date of Execution

Date of Expiration

| [OPTION AGREEMENT

IWEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

HOLDINGS, LLC AND
BRENT COWEN

12/31/2005

12/31/2015
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I”jfescriptioﬁ of i-:ifimtralct or
mstru ment

........

Name of person or
organlzataon with whom
contract is made

Date of j;x_ecution

Date of Explratlon

......

~ |WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
- |HOLDINGS, LLC AND
~ |WAYNE PHILLIPS

12/ 3 1/2004

112/31/2014

......

.........

~ [Name of person or
~|organization with whom

Date of Execﬁicidn

Date of Exgi?ation

- lnstrument contract rs made
e SWEST VIRGIN;A MEDIA 5 o
OPTICON AGREEME{:\J:T . IHGEBINGS, LLC AND  |12/31/2004 12/31/2014

STEVE“MALL@RY

ooooo

\\\\\\\

Name of person or
orgamza'@on with whom
contract is made

Date of Execution

\\\\\\\

Daté of Expiration

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC AND
STEVE MALLORY

12/31/2005

12/31/2015

.....
$$$$$

Descnpﬁén of contract or
mstrument

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

Date of Execution

Date of Expiration

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

instrument

contract is made

|oPTION AGREEMENT HOLDINGS, LLC AND  [12/31/2004  [12/31/2014
|TERRY FERRETT 1 : | &
— [Nameor person or f i
gesffl:;p]gz? & contract o organization with whom Date of Execution (Date of Expiration
\\\\\ contract is made ;
e S WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA ‘
|OPTION AGREEMENT HOLDINGS, LLC AND 12/31/2004 112/31/2014
R JIM PLATZER . :
G _ - “IZ\'IaPone of person or _
(RSN Ol contradkior organization with whom |Date of Execution [Date of Expiration
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‘‘‘‘‘‘‘ - |WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
OPTION AGREEMENT - |HOLDINGS, LLC AND 12/31/2005 12/31/2015
3 RON MILLER = .

'''' Name of person or
af Diﬁﬁgﬁ? ﬁf contract 9 organization with whom Date of Executlon Date of Explratlon
e contract is made S (I e AT e e

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA """ -
OPTION AGREEMENT HOLDINGS, LLC AND 12/31/2005 - [12/31/2015
JOHNNA BURTON o~

o e |Name of person or . -
(1> itscnptlo? i iaslenl |organization with whom |Date of Execution |[Date of Exptratlon

instrumen contract is made — S

v - |WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA &
OPTION AGREEMENT =~ |[HOLDINGS, LLC AND 12/31/2005 12/31/2015
i ~ |SEAN BANKS
e Name of perscit{ or
Ditscr:zzﬂ? Of contract o . organization with whom Date of Executxon Date of Expiration
e contract is made o T
. . WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
OPTION%AGREEMEN‘E;:; HOLDINGS, LLC AND 12/31/2004 12/31/2014
S = BOB CALVERT e

»»»»»
\\\\\
ooooo

ooooo

- Descnptlon of confract or
- | [instrument '

Name of person or

|contract is made

organization with whom;

,,,,,

Date of Expli'atron

OPTION AGREEMENT

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
 [HOLDINGS, LLC AND
 |[pAVESTINGO

12/31/2004

12/31/2014

ooooo

Name of person or

organizatlon with whom -

Date of éxecutic@n

Date of Expiration

| mstrument contract |5 made .
WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
OPTION AGREEMENT HOLDINGS, LLC AND

12/31/2005

12/31/2015

GEORGE BOGGS
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ooooo

'cvs

\\\\\\

\\\\\\

organization with whom
contract is made

\\\\\\

ﬂﬂﬂﬂﬂﬂ

nnnnnn

Dfat:é off'iExi;i‘ifroaﬁon

OPTION AGREEMENT

HOLDINGS, LLC‘AND‘
CHARLOTTE CG)HEN

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA |
1213‘1;’;2@0‘4

......

12/31/2014

: Description of contract or” ;
mstrument =

[\]‘ame of persdtl d’r"
organization with whom
contract is made

Date of Execution

Date of E;gpiraiionfé

loPTION AGREEMENT

[WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

HOLDINGS, LLC AND
BRENDA GESSLER

12/31/2004

12/31/2014

.........

.....

oooooooo

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

D;aite of Expiration

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC AND
TONY ROBINSON °’

12/31/2014

\\\\\\

Description of;cfdntract or
instrument

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

Doate of Expiration

OPTION AGREEMENT |

WEST VIRGINIA MEDfA?
HOLDINGS, LLC AND““}j
MIKE ALLODI

.

12/31/2015

Description of contract or
instrument

organlzatlﬁo“n with whom
contract is made

Date of Execution

Date of Expiration

OPTION AGREEMENT

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC AND

03/07/2004

03/07/2014

FRANK BARNES

Description of contract or
mstrument

Name of person or
organization with whom

contract is made

Date of Execution

Date of Expiration
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WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA |

12/31/2014

ooooo

......

DAN PAGE

OPTION AGREEMENT HOLDINGS, LLC AND  |12/31/2004
i e CHRISTIE BUCKLAND :
L ‘ Name of persc;ﬁ or ; -
\ 5] e;gﬁgﬁ? olicentigteos organlzatlc?iﬁ with whom |Date of Execution [Date of Expiration
% contract is made S "
WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA | =
OPTION AGREEMENT HOLDINGS, LLC AND 12/31/2004 12/31/2014
JACK SCOTT T
\ Nam;e df person or VT ;
?ztsfgﬁgﬁ? o contract or |organization with whom  |Date of Execution [Date of Expiration |
_n_ : |contract is made e .
e N W,EST VIRGINIA MEDE‘\
OPTION AGREEMENT S HOLDINGS LLC AND 12/31/2004  |12/31/2014

........

; Name of person or

instrument

contrat:t is made

| [oPTION COMMITMENT (ORAL) |t

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA =

........

SEAN BANKS

E;tsmzﬂ? I contract Sy ~ |organization with whom |Date of Fixééution Date of Expiration
- |contract is made - -
WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA . .
OPTION AGREEMENT HOLDINGS, LLC AND 12/31/2004 12/31/2014..
CHRISTA PHILLIPS L o
5 Name of person or T
Lescplion ehconifagtion organization with whom |Date of Execution |Date of Expiration

Description of contract or
instrument

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

|OPTION COMMITMENT (ORAL)

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC AND

Date of Execution

Date of Expifétion

ANDREW PAYNE
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el Descnptton of contract or

o Name of person Bl’

.....

e ~ |organization with whom |Date of Execution |Date of Expiration
: <0 Wt PR contract is made - ge 12 e
| AMENDMENT TO NETWORK T :
| |AFFILIATION AGREEMENT EE.SHLE’&E:ISION 03/17/2005 06/30/2013

(WHEELING/ WTRF)

ssssss

......

Name of person or
orgamzatton with whom
contract is made '

Date of Executigrﬁ £

Date of Explration

AMENDMENT TO NETWORK
AFFILIATION AGREEMENT
| [(HUNTINGTON/WOWK)

NETWORK

CBS TELEVISION

[03/17/2005

05/14/2013

| |Description of contract or
| [instrument

o

\\\\\

contract is madgz

Date of E:géi:utioﬁ

Date of Expifration

(LEWISBURG/WVNS)

| [AMENDMENT TO NETWORK _

AFFILIATION AGREEMENT NETWORK

|CBS TELEVISION

03/17/2005

03/30/2011

Description of contract or
insttument -

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

Datenc‘g:f ‘Execution

Date of Expiration

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
HOLDINGS, LLC AND
GEORGE BOGGS

12/31/2006

12/31/2016

. Descrlptlon of contract or
instrument

Name of person or
organization with whom;

~ |contract is made

Date of Execﬁti,on

Date of Ex;jiréfion

OPTION AGREEMENT

"~ \WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
|HOLDINGS, LLC AND

DENISE HERSHEY

112/31/2006

12/31/2016

Description of contract or
linstrument

Name of person or
organization with whom

contract is made

Date of Execution

Date of Expiration
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| OPTION AGREEMENT

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA

 [HOLDINGS AND LARRY
lcORTRIL

[08r3 1/2006

08/31/2016

\\\\\\\\\

| |Description of contract or
instrument

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

Date of Executlon

Date of Expiration

STATION AFFILIATION
AGREEMENT AND
SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS
(WHEELING/WTRF-DT)

FOX BROADCASTING
COMPANY AND WEST
VIRGINIA MEDIA

11/13/2006

06/30/2009

HOLDINGS, LLC

| |Description of contract or
|linstrument

Name of person or
organtzamon with whom
contracf is made

ooooooo

bate of Execution

Date of Expiration

STATION AFFILIATION

FOX BROADCASTING = .
| IAGREEMENT AND ~ |COMPANY AND WEST |, ., L
| [SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS  |VIRGINIA MEDIA i 2800 oeeyZot
| |(LEWISBURG/WVNS-DT) HOLDINGS, LLC s 0
\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\ Nameof person or Iy
Descrlptlon @F contrig‘rff\ or , lorganization with whom |Date of Execution [Date of Expiration
mstrument i_ . : s i
|contract is made ' o :
STATION AFFILIATION |FOX BROADCASTING | AE
AGREEMENT AND INVENTORY | COMPANY AND WEST | A
SUPPLEMENTAL EXTENSION | n ~ . |10/05/2007 - 106/30/2011
[VIRGINIA MEDIA Sl i sa
AGREEMENT (LEWISBURG/ ’ HQE)«E.DINGS LLC . .
WVNS-DT) AESIE R AT
1 Name of personor | 7
i ?}esifgﬁgﬁ? Of\ el Gl e organization with whom [Date of Execution [Date of Expiration
o  |contract is made L ol
_SIATION AFFILIATION  IMyNETWC i I
AGREEMENT (WHEELING/ r;’g WVMoi-T T—I}/C{ INC' 09/15/2006 2011
WTRF-DT) L , | Sy

| |Description of contract or
|instrument

Name of person or
organization with whom

contract is made

Date\?o_f Execution

Date of Expiration
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STATION AFFILIATION
AGREEMENT (LEWISBURG/

~ IMYNETWORKTV, INC.
AND WVMH, LLC

09/15/2006

o1t

IWVNS-DT)

wwwwwww

DESCI'iptIOH of contract or
mstru ment

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

Date of Execution

WV MEDIA PARTNERS

Date of Expiration

| AGREEMENT OF WVMH, LLC

~ [TORONTO DOMINION
 [INVESTMENTS, LLC

FOURTH AMENDED AND LP; WV MEDIA - -

RESTAIED OPERATING PARTNERS GP, LLC; 08/01/2004

AGREEMENT OF WVMH WliC TORONTO DOMINIGN e

- INVESTMENTS, LLC i Rl

i Des;:ri\‘tilon of contract or RPIE OISO n U L g A
i bt organization with whom |Date of Execution [Date of Expiration
|| o et e il T
2l ~ |WV MEDIA PARTNERS,
| [FIFTH AMENDED AND ~ |LP; WV MEDIA :
| RESTATED OPERATING ~ |PARTNERS GP, LLGC; 11/22/2005

|Description of cfmtract or

5inst‘rumentf§§§§§’

Name of person or

~ |organization with whom
. i'-:'ontract is made

Date of Execution

SIXTH AMENDMENT TO TERM
LOAN AGREEMENT
(CLARKSBURG/WBOY)

" WMH LLC; WBOY-TV,

A WV LLC; WV MEDIA
MANAG;EMENT LLC;
BRANCH BANKING AND

UNITED BANK

TRUST COMPANY; AND

12/15/2004

Date oﬁ Expiration

Description of contract or
instrument

~ |Name of person or
~ |organization with whom

contract is made

Date of Execution

SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO
| [TERM LOAN AGREEMENT
(CLARKSBURG/WBOY)

WVMH LLC; WBOY-TV,
A WV LCC; WV MEDIA
MANAGEMENT, LLC;
BRANCH BANKING AND

~ [TRUST COMPANY; AND

- {UNITED BANK, INC.

|01/02/2006

Date of Expiration
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i Description of contract or
instrument .

Name of person or

e organlzatlon with whom
~ |contract is made

: Date of Execution

,,,,,

“““““

Date of Expiratlen

ASSIGNMENT OF Pwa*iISSORY
NOTE AND RELATED
[DOCUMENTS (CLARKSBURG/
lweoy)

[BRANCH BANKING AND

TRUST COMPANY,
ANDREW A. PAYNE III,
ALBERT BRAY CARY
JR., AND RALPH L.
BALLARDIIT

02/29/2008

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

Date of Execution |Date of Expiration

.........

| [FIFTH AMENDMENT TO TERM
| |LOAN AGREEMENT (WHEELING/
| [WTRF)

WVMH, LLC; WTRF-TV,
A WV LLC; WV MEDIA
MANAGEMENT, LLC;
BRANCH BANKING AND

e

[TRUST COMPANY; AND
i UNlTED BANK

\\\\\\\\\\\

,,,,,

Description of contract or
instrument

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

Date of Execution |Date of Expiration

\\\\\\\\\

FIFTH AMENDMENT TO TERM
LOAN AGREEMENT
(CLARKSBURG/WBOY)

.........

...........

WVMH, LLC; WTRF-TV,
A WV LLC; WV MEDIA
MANAGEMENT, LLC;

|BRANCH BANKING AND
TRUST COMPANY AND

UNITED BANK

01/02/2006

.......

Description of contract or
instrument ‘

Name of person or
orgamzatton with whom

'_~ centract is made

Date of Execution Date of Expiration
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.......

SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO
TERM LOAN AGREEMENT
|(WHEELING/WTRF)

~ WVMH, LLG, WTRFTY,
~ |AWV LLC; WV MEDIA

MANAGEMENT LLC;
ANDREW A. PAYNE III,
ALBERT BRAY CARY

III, AND PAYNE-
GALLATIN COM PANY;
AND UNlTED BANK

.....

JR., RALPH L. BALLARD

| IDescription of contract or
instrument

Name of person or
organization with whom
|contract is made

ASSIGNMENT OF PROMISSORY
NOTE AND RELATED L \
DOCUMENTS (WHEELING/
WTRF)T 2

“[BRANCH BANKING AND |

TRUST COMPANY,
ANDREW A. PAYNE III,
ALBERT BRAY CARY

- IR, RALPH L. BALLARD
|11, AND PAYNE-
GALLATIN COMPANY |

02/29/2008

,,,,,
......

\\\\\

Description of contract or
instrument

Name of person or
organizatlon with whom
contract is made

Date of Execution

|FOURTH AMENDMENT TO
TERM LOAN AGREEMENT
. i(HUNTINGTDN/WOWK)

TV, AWVLLC WV

LLC; BRANCH BANKING
AND TRUST COMPANY;
AND UNITED BANK

WVMH, LLC; WOWK- |

MEDIA MANAGEMENT,

12/ 15/2004 """

Date of;Expiration

\\\\\

|Description of contract or
fimstrument _

u Nam°e of person or

organization with whom
contract IS made

Date of Execution

FIFTH AMENDMENT TO TERM
LOAN AGREEMENT
(HUNTINGTON/WOWK)

WVMH, LLC; WOWK-
TV, AWV LLC; WV
MEDIA MANAGEMENT,
|LLC; BRANCH BANKING
|AND TRUST COMPANY;
AND UNITED BANK

01/02/2006

Date of Expiration
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Name of person or

DESCI’IDUDH Of contract P organization with whom |Date of E:_(é}::ution Déte of Expiration

instrument contract is made
WVMH, LLC; WOWK-
V,AWVLLG W
MEDIA MANAGEMENT,
SIXTH AMENDMENT TO TERM i ratiia S
LOAN AGREEMENT ~ [PAYNEIIL ALBERT 15, 0/5008
~ [BRAY CARY JR., RALPH

(HUNTINGTON/WOWK) | "5pl LARD III. AND
* ~ [PAYNE-GALLATIN

oo COMPANY, AND
~ |UNITED BANK

««««««

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, \ M» Name of person ;;; ; $
Descmptlon O.f zcontract or ~ lorganization with whom |Date of Execution
mstrurnent i i : w

contract is made - o

BRANCH BANKING AND
TRUST COMPANY,

ANDREW A. PAYNE III, i
ALBERT BRAY CARY  [02/29/2008
JR., RALPH L. BALLARD |

Datef of Exf)iration'

| |ASSIGNMENT OF PROMISSORY
NOTE AND RELATED
DOCUMENTS (HUNTINGTON/

S I1T AND PAYNE-
GALLATIN COMPANY
o [Name ofperson or -
jEcTpHOHRT contacl.op organization with whom Dété of Execution Date of Expiration
instrument :
contract is made = .
WVMH, LLC; WVSX-TV,
SECoND AMENDMENTTO |1 Sy PO
|TERM LOAN AGREEMENT 53.'”"' e ' |12/15/2004
|(LEWISBURG/WVNS) BRANCH BANKING AND
| i TRUST COMPANY; AND

UNITED BANK

Name of person or I
organization with whom |Date of Execution
contract is made e

Description of contract or

. e rument. Date of Expiration
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|THIRD AMENDMENT TO TERM
|LOAN AGREEMENT
| (LEWISBURG/WVNS)

WVMH, LLC; WVNS-TV,
A WV LLC; WV MEDIA
MANAGEMENT, LLC;

e

ooooooo

UNITED BANK

.....

BRANCH BANKING Ale) 01/ 0272006 e

Description of contract or
instrument

- |Name of person or

organization with whom

 |contract is made

Date of Execution |Date of E)Epiratioh

.....

FOURTH AM ENDMENT TO
TERM LOAN AGREEMENT
(LEWISBURG/WVNS)

- [WVMH, LLC; WVNS-TV\
AWVLLC WVMEDIA

MANAGEMENT LLC;
ANDREW A. PAYNE III
ALBERT BB@Y' g:ARy
JR., RALPH L. BALLARD
111 AND PAYNE-

GALLATIN COMPANY;

aaaaa

\\\\\\\

\\\\\\\

| |Description of contract or

| [instrument

Namé_ °6f person or
organization with whom
contract is made

Date of Executlon

Date of Explratlon

NOTE AND RELATED
DOCUMENTS (LEWISBURG/
WVNS)

TRUST COMPANY,
ANDREW A. PAYNE I1I,

|ALBERT BRAY CARY
|IR., RALPH L. BALLARD

III, AND PAYNE-

|GALLATIN COMPANY

BRANCH BANKING AND |

 02/29/2008

| |Description of contract or i
mstrument :

Name of person or
organization with whom
contract is made

Date of Expi"ration

Date of %Execution

INTERCREDITOR AGREEMENT

UNITED BANK, INC.,
ANDREW A. PAYNE III,
ALBERT BRAY CARY

COMPANY, RALPH L.
BALLARD III, AND
COMMUNITY TRUST
BANK, INC. '

JR., PAYNE-GALLATIN

02/29/2008
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\\\\\\\\\\

8. |Capitalization (Only llcensees, permlttees ora repertlng entity with a majonty interest in or that ‘:
other\lee exermses de facto control over the subject licensee or permlttee shall respond.)

\\\\\\

\\\\\\\\
\\\\\\\\\\

............

L a8 e
,,,,,,,,,
..........
$$$$$$$

......

\\\\\\

Class of stock 2 Number of Shares

(preferred, common or V;‘?F’?’_g t(.)rv R
other) v i fp 0TS Authorizej:l Issued and Outstandmg |Treasury |Unlssued
200,000 EQUAL | Sl
CoNMON UnITs v 200000 55633 o
: ; Number of Shares
Class of stock (preferred Voting or — - '
common or other) | Non-voting |Authorized ésjtﬁgnfj“: Treasury |Unissued
i g o
5000 EQUAL SERTES A e e
 CONVERTIBLE S | 5000 5000
\\\\\\  PREFERRED UNITS AN i
_ (e T ;f\lurnber of Shares
Class of stock (preferred, | Voting or -~ —
common or ofher) | Non-voting | Authorized (I)S:tusetgn?:r?g Treasury |Unissued
8000 EQUALSERIES B N V
CONVERTIBLE N 8000 8000
|| PREFERRED UNITS i 3"
I oA " Number of Shares
Class of stock (preferred, Vot;ng or - 7 . d -
common or other) Non-voting |Authorized Ostftﬁan?j?hg Treasury |Unissued
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2000 EQUAL SERIES C
- CONVERTIBLE

o8 T LR
PREFERRED UNITS : P -

9. ||(a.) |List the respondent and, if other than a natural person, its officers, dlreetors stockholders

corporatlon or partnershtp holds an al:trlbutable interest m the respondent llst separately |ts :

officers, dlrectors, stockholders and other entities with attributable interests, non- :nsuial;ed .
partners and/or members. Create a separate row for each mdwrdual or entlty Attach

\\\\\\\\\\

supplemental pages, if necessary. -
[Enter Owner Information] L el

.....

aner Irifornjation

Ltst the respondent, and, |f other than a natural person, its offi cers, directors, stockholders
| and other entities with attrlbutable interests, non-insulated partners and/or members If a
corporation or partnershlp holds an attrlbutable interest in the respondent, ilst separately
its officers, dlrectors, stockholders and other entltaes with attrlbutable mterests non-

oooooo
L

(Read carefully - The numbered ltems below refer to Ime numbers in the
following table )i n

| 1. Name and address of respondent and each party to the respondent hoiding an
attributable mterest (|f other than tnleldUai also show name, address and crflzenshlp of

\\\\\

other entltles W|th attrlbutable :nterests and partners

2. Gender (male or female). -

3. Ethnicity (check one). ‘,

4 'Race (select one or more)

| 5. Citizenship. . o e

| 6. Positional interest: Ofﬁcer dlrector, general partner, limited partner, LEC: member
investor/creditor attnbutable under the Commrssmn S equrty/debt plus standard etc.

7. Percentage of votes.

8. Percentage of total assets (equrty debt plus).

|1 Name and Address |W__EST VIRGINIA MEDIA HOLDINGS, LLC

2. Gender (maleor  |N/A
| [female)
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e Ethnicity (‘checkzo@ie)_

- |C Hispanic or Latino

¢ Not Hispanic or Latino

e Race (seledf one or
i more)

 American Indian or Alaska Native
" Asian :zf

G
\\\\\\

\\\\\\

assets (equity debt plus)

e White \\\\\\\
I5. Citizenship WSt =
6. Positional Interest [RCENSEEAT L e et e e B
7. Percentage of votes 0.00
8. Percentage of total 00 & g

oooooo
ooooooooooo
\\\\\\\\\\\\\\

\\\\\\

\\\\\\

aaaaaaa

1. Name and Address

$$$$$$$

WILMINGTON DE 19801

2. Gender (male or
female) .

WA

) 3 Ethmmty (check one)

$$$$$$$$$
ooooooooooooo

! " Hispanic or*l:.,atino

¢ Not Hispanic or Latino

4 Race (select one or
more) “

......

¢ American Indian or Alaska Natlve
¢ Asian $ .
¢ Black or African American -
¢ Native Hawauan or Other Racif ic Islander

»»»»»

. x CaANGRE | S R

|| [j5. Citizenship WSS e s e
6. Positional Interest MEMBER/GENERAL PARTNER ST
7. Percentage of votes e e
8. Percentage of total 100, S

assets (equity debt pJLfiS)f

,,,,,,,

(L. Najmé and Address

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA PARTNERS LP, 1209 ORANGE 51,
WILMINGTON DE 19801

|2 Gender (male or
female)

N/A

3. Ethnicity (check one)

iﬁf-fﬁispanic or Latino
| Not Hispanic or Latino
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\\\\\

4. Race (selectone or c American Indlan or Alaska Natwe e
i e B o ? ¢ Asian o a2
an e ¢ Black or African Amencan ‘
¢ Native Hawauan or Other Pacific Islander

\\\\\

el b e ¢ CiWhite . =
|5 Citizenship S T
(/6. Positional Interest IMEMBER e DT
|[7. Percentage of votes ~ [99.00
|[B. Percentage of total 7882
|lassets (equity debt plus) UL
|2 Name and Address TORONTO DOMINION INVESTMENTS ING.
2. Gender (male or IN/A R e s
female) » ‘ ‘: Sl s

3. Ethnicity (checlg one) y (‘ Hlspanlc or Latlno

\\\\\

ooooooooooooooo

4. Race (select one oflii;’ 125(' Amerlcan Indlan or Alaska Natlve
more) o 00 loeRsianlls aRe R S SRR
~|c Black or African Amerlcaﬁiigig -
s Ul R '8 Natlve Hawauan or Other Pacn‘“ & Islander
5. Citizenship |US
6. Positional Interest IMEMBER

~ |[7. Percentage of votes  |0.00

- |@B. Percentage of total 18.47
~ |lassets (equity debt plus)

oooooooooooo
ooooooooo

1. Name and Address ;%MARSTON BECKER 1234 STAUNTON ROAD CHARLEST ON
‘ 25314 .

2. Gender (male or  |Male
female) o '

3. Ethnluty (check ene) ¢ Hispanic or Latino

. = Not Hlspamcor Latine’: o1

4. Race (select one or ¢ American Indlan or Alasl(a Native

more) ~|C Asian e

¢ Black or African Amencan

¢ Native Hawaiian or Other Pacnﬁc Islander
..... @ White

5. Cxtizenshlp s
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\\\\\

A 2. Gender (male or e

| '“assets (equity debt plus) '

f6 Positional Interest [CHAIRMAN.
7. Percentage of votes  Jo.00
. Percentage of total

B

il Name and Addres’s“

ALBERT BRAY CARY JR RTE 2, BOX 173 SANDYVILLE WV
25275

.......

female)

Male

\\\\\\\\\

3. Ethn|C|ty (check one)

C Hrspanlc or Latino
¢ Not Filspanlc or Latino

\\\\\\

4. Race (select one or
-more“)

" Ameri 'Ca" Indlan Or Alaska NatWe
C Asnan o
@ Black or African Amencan S

$$$$$
ooooo

¢ Native Hawaiian or Other Pacuf ic Islander

$$$$$

G:_:§£s§sets (equity debt plus) |

. N, & White
I5. Citizenship us “
|16. Positional Interest IPRESIDENT AND CEO
- |[7. Percentage of votes  [0.00
[8. Percentage of total

1055

tfze

i 1 Ethntcrty (check one)

\\\\\\

L. Name and Address

= -
.....

Gender (male or
male)

.........

¢ Hispanic or Latino
- | Not Hispanic or Latino

cccccccc

.......

more)

C Amerlcan Indlan or Alaska Natwe
 Asian ‘

'@ Black or Afrlcan American
" Native Hawaiian or Other Pamf ic Islander

(O Whlte
5. Citizenship us .
6. Positional Interest ICHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
7. Percentage of votes T e
8. Percentage of total 0.03

|lassets (equity debt plus)
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1. Na moe» and Kcléress

F. THOMAS GRAFF 2 QUARRY RIDGE CHARLESTON WV
25304

ooooooooooo

|2. Gender (male or
ffemale)

S . :z -

\\\\\

3. Ethnicity (check one)

fr‘ Hlspanu: or Latlno

& Not Hispanic or Latino

Rar:e (select one or
more) N

¢ American Indian or Alaska Native

$$$$$$$

 Asian -
C Black or Afrlcan Amer:can

«ooo

ooooo

o - 'y Whlte 5
|5. Citizenship AR e
~ |6. Positional Interest IGECRETARY
|| |[7. Percentage of votes  [0.00 T
8. Percentage of total

.....

e

assets (equity debt plus)

&&9°

1. Name and Address

ICVI\\l/DREW PAYNE, 1414 LOWDEN HEIGHTS RD., CHARLESTON -
R34 - i ‘ |

2. Gender (male or
female)

Iﬁle

3. Ethnicity (check one)

(‘ Hlspamc or Latmo

~ [ Not Hispanic or Latino

4. Race (select one or
more)

| American Indian or Alaska Native
|C Asian . :
~ |C Black or Afrlcan Amerlcan ; i

yyyyy

| Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander

‘ e ¢ White
lisE Cltlzenshlp,\ i us . T
~ |lb. Positional Interest |ADVISOR SEE EXH 1
7. Percentage of votes ~ [0.00 '
8. Percentage of total

i’ '656

assets (equity debt plus)

1 Name and Ad”dress

GARY WHITE, 210 LARRY HOE HARLESS DRIVE GILBERT Wv
25621 ‘ '

2. Gender (male or
female)

Male
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L

3 Ethl‘llCIty (check one) e Hispariit orilatino = Pl s
- | Not Hispanic or Latino
o Race (select one o? ;‘35 ¢ American Indlan or Alaska Natlye -
~ |more) o e S

9 i BlackiorAftican Amerlcan

‘:’ ¢ Native Hawaﬂan or Other ng;gf c Islander
il & White et -
: |5. Citizenship IUS w A 531
6. Positional Interest |ADVISOR-SEE EXH 1- AND O 004 OWNERSHIP "
7. Percentage of votes 000 | % T
8. Percentage of total LHURE " 5
assets (equity debt plus) g v fRiz oo
[1. Name and Address LEO HINDERY 188 E. 78TH STREET, 315 NEW YORK, NY
110174 - "
2. Gender (maleor  [Male
female) ol s i
3. :Ethnu:lty (check one) 35”' ¢ Hispanic or Latino
N e B & Not Hispanic or Latino

,,,,,,

¢ American Indlan or Alaska Najt!ye
more) 2 it uesAsian
. . ‘ ‘ " Black or Afrlcan American

\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\

e Ll ¢ Native Hawaiian or Other Pac;f“ ic Islander
s Bh e White -
5 Citizenship lus 5
- ||6. Positional Interest IADVISOR - SEE EXH 1

7. Percentage of votes  [0.00

8. Percentage of total 0.00
assets (equity debt plus) 6

1. Name ahE“Address ~[DOROTHY DOTSON, 84 FREESIA COURT, HOLMDEL, NJ 07733
|2. Gender (male or Female '
- female)

e Ethnicity (check one)

¢ Hispanic or Latino
¢ Not Hispanic or Latino
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.....

s more) T ST C Asian

1l4. Race (select one or Wl" American Indian or Alaska Natn/e ; i

‘, ¢ Black or African Amerlcan
| Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific IslandEr

o Sl g Whlte
5. Citizenship i E
6. Positional Interest ~ |ADVISOR - SEE EXH 1
7. Percentage of votes ~ [0.00
8. Percentage of total 0 00
assets (equity debt plusJ
I((b) [Respondent certifies that eqwty and financial mterests not Tl e & Yes ¢ No
| set forth in response to Question 9(a) are non-attrlbut;a\tgle\ e
s C N/A
A BURS T See Explanation in-
f ::igzé; N iy %:i ‘ f-???f%«z [Exhlblt 21
(©) [Is the respondent or any party ho!dmg an attrlbutable %, rYes (5 No

interest in the respondent also the holder of an attributable
interest in any dther' broadcast station or in é"hy cable or
signals in the same broadcast service, as descrlbed in 47 C.F.
R. Sections 73.3555 and 76.501? .

If "Yes", submit an Exhibit identifying the holder of that ~ [Exhibit 3]
other attrlbutable |nterest listing the call signs, locations and e
faCIIltles identifiers of suCh other broadcast statlons and

........

»»»»»»

the positions held in the other broadcast cable or

newspaper entities. .

@

Are any of the individuals listed in response to Question °9(::\)  Yes + No
related as parent—chuld husband-wife, brothers and sisters? ; S

.....

If "Yes", submlt an Exhlblt settlng forth full mformatlon as to [Exhlblt 4]

the family relationship
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i(e) Srespo‘ndent seeking an attribution exemption for any - ‘t" Yes (" No
': officer or director with dutles unrelated to the licensee or - 5335-”
S SR e ; e [Exh!blt -

S

,,,,,

If "Yes", submit an Exhibit identifying that individual by E
‘xname and tltle fully descrlblng that mdlwdual s duties and s

SECTION III - CERTIFICATION

\\\\\\

\\\\\\\\

Icertify that I am PRESIDENTANDCEO

\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\

.........

\\\\\\\

of WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA HOLDINGS, L

(Exact legal title or name of respondent)

and that I have examined thIS Report and that to the best of my knowiedge and behef all statements
in thls Report are true correct and complete ‘_‘ :

\\\\\\\\\\\\\
\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\
vvvvvvv

\\\\\\\\\\\\

Slgnature = i Date
ALBERT BRAY CARY, JR 105/30/2008

Telephone Number of Respondent (Include area code) 3043457711

WILLFUL FALSE STATEMENTS ON THIS FORM ARE F’UNISHABLE BY FINE AND/OR IMPRISONMENT (U S CODE TITLE 18,
SECT ION 1001); AND/OR REVOCATION OF ANY STATION LICENSE OR CONSTRUCTION PERMIT (U.S. CODE TITLE 47,

SECTION 312(a)(1)), AND/OR FORFEITURE (U.S. CODE, TITLE 47 SECTION 503).

Exhibits

Exhlbit 1
Descrlptlon BUSINESS STRUCTURE

WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA HOLDINGS, LLC ('HOLDINGS')IS A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY FORMED

https://licensing.fcc.gov/cgi-bin/ws.exe/prod/...ext=25&appn=101245495&formid=323&fac_num=71220 (44 of 45) [5/24/2013 4:37:26 PM]
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UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE AND AUTHORIZED TO DO 0 BUSINESS IN THE STATE
OF WEST VIRGINIA. THE COMPANY UNITS ARE DIVIDED INTO THE FOLLOWING CLASSES: 200,000
(WHICH PAY A CONTRACTUALLY FIXED RETURN ON INVESTMENT AND WHICH HAVE VOTING
RIGHTS ONLY WITH RESPECT TO MATTERS RELEVANT TO INVESTMENT PROTECTION AND ONLY

AGREEMENT AT SECTION V— -6), 8000 EQUAL ’SERIES B CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED UNITS (NON-
VOTING); AND 2000 EQUAL SERIES C CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED UNITS (NON-VOTING). HOLDINGS
IS CONTROLLED BY WEST VIRGINIA MEDIAPARTNERS GP, LLC ('GP"), ITS SOLE GENERAL PARTNER.
THE OWNERS OF GP ARE W. MARSTON BECKER, WHO IS CHAIRMAN OF HOLDINGS AND ALBERT
BRAY CARY, JR., THE PRESIDENT AND CEO OF HOLDINGS. THE OTHER OFEICERS OF HOLDIN@S
ARE R. CHARLES DUSIC, III, CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER; AND F. THOMAS GRAFF, SECRETARY. OUT
OF AN ABUNDANCE OF CAUTION, THE HOLDINGS' OWNERSHIP REPORT LISTS MEMBERS OF AN
ADVISORY BOARD APPOINTED BY GP. PRESENTLY FOUR OUTSIDE ADVISORS AND MR. BECKER AND

MR. CARY SIT ON THE ADVISORY BOARD BY THE TERMS OF SECTION VIII-0 OF HOLDINGS'

\\\\\\\\\\\

TO ADVISE GP. THE ADVISORY BOARD I:I”AS NO AUTF‘IORITY TO MANAGE THE BUSINESS AND
PROPERTY OF HOLDINGS OR TO DIRECT THE OPERATIONS OF HOLDINGS SEPARATE OWNERSHIP
REPORTS ARE BEING FILED CONTEMPORANEOUSLY HEREWITH FOR WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA
PARTNERS GP, LLC; WEST VIRGINIA MEDIA PARTNERS Les AND BOWLES RICE MCDAVID GRAFF &
LOVE PLLC .

Attachment 1
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¥(8/"4/200%+uss Sharp - Richard-
O_ From: Russ Sharp
To: rwhallard@belisouth.net
- Date: 5/14/2007 10:07 AM
Subject: Richard-
Richard-

It was a pleasure meeting to discuss some passibilities with Panasonic this past week.
We will back in touch as soon as possible.

Russ Sharp
Associate Athletic Director
West Virginla University
PnOn Bm m

ntown, WV 26507

Office (304) 293-2101 ext, 5513
Cell (304) 276-1021
russ.sharp@mail.wvu.edu
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From: Russ Sharp
To: Walker, Cralg
. Date: B/17/2007 4:23 PM
Subject: Cralg-
Craig-

Try and call me when you can.

After talking with Drew this morning, we have conflicting signals about the Panasonic deal from what we talked about, as
far as schedule and the RFP process go.

1 thought that we were In basic agreement that a scoreboard Install prior to basketball season was not possible due to the
considerations for men's and women's basketball and women's valleyball practicas, PE classes and women's volleyball.

We are still moving along planning on & RFP untit I hear different from you.

Russ Sharp

Associate Athletic Director

West Virginia University o

P.O. Box 0877 . J :
Morgantown, WV 26507 - kt" /% [ T 000 L
Office (304) 293-2101 ext. 5513

Cell (304) 276-1021

russ,sharp@mail.wvu.edu
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From: Russ Sharp

To: Weese, Narvel
Date: 11/28/2007 5:39 PM
Subject: Narvel-

Attachments: scoreboard update for Eddie Nov. 5, 2007.doc; Videohoard, lighting and soun

d budget Nov, 2007.xis

cc: Pastilong, Ed
Narvel~

Just to follow-up on our conversation regarding the Coliseum video/scoreboard, lights and sound system.

We will be tweaking the estimate for the entire project over the next week or 50 but at this point we are In the $4.4 militon
range,

As I mentioned on the phone, Eddie, Mike & 1 are In agreement on the viabllity of the project as well as the revenue
potential and the ultimate return after a 7 year financing perlod which we prefer.

1 have attached a brief description of the progress of the project which Eddie shared with the President as well a
spreadsheet which details the known costs to date as well as revenue potential and financing options.

Russ Sharp

Assoclate Athletic Director

West Virginla University

p.0. Box 0877

Morgantown, WV 26507

Office (304) 293-2101 ext. 5513
Cell (304) 276-1021 '
russ.sharp@mail.vwvu.edu
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We are making substantial progress on the project to replace the current scoreboard,
sound system and lighting in the Coliseum with a state of the art videoboard, sound
system and lighting system, This past spring we hired Ellerbe Beckett, a national
known sports architectural firm, to assist in the project and they have in tum hired
three professional consulting groups to assist in each one of the phases of the project.
Their group includes-Henderson Engineers, Acoustical Design Group and Patlin
Electronics and we have recently hired Alpha Associates to assist in the structural -
evaluation of the rigging, hoist and catwalk systems as they have completed the most
recent structural evaluation of these systems.

We have held numerous conference calls and in-person meetings with the consultants
since May 2007 and Ellerbe Becket has recently delivered the 100% schematic design
plans. The 50% design set is due on Nov. 16, 2007, the 90% design set is due on Dec.
21, 2007 and the 100% set of construction drawings is due on January 17, 2008. As
you can see from the schedule, thisisa time consuming process where we have
determined at every stage the various elements that we want in the final design. We
decided to hire a consultant on this project because we have far too often been limited
to what the scoreboard provider placed before us with limited competition. We plan
on taking this project to the Capital Planning Committee in December and the Board
of Governors in January/February 2008. We have also involved Eric Andrews from
Arts and Entertainment in our discussions because of concerns about the height of the

new videoboard and additional rigging requirements.

It is critical that the videoboard, sound system and lighting be designed as an
integrated package as there are various clements that must work together from a
functional, construction and aesthetic standpoint. We plan on doing RFP for the
combined videoboard and sound package as they will be integrated with some
additional directional sound elements on the catwalk. The lighting design must be
done in concert with the videoboard and sound system as they will all share/overlap

in the same areas but can be bid as a separate package.

While we understand your concern about the critical timing of the project, we have
been open and honest with all parties about our schedule and at no time have we been
directed otherwise. Russ Sharp has met with Phillip Charneskie and Jay Rossello in
‘September regarding the plans and schedule that athletics has been working and they
had no concemns other than the favored sharing of information and discussions that
have been taking place with Panasonic. I discussed the project with Craig Walker last
month and he indicated that he would arrange for a conference call with Alex Macia,
Russ Sharp and myself. Additionally, we expect to have the report from the Bonham
Group regarding their valuation of the naming rights of the Coliseum this month.

00GHR6Y



Since the original update on this project we have further refined the cost estimates for
the total project at $4.4 million and Russ Sharp and Mike Parsons have develop 2
revenue and financing plen. Russ has discussed the project with Narvel Weese who is
comfortable with the plan as presented with the understanding that board approval
will be sought in February, We are still on track for the completion of the
specifications from the various consultants by mid-January so they may be inserted in
a stand alone RFP or a RFP of which our project would be a part of a larger more
comprehensive overall campus plan as Narvel discussed with Russ Sharp on Nov.
28" T also understand that Russ has updated Tim Bostonia from Business Services
regarding the status and timelines for the project. The report from the Bonham Group
will be available in mid-December.
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From: ' Russ Sharp

To: Rossl Wiles, Chad_Francis@ellerbebecket.com
Date: 1/16/2008 8:34 AM

Subject: Re: Chad-

CcC: Russ Sharp

All-

We might end up just forwarding our info to Panasonic as they have indicated that they might make a gift
of the Coliseum board and sound system if the a board is purchased for the football stadium. We should

know soemthing in a few days. For now we should keep moving.

Russ Sharp
Russ Sharp

Assoclate Athletic Director
West Virginia University

P.O. Box D877

Morgantown, WV 26507

Office (304) 293-2101 ext. 6513
Cell (304) 276-1021
russ.sharp@mail. wvu.edu

—---0riginal Message—-

From: Rossi Wiles
To: <Chad_Francis@ellerbebecket.com>

Cc: Russ Sharp <Russ, Sharp@mail. wvu, edu>

Sent: 1/16/2008 6:56:05 AM
Subject: Re: Chad-

Chad, things are extremely busy and | apologize for the delay. | was not planning on having this project.
That's a moot point however. My schedule today takes me through 4:00 p.m. however, | am going to work
on getting the RFP done for you tonight. | will try to make it a final product and you will be able to use it.
However, | am not sure that meets your schedule. Please let me know.

Thanks

Rossi

Rossi E, Wiles, CPA, Esq.

Associate Director Contracting Services
West Virginia University

(304)293-8473 (Office)

(304)216-5894 (Cell)

=>> <Chad_Francis@sellerbebecket.com= 1/15/2008 3:42 PM >>>
Rossl - :

I Just wanted to see haw your review of the specs Is going? We will need
to get your review as soon as possible to include any comments into the
package by this Thursday. Let me know.

Thanks ; .
006853

Chad Francis

Ellerbe Becket

2380 McGee. Suite 200
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WV

FOUNDATION

January 24, 2008

Mr. John Baisley, President

Panasonic Broadcast & Television Systems Company
One Panasonic Way, 487

Secaucas, NJ 07084

Dear Mr. Baisley,

The West Virginia Unlversity Foundation, Inc. hereby agrees i accept the
donation of a video scoreboard and sound system from the Panasonic Broadcast
& Television Systems Company. The donated equipment and related items will
be installed at Wast Virginia University's primary basketball venue, the WVU
Colisaum, located on the Evansdale Campug in Morgantown, West Virginia.

The West Virginia University Foundation, Inc. Is committed t0 seeking the
necessary donations and other revenues to allow for the purchase of & video
scoreboard and sound system to be installed at West Virginia University's
primary football venue, the Mylan Puskar Stadium, located on the Evansdale
Campus In Morgantown, West Virginia.

West Virginia University agrees to accept the video scoreboards and sound
systams from the WVU Foundation, Inc., and to install the equipment at the
Coliseum and Mylan Puskar Stadium. In addition, West Virginia University will
provide the Panasonic Broadcast & Television Systems Company with
opportunities to showcase thelr products fo potential customers, which have
been installed on the campus of Wast Virginia University.

The West Virginia University Foundation, Inc., West Virginia University, and
Panasonic Broadcast & Television Systems Company agres to collaborate In
determining the scope of work, specifications and/or features of the video
scoreboard and sound systems to ba instalied at both facilities. The scope of

Audio Renovation Arena Package 3 consultants report dated January 17, 2008
and prepared by the following firmos: Ellerbe Beckett, Inc., Henderson Engineers,
Acoustical Design Group, Patlin Electranics, and Alpha Associates. The report
will set the minimum standards for the Collseum video scoreboard and sound
system project. The scope of work, specifications and feaftures of the video
scareboards and sound systems must be agreed to by all partles. \

e Warerfone Tloce » Sevanth Blone = Mongneonen, WV 26501 001335
O3, 2844000 ¢ Faxe IO4.284 4031 » e [T 11




On behalf of the West Virginia University Foundation, Inc and West Virginia
University, we want to thank you for your generosity and commitment fo the
University. We look forward to establishing a strong business partnership as we
undertake this important project.

R. Wayne
Prasident,
Wast Virginia University Foundation, Inc.

Vice President for Administration and Finance
West Virginia University
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Russ Sharp - Fwd: Panasonic WVU Stadium and Coliseum Scope of Work

T 3 e o o T AN L TSR TR ST RN AR
()'n: Narvel Weese
Td Sharp, Russ
Date: 1/31/2008 8:45 AM
Subject: Fwd: Panasonic WVU Stadium and Coliseum Scope of Work
Attachments:
FY1

Narvel
>>> Richard Ballard <rwballard@belisouth.net> 1/30/2008 9:53 PM >>>

Narvel;

As promised, attached please find the scope of work from Panasonic for the WVU Football Stadium and the WVU Coliseum
gift in PDF format. Panasonic has also attached the Arena Package 3 scope of work, Section 11758, which is aiso referenced
in their scope of work from your Ellerbe Becket consultants recommendations referenced In the Foundation letter to
Panasonic. In essence, Panasonic has upgraded several aspects of the LED system requested in the recent Ellerbe Becket
consuitants report and those elements are primarily what Is highlighted In the scope of work for the Coliseum. Unless
otherwise noted In Panasonic’s scope of work for the Coliseun, Panasonic plans to default to the Arena Package 3 scope of
work In all other areas.

My apologies for the delay today but I made additional change requests from Panasonic requiring a rewrite to the scope of
srk, thus the delay from Panasonic. [ trust you will find the scope of work submitted for both venues should exceed
*-yone's expectations by all measures. Any issues or concerns can be addressed at anytime to WVU'’s satisfaction. With

submission, your coordination with the WVU Foundation to generate a'purchase order for Panasonic tomorrow is
~aly appreciated and necessary to complete the required administrative process to execute the scope of work for both
; immediately.

[ look forward ta speaking with you and request any circulation of these documents remain with the WVU Foundation and
NV U Executive Administration at this point. I am also requesting no press release or announcement be made without the
nput and agreement of all parties on any release, announcement, event and timing.

“would appreciate a call tomorrow to discuss and ensure the process, as well as, answer any questions you, WVU

‘oundation or others may have at this time to ensure the relationship Is ectivated this week for the complete benefit of WVU.
I hope everyone is pleased and excited about the opportunity to partner with Panasonic on these two significant projects for
YVU so Panasonic may execute the vision, concern, involvement, interest and generosity of our friend, Ben Statler for WVU.

‘hank you for your immediate attention to this request and your assistance and support Is greatly appreciated.

7" . ra %
SC Py -l P AU T - - i
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lichrard == CG("I"-""" (e o ~adl === ‘S f—){Cd{W \.(“‘- v ¢—/
ichard Ballard <} Bezz fear =—
70-364-4675 — (-[.\ ced =  Ace A @

w?kj ; Clacel ~ @uehvadt =7

‘[;_):;A - QV — /VI:, r rv'\ P (—"{I 27wy --—_-":" L {.‘ !‘3 ,..‘b f . /O . f{ .
+ /l- ¢ /‘ (,"‘}/:.. —:/ C:*/u{.r'_?{:-' =

%O'GLI i ) 57 i = Perro — i

O U Cim €A ot f;, L'T.

O - Do 7 000643

Py,

e://C:\Documents and Settings\RASharp\Loca) Settings\Temp\XPerpwise\d7TA18A9CWVUDem2WV...  1/31/2008



EXHIBIT 9



K re 7

SALES AND INSTALLATION AGREEMENT

This Sales angd Instullation Agreemen! (“the Agreement™), effective 85 of the date fully
execuled by the Parfies, is made by and amang Wesl Virginia Univv.:u-ity_Foundntion. Inc, a West
Virginia non profit corporation located in Morganiown, wy ("Wvu Foundation"); and Panasonic
System Solations Company, Unit of Panesonic Corporation of North America, 3 Delaware corporation
located at Three Panssonic Way, Secaueus, NjJ 07094 (“Panasonic™). wry Foundation and Panssonic
shall sometimes be collectively referred Lo as “the Partics" or individually a5 g Pany »

Whereas, Panssonic Provides design solutions lo private sector, non profit and government

customers seeking electronjes inlegrated systens for interactive use and/or display at their properties;

Whereas, Panasonic sells and installs audiofvisua) systems producis and sofiware systems
bundled with certain products to implement their design solutions for customers:

acquisition and installation projects al the WVU Coliseum (“Coliseum System™) and at the Wy Milen
Puskar Sladium (“Stadium System™); hereinafier referred 10 together a5 the “Systems."

Whereas, Wvy Foundation wishes to purchase the Stadium System from Panasonic for
use by WVU in connection with the operation of Puskar Stadium;

Whereas, upon full payment for the Stadium System, Panasonic wishes 1o donate and
WVU Foundation wishes to aceept the Coliseum System for use by WVU in connection with
the eperstion of WU Coliseumn.

Whereas, upon completion of each installation of the Systems by Panasonic and upon
acceplance of the Systems by WvVU Foundation in consullation with WVU, wvu Foundation will
donate the Systems wilhout encumbrance, reimbussement for any costs, or condition of any kind (o the
University;

Therefore, in consideration of the Covenants contained herein and other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Partjes agree ag
follows:

ARTICLE] ORDERS,

the respective specifications and shop drawings therefore g5 set forth in Schedule 1 A for
Stadium System Produet and Schedule 1B for Coliseum System Product (each the "Applicable
Specifications”). Upon execution of this Agreement, excepl as otherwise provided herein,
WVU Foundation places its firm and irrevocable purchase order for the Products, and Seljer
firmdy and irevoeably accepts such purchase order for the Products, ;



the Coliseuim System as mare fully defined under Schedules 2A (Stadium System) and 2B (Coliseum
Sysiem), Scope of Work, ottached hereto and made g pert of this Agresmen,

Panasonic agrees Ihat i has relied Upon specifications and all other related documents,
requirements, and specifications for the Coliseum ns provided by WVU, and further including all other
related documents, requirements, and specifications as may be provided or required by WVL.

ARTICLE 2 RELATED SERVICES.

Panasonic shall provide the installation and related services (“the Services™) with respeet lo the
Products as specified in the Scope of Worlk documents, attached hereto and incorporated herein,

Schedules, Change Orders, and/or Exhibits, ghall comply with all requirements of Wast Virginia Code,
West Virginia University Bosrd of Gavemors Policy and Higher Education Policy Commission Policy
as provided by WVU, federal, state and locs| !ax requirements, permits, licenses, bonds, standards for
safety, payment of prevailing wages, and slandards for the construction end installation of cquipment
and/or Systems on property owned by WVU as provided by WVU ,

ARTICLE3 PRICE/PAYMENT.

3.1 Purchese Price. WVU Foundation shall pay to Ponasonic a total amount of Five
Million dollars  (£5,000,000.00) (the "Purchase Price™), in consideration for the purchese of the
Products and Services associated with Stadium System, which Purchase Priea is inclusive of any
federal, state. and loca) excise, sales, and/or use lexes of any kind for the Products and Services, The
Purchase Price does not include the impact of Change Orders that may affect the Scope of Work for the
Systems.

3.2 Payment Schedule. WVy Foundation shall pay the Purchase Price for the Stadium
Syslem o Panasonic in accordance with the schedule set forth on Schedule 3, attached hereio and
incomorsted herein, .

33 cu jecls. Panasonic and WVU Foundation acknowledge and agree that
installation of Lbe Systems as provided for herein shall take Place concurrently according to Scheduic 3,
Delivery Scheduic and Project Plan. Panasonjc and WVU Foundation further apree that installation and
donation of the Caliseum System ix contingent on sccepiance and payment for the Stadium Sysiem and
relsted Services.

ARTICLE4 DELIVERY QF PRODUCTS.

Punasonic shall deliver each Product F.0.B, Delivery Location on the respective date o sel
forth an Schedule 4 attached hereto and incarporated herein (the “Delivery Date"). Each such delivery
shall be made 10 a location specified by WYU Foundation and WVU (o Panasonic prior to the
respective Delivery Date (the "Delivery Location"). No Delivery Date or Delivery Location shall be
changed unless WVU Foundation and WVU gives its prior written approval thereof,

ARTICLES CHANGE QRDERS.
5.0 Change Ovders. If WVU Foundation desires to make changes lo its purchase
=9
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order for the Products, the Applicable Specifications or the Services, WvU Foundation shall
comply with the following procedures:

(8) WVU Foundation shall provide Panasonic written notice of its desire 10
implement a change order sefting ou! the details of the desired change (a "Change Order
Request™).

(b) Panasonic shall not more than ten (10) days after receipt of the Change
Order Request, or any other mutually agreed period, provide WVU Foundation with a
written response that sets forth the impact the proposed change will have on the
operation of the system, equipment, Delivery Date, Purchase Price or other aspects of
the Products and the Applicable Specifications (a "Change Order Response™); provided,
however, that the Impact of a proposed change on the Purchase Price resulting from
such a change in a Product shall be equal (o the difference (positive or negative,
whichever is applicable) between the fajr market value of the original Product and the
fair market value of the new Product once the Proposed change is taken into account.
Such Change Order Response shall, in addition, include other relevant technical
information as may be required by Wyu Foundation to evalate the effect of such
desired change, including but not limited fo any required adjustments to the Delivery
Schedule and Project Plan. WVU Foundation acknowledges and agrees that ceriain
types of equipment cannot be changed after cortain dates without subjecting WVU
Foundation to additiona) costs 10 cover changes 16 cusiom-built cquipment, including
but not limited to the LED displays listed among Product on Schedule 1, or to g 14%
reslocking fee plug shipping costs for equipment (hat |s not Custom-produced under the
Agreement. Panasanic shal| notify WVU Foundation at least five (5) days prior the last
date that WVU Foundation can make a change to a given Product without incurring
such additional costs or feeg (the "Change Deadline™), |f Change Order Request
requests a change to a Product after the respective Change Deadline, Panasonic shall set
forth all such additional costs of fees in the Change Order Response. The Change Order

Change Order Response by executing the Change Order Response within the time frame
sct forth in the Change Order Respanse, if any, or within the period of time that WVU
Foundation informs Panasonic that will be required for WVU Foundation to evaluate
such Change Order Response: or (1) not proceed with the Change Order Reaponse.

(d) Exc
until it has received an approved Change Order Response signed by WyU Foundation,

(e) If at any time Panasonie considers that a change (0 the Applicable
Specifications is necessary to ensure the Proper or more effective operation of g Product,
Panasonic may submit a Change Order Response 10 WVU Foundation. wvu
Foundation shall review such Change Order Response in accordance with the terms of
Subparagraph 5(c).

-3-
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(n Panasonic may also initiate a request for a change order by providing
WVU Foundation written notice describing the nature of the change. 1f wWvu
Foundation approves further investigation of such change, Panasonic shall creste s
Change Order Response in accordance with Subparagraph 5(b). and WVU Foundation
shall review such Change Order Response pursuant to Subparagraph S(c).

(8)  Designated representatives of WVU Foundation and Panasonic shall meet
not less frequently than once each week for the duration of Work (es hereinafter
defined) 1o discuss the progress of the Work.  If it is determined and agreed by the

Applicable Specifications shall be amended to include any change therelo set forth in the
Change Order,

5.2 xlensi . IT Panasonic is delayed at any time in progress
of the Services (defined heres fter) by en act of neglect of the WVU Poundation, WVU, or their
agents, cmployees and contractors; or by labor disputes, fire, unusual delay in deliveries,
unavoidable casualties, acts of' God, unforeseen cond itions, or other causes beyond Panasonic's
control, or by delay authorized by WVU Poundation or WVU pending arbitration, then the
scheduled date for completion of al] Services will be extended by Change Order for such time
as the Parties mutvally determine in accordance with this Article . Such Change Order may
also include an impact on Purchase Price,

ARTICLES  RISK OF LOSS/TITLE,

6.1 Immm_efw Risk of loss or damage 10 each Product and title to
each Product shall pass to WvU Foundation afier (ender of delivery of such Product to WVU
Foundation at the respective Delivery Location on (he respective Delivery Date,

the securily interest granted herein, including withowt limilation a Uniform Commercial Code
Financing Siefement(s). The security imterest granted hereunder shall terminate upon peyment of the
Purchase Price of the Stadium System to Panasonic by WVU Foundation,




insurance covering ayeinst risks of additional costs due 10 lsbor, reconstruction costs, and debrls
removed related to o covered cause of Inss. The insurance provided by the Parties must meet or exceed
8l requirements as set forth under Schedule 5. atiached hereto and made & part of this Agreement;

provided, that coverage provided by the West Virginiz Board of Risk and Insurance Management shall
he deemed (0 meel such requiremenits.

ARTICLE7 SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION AND ACCEPTANCE,

7.1 Substantiel Completion. Substantial Completion is the stage in the progress of the
delivery and instsllalion of the Products and Services related thereto (“the Work™) when the Work is
sufficiently complete for its intended use in accordance with the Scope of Work. Upon reaching
Substantial Complerion, Psnasonic shall dellver to WV U Foundstion, a nolice of substantial completion
and g list of iteme (il any) for correction or completion of Work (“Punch List") thai remain 1o be
finished prior Lo final completion. WVU Foundation shalf have up lo five (5) days to: (i) sceept the
Punch List; or (ii) reply o Panasonic with objections o the Punch List for the Perties 1o review and
sgree upon. WVU Foundation's failure 10 respond to the Punch List within five (5) days shall be
deemed acceplance of Punch List. Upon the Parties* agreement of all Punch List items, Panasonic shall
complete all tasks as required for the Work to be finally completed In accordence with the Scope of
Wark. Upon completion of all Punch List iiems. Panasonic shall deliver a notice of final completion 1o
WVYU Foundation for acknowledgement and executian.

T.1.1.  Temporary Product. In the event Panosonic is unable to reach Substantial
Completion of the Work on or prior to the date specified on the Project Schedule Plan, attached
and incorporated herein as Schedule 4, then Panasonic shall provide temporary mobile video
screen(s) 1o be crected and displayed 8t the Stadium for such period of {ime untll Substantia)
Completion of the Project is reached.

72 Acceptance. WVU Foundation's acceplance of the Work shall be deemed effective
upon the earlier of: (i) five (5) days from Substantial Completion if no Punch List items were required
to be completed pursuant 1o the terms of Seclion 715 (i) the WVU Foundation's execution of notice of
final completion; gr (iii) five (3) days after delivery of notice of final compietion If natice remaing

unsigned.

ARTICLES WARRANTIES.

8.1 Applicable Warranties. All warranties 10 WYU Foundation are transferable and shall
become the property of West Virginia University upan final acceptance and donation of the Systems lo
the Universily os provided for herein. Panasonic represents and warrants to WVU Foundation and to
WYVU for the warranly period of twelve (12) months following instaliation of a Product that each
Product will comply with the Applicable Specifications and be free from defects in design,
workmanship and malerials. Except ae set Torth in the immedintely preceding sentence, each Product
shall be covered salely by the standard written manufacturer's warranly (if any) included with such
equipment when dclivered. THE WARRANTIES SET FORTH IN THIS PARAGRAPH ARE
EXCLUSIVE AND ARE IN LIEU OF ALL OTHER WARRANTIES ON THE PRODUCT,
WHETHER ORAL OR WRITTEN, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED. Panasonie's liability under this
warranty shall be limiled solely to the cosi of any necessary repairs lo or reptacement of the Products,
No suit shall be brought on an slieged breach of the warranties set forth in this Paragraph 8.1 more than
twelve (12) months Irom the date the applicable warranty expires. Panasonic's warranty extends to its
intercept for and integration of each Sysiem with existing products fumished to WVU by third parties.

~-5-
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However. no warranty claim or suit shall be brought on an alleged hreach of the warranties set forth in
this Peragraph B.1 for defects and subsequent modifications that originate, nol with the Product or its
intercept 1o or integration wilh Ihird-party products, but with the third-party product. Full disclosure of
such Warranties made pursuent (o this Paragraph ¥.1 are antached hereto as Schedule 6 and arc hereby
incorporated inlo this Agreement. The warrantics in this Paragraph 8.1 allocate the risks of failure
of & Product between WVU Foundation and Panasonic as authorized by the Uniform
Commercial Code and other applicable law, Penasonic's pricing reflects this allocation of risk
and the limitations of fiability contained in this Agreement.

8.1.1 During the warranty period Panasonic shall provide a Panasonic trained and
quelified service technician at al) men's basketball games and footballs games and at other
mutually agreed upon events teking place at the WVU Coliseum or WVU Milan Puskar
Stadium. WVU shal) designate a technics| service representative to be trained by Panasonic
for meintenance of the Systems.

B.1.2 Upon expiration of lhe warranty period, Panasonic shall offer & comprehensive
Service Agreement for suppori of Lhe Sysiems,

82 Warrspty Violstion. In order for Panasonic lo correct a nonconformity of a Product o
the Applicable Specifications pursuant 1o this Article 8. the following procedure must be followed:

(a) If. during the warranly period, the holder of the warranly (whether WVU
Foundstion or WVU as assignee) believes hat the Produc! does not conform under the
warranty, such holder shall promptly notify Panasonic thereof in writing and supply any
avallable documentation of the nonconformity as reasonably requested by Panasonic.

(b) Panasonic shall promptly investigate the slleged nonconformity. Panasonic shall
promplly, at its own expense, either repair any such noncenformity in the Praducl or replace the
Product with a Produc that does conform with the Applicsbie Specifications.

(c) To the extent that Panasonic Is requested 1o perform warranty wark and Panasonie
determines that the defect in the Work, or the failure of the Work 10 aperate as intended. thal
results in Panasonic being requested 1o perform such warranty work, or any portion thereof,
wos a direct cause of the WVU's negligent fallure 1o operale or maintain the Work in
accordance with the operation and/or maintenance instructions, as applicable, provided by
Panasonic o WVYU as part of the Work (the “Instructions™), Panasonic shall notify WVU in
writing of the costs and expenses that will be incurred in correcting the portion of the Work in
accordance with the Instructions, then WVU shall be responsible for reimbursing Panasonic for
the cass and expenses reasonably incurred by Panasonic in performing the portion of the
warranly work directly caused by the WvuU's negligence,

83 Assignment of Warranties. Notwithstanding sny other provisfons of this Agreement ,
Panasonic sgrees that all warranties given by Panssonic and the manufacturers with respect (0 the
Products shall nm to the benefit of both WVU Foundation and WVU. and that WVU Foundation shal)
have ihe right to assign to WVU any and el of its rights and Interests deriving from or refated to such
warranties lo WVU Foundatinn.

ARTICLE? [INDEMNITY.

9.1 ic's In ities.  Panasonic shall indemnify and hold harmless WVU
Foundation and WVU, their affiliates. officers, directors, employees, and contraciors, and the

-h-
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respeclive trusiees of such institutions (“the wWvy Indemnitees™) from and ngainst all claims, damages,
losses and expenses, including but not limited 10 attomey's fees, arising oyt of or resulting from
performance of the Work. 1o the extent caused In whole or in part by negligent, willful or fraudulert
8C1S or omissions of Panasonic, a contractor or subcontractor of Panasonic, or anyone directly employed
by them, except io the EXlent caused by (i) the negligent or willful acls or omissions of a WVU
Indemnitee; or (ii) the combination of |he Sysiems with third parly praduct poy supplied by Panasonic,
Panasonic shall defend any such action af its own expense; provided that the Wy Indemnitees, upon
receiving notice nfany such claim. damage, loss or expense Prompily notifies Panasonic and Panasonic
is afforded the oppartunity in its sole and absolute discretion 1o determine the manner in which such
claim, damage, loss or expense shell be handled or otherwise disposed of. The Wy Indemnitees shal)
cooperate in any such Proceeding, The Wyy Indemnitees may a1 its own tost and expense defend a
suit for which it is indemnified under this Paragraph 9.1 and be represented by its own counsel;
provided, however, that the WVU Indemnitees shai Not consent to any judgment or decree or agree to
pay any sum of meney ar do any ag in compromise of any such claim withoul firs oblaining
Panssenic's conseni therew in writing.

9.2 wWvu fon's | . WVU Foundation shall indernnify and hold harmless
Panasonic, its affiliates, officers, directors, tmployees, and contractors (each, 2 “Panasonic
Indemnitee”) from and ageinst all claims, damages, losses ang expenses, Including but not fimjted o
atlomey’s fees, arising out of or resulting from the acis or omissions of WV Foundation or any of its
officers, employees, sgenls or contrclors in receiving, installing, Operating or using the Praducts,
EXcepl 1o the extent caused by the negligent or willful acts or omissions of a Panasonic Indemnitee.
WVU Foundation shall defend any such sction sl its own ©Xpense; provided that Panmsonic upon
receiving notice of any such elaim, damage, loss or éxpense promplly notifies Wy Foundation and
WVU Foundation is sfforded the oppartunity in its gole and absolute discretion (o determine the
manner in which such claim, damage, loss or cxpanse shall be handled or otherwise disposed of

provided. however, tha Panasonic shal) not consent {o any judgment or decree or agres (o pay any sum
of money or do any act in compromise of any such claim withoyt first obtaining Wvy Foundation's

ARTICLE 10 LiMIT, TION ON Li LITY,

ARTICLE 11 DISPUTE MEDIATION,

In the event of a controversy, dispute or claim arising out of, from or relating to the
inlerpretation, performance or breach of the provisions of (hig Agreement whether based on contract,
fort, equity or staiute and includ ing ditpules conceming entitlement 1o and exercise of \erminalion or
suspension rights (collect ively, 2 “Dispute®), senior Tepresentatives of the Parties shall mee and attempt
to resolve the Dispute in good faith. If the Dispute is not resolved RUrsuant 1o this procedure within
thirty (30) days or an agreed-upon exiension period of the commencemeni of such procedures, but not
until the Parties have altempted in good Gaith o resolve the Dispute within such thirly (30) day period,

o,
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then either Party may seek legal action,

ARTICLE 12 EM PLOYEES/SUBCONTRACTORS,

12.1 isgrimi Neither WVU Foundation nor Panasonic shall discriminete
because of race, color, religion, sex, age, national original, handicap, or status as a Viemam veleran, a5
defined and prohibited by spplicablc govemmmental law. in the recruitment, selection, training,
utilization, promotion, temmination, or other employment related activities concerning the Work. In
addition, Panasonic alfirms thet it is an equal epportunity and affimmative action cmployer and shall
comply with all applicable federal, siate and local laws and regulations including, but nol fimited 1o,
Execulive Order 11246 as amended by 11375 and 12086; 12138: 11625 11758; 32073; the
Rehabllatlon Act of 1973, ns amended; the Vietnam Erz Veterans Readjostment Assistance Act of
1975; Civil Rights Act of 1964; Equnl Pey Act of 1963; Age Discriminslion in Employmem Acl of
1967; Immigration Reform and Controf Act-of 1986; snd Public Law 95-507; The American with
Dissbilities Act; and sy additional or asmendments thereto,

122 Licenses/Permits.  Panasonic and all subcontractors shall provide and be responsible
for sny standards and requirements for safely es required by law, payment of prevailing wages as
required by law, and standards for the construction and installation of Product on property owned by
the West Virginia University Board of Governors as provided by WVU. WVU Foundation and WVU
shall provide eooperation in order for Panasonic 40 abisin amy needed permits or licenses, required (0
perform the Work,

ARTICLE 13 MISCELLANEQUS,

13.1  Notices. Any notice, Tequest, consent, demand or other communication given or
required lo be given under this Agreement shall be effective only if in writing and shall be deemed 1o
have been given when sent by overnight courier delivery service (i.e. Federn! Express), or upon receipt
when sent by certified mail, relum receip! requested. addressed 1o the respective Party 8t the following
address: '

Panasonic: Panasonic System Solutions Company
Three Panasonic Way
Secaucus, NJ 07094
Atiention, President

with copy to: General Counsel
Panasonic Corporation of North America
One Panasanic Way, 3B-6
Secaucus, NJ 07094
Fax: 201-348-7619

WVU Faundation:
West Virginio University Foundation, Inc.
Aftention: R. Weyne King
One Waterfron( Place

Morgantown, WV 26506
132 Waiver/Amendment. None of the terms, provisions or conditions of this Agreement
-u_
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shall be deemed to have been waived. modified or shered by any act, course of conduct or knowledge
of either Party, its respective agents, servants or employess, and the terms, provisions and condilions of

this Agreement may not be changed, waived, veried or modificd except by a sialemenl in writing signed
by duly authorized representative(s) of both Parties.

133 Applicabie Law. The terms of this Agreement and the performance hereunder shall be
governed, construed and inlerpreted by and under the laws of the State of West Virginie, without regard
to conflict-of-laws rules.

134  Headipps. The headings used herein are for convenienca anly end shall not limif or be

deemed or consirued in any way 1o affect or limil the meaning of the langusge of the paragraphs herein
conuained.

13.5  Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in Iwo or more counterparts, each of
which shall be an original, and ell of which, taken together, shall constitute one and the same
Agresment.

13.6 Amn's_Length. The Partles acknowledge and agree that this Agreemen! has been
preparcd jointly by the Parties and have been the subject of arms' length and careful negotiation.
Accordingly. in the event of an smbiguity in or dispute regarding the interpretation of this Agreement,
this Agreernent shall not be strictly construed against any Pany,

13.7  Independent Contractors. WVU Foundation and Panasonic are independenl contractors
2nd nothing in this A greement shall be construed as cstablishing an employer-employee or other agency
relationship, partiership or joint venture between them,

13.8  Force Majewre. WVU Foundation and Panasonic shall each be excused from
performance of its obligations hereunder and shall not be deemed to be in default of this Agreement if
its performance is prevented by: (i) fire. earthquake, flood, act of Ged, riot or other oocurrence or
condition of & like nature beyond the reasonable control of such party; (ii) strike, lockout or other labor
dispute; or (iii) any law, ordinance, rule, regulation or order of any public or military authority
stemming from public emergencies or war,

139  Assipnment. Except s otherwise specifically provided herein, neither Party may
agsign or otherwise transfer obligations under this Agreement to eny third party withowt the other
Party's prior writlen consent, except thai Penesonic may assign (o affilialed companies without
consent. Any attempted transfer in violation of this Paragraph 13.9 shall be null and void and
have no effect.

13.10 Invalidity. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agresment
pursuant Lo applicable law shall not affect the vatidiyy or enforceability of the remaining provisions
hereof and this Agreement shall be construed as if not containing the provision held invalid or
unenforceable,

[3.11  Confidentiglity. " The Parties agree that all information exchaged pursuant to the
negotiation and implementation of this Agreement (“Confidential Information") are confidential. The
Parties will each use Lheir best efforts to keep Confidential Informstion confidential and will not use
Confidential Information lo any person or entity without the writien consent of the other Party, except
to the extent necessary to enforce their rights under this Agreement or es required by law,
Notwithstanding the foregoing. WVU Foundation may disclose Confidential Information to WVU.
Each Party will be liable for a breach of this Paragraph 13 11 by its respective officers, employees,
agents or representatives. The lerms of this Paragraph 13.11 shall survive for five (5) years afier

-~g=-
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execution of the Agreement,

13.12 Delivery Schedule and Proiect Schedule Plan. Panasonic shall provide lo WVU

Foundation. and WVU o dewiled Delivery Schedule and Project Schedule Plan (Schedule 4), which
will be subject to approvul by WVU in sdvance of any Work performed by Panasonic. Panasonic shall
also provide complete “As Built" drawings to WVU upon completion and scceptance of all work by
WVU Foundation,

13.13 Salvage WVU Foundation. on behall of WYL, reserves the right 1o retain all existing
assels 8s heve been identified prior Lo Panesonic commencement of the Work. Panasonic shall be
respansible for disposal of any non-salvageable assels, other than non-salvageable assels that conslitute
hazardous meterials, in pccordance with law,

13.14 On-Site Safety. Panasonic shall provide a qualified Safety Consultant or staff person to
monilor and insure that all OSHA and other Federal, State, and Locs! safety requirements are mei at all
times during the conduct of work as provided for herein, Such person shall be on-site at all times
during which work nnder this Agreement is being performed.

13.15 Lasling Covenants. Anything to the contrary in this Agreement notwithsianding, the
provisions of Articles 89 and 10 shall survive expiration or termination of this Agresment.

~10-

001233



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Agreement eifective as of the
day first above writien.

WV Foundetion, Inec., @ West Virginis nonprofit
corporytion

Dats _ March 20, 2008

PANASONIC SYSTEM SOLUTIONS COMPANY,
Unit of Panasonic Corporation
of North America, a Deloware corporation

By .
Tile Py mnd” PLA

Date _3-:2Y 03

-11-
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SCHEDULE 1~ A (Stadium System)

Stadium LED screen specificaiions

Main Video Replay System

Preliminary
SPECIFICATIONS AZ-LE225V
1,440 units
1]0_ TWEM DESCRIPTION
[5ciesn Bire T Tip ~1,e80penels

22. 5mm

X
NEm  « 080211 = Z007.78R2
720m £l 2692m = 186.62m7

hiing Gource
%m_“ﬂ'ﬁ

Ught Emitiing Diods

X 1,162 nes

4| Plzal Information

JEB.640 Plesls [ scresn
1,676 Plrels | m2
7,105,820 Total LED Lamps [ scresn

5,928 Towd LED Lamps f m2
ensing RELL
v Approx. 280 Trillion
Brightness Adjustment 36132764
pact Rallo 5 3240
wing Distance Appiox.Bm -  216m
Approx.JOf ~ 708N
swing Anple H +.700 deg
v +265den -0 dap
T1|Briphtess SOl0camz - TAdusied)
& Uma® Whnun
13 Requited Elecirical Copacity "Z0B.0KVA only 1o the Sareen

AC200 — 240V +L10%, 3-phase, I-wire+FG

14 Power Consumglion

T4.65kw only lor the acreen — (AVE]

nt

186.62hw oaly for the screen MAX)
[Avatage st APL 40)
oK. br tha scrben

Apprﬂ. 18,334.2kp only for The screan

18Alr Volume requirement]

Approx, 16 CFMWTE only tor the ocreen
Approx. 3.0 CUMIME only for ihe screen

Fmblen| condillons
Ambler tamparaiure

]

Amblent humidity

~10gep.C-+ W dep T
14 deg.F - » 104 dog.F
20 ~ 95 % without dew condensation

“LED iifx tme aclimaia

Specdicabons subject 1o change withoul nolice
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Ribbon Foscia Boards

Preliminary
SPECIFICATIONS AZ.LE120Z

729 units

DESCRIPTION

p
2781
1.46m

R [T —|

306.18R = 1,167.36Mm2
$33m = {07.60m2

Briphtneas Ligh! Eml Diode

166,624 Pixelo | 5eTeon
1,736 Pinels / m2
746,490 Totsl LED Lamps | acreen
§,944 Tolal LED Lamps | m2

5558 TTnen

16 bl

Appron, 280 Trilion

)

Approx.9m =
Approx.30m ~

%Em
1131

10 Viewing Angla “H | +FT00en
V| +36deg

- 40 geg

5,000ed/m2

{Ad)ustod)

Life ime” 100

11|Brightness E.500cmz TPeak Maximum)
14 fe

1§ Required Elecirical Capacity Aonly for Ihe acreen
AC200 - 240V +1-10%, 3-phase, I-wire+FG

elght prox. 12,
Approx. §,4B8Kkg only for the screen

14 Power Consumption Skw enly for the screen TAVE)
10Tkw only for the screen [HIAX)
(Averape at APL 40)

or screan

78 Ambien] conditions =10 0ep.C ~ + 4D Gep.C
Amblent emperature 14 deg.F -+ 104 dep.C
Ambilent humldity 20 ~ 98 % whhotn dew condenaation

* LED Ife time anlimaie

Spedficatons are subject 10 changs wilhout nolice
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SCHEDULE | - B (Collseum System)

Coliseum LED screen specifications

Main Video Replay

SPECIFICATIONS
12mm Video Display Systems
576 units
NO ITEM DESCRIPTION
I Size 23p x 28p Ta-lpnmla
12mm Physical 14830 »  1676H - 228.16f12
4.42m X 4.80m = 21.20m2

2} Lighting Source

()

Numbor Sempling Line

3 In 1 SMD High Brighiness Light Emiliing Diodes
360 x 400 lines

[ 4] Pixel Infarmation

-h

141.200 Plxela | scraen
6,044 Pixels | m2

rocenasing

156 Dit

Color

.
Approx. 545 Billion

T|Aspect Ratio

1t 1.09

Minimum Viewing Distsncs

Approx. 12 m
Approx, 40 #

L deg.

+/+ 115 dug,

1800 elima  [Adjusted)

1mm

ACZ00 - 240V 41-10%, 3-phnse, :—WFG

10 30kw only fof the screen
18.07kw only for the screen (MAKI

Approx. 1,095.91b_[for ecrean only - ne secondary niesl)

ent condilions
Ambleit temperature
Amblent humidity

rdnnc-vwmsul:
-4.degF ~ + 122 deg.F
20 ~ 96 % without dew condensation

“LED Iife ime satimste

Spocilicst bjert ta chenge withoul notice
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Upper LED Fascia Halo Screen

SPECIFICATIONS
12mm Video Display Systems

566 unilts
LG TEM TPTION
cwen Sire ip ¥ i8p = obtpansk
12mm Physical 2820 f ETBAR = 2206202
Jm 3 16.89m = 20.80m2
Lighting Source 318 1 5D High Brighineis Lght Emiming Disdes |
Numbe? Ssmpling Lin Phyaical) | &4 Y LA Ines
Plael Information 42336 Plxsls Iscraen
' 6,944 Plsmls | m2
Procexalng ﬂit
alar Approy, 5a8 Bilkon
Aspet! Ratio 1 : 3478
mum Whhnn Approx, 15 m
Appros. 80k
Viwwing Angls ] - 196 deg,
v 118 deg.
Tightness ~1.800 caimni (Adjusiod)
vime* 100,000hours
Rwquired Electrica) Capasiy ACZ0D ~ 280% +1-10°%, Tphass, 3w IFG
Powsr Corsumption T0.04kw only for the scresn _‘M_V_I!]
1.48kw only tor the screen (MAX)
slght Approx. 00115 [1of serman only « NG EAGONEary E1es])
Amblant condians ~30 0ep.C -~ 80 Oxp.C
Amblen temperaiure «d depl = v 122 degt
Amblem humidity 20 - 94 % whhour dew esndansation

“LED fife fime sxfimuie

Speciiicaons sulyac! 10 change withoul nolice
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Lower LED Fascia Halo Screen

SPECIFICATIONS
12mm Video Display Systems
436 units
[T:) TTEM oESCRIFTION ]
Sereen She (73 * 10ip = DEpanais
12mem Physical is=h - BRESN = 1730
Jim x 208Im > 18.07md
ohtng Source om _3n 1 SHID Plgh Brightiws Light Ening Dicdes
Number Sampling Lins {Phyateal) B4 ®  1.V44 linss
o1 Information 11,616 Piuais [ screen
G0 Plual | m?
18 B
Approx 649 Billlon
1 T 2188
Inimum Viewing Distanes Apprex. 12 m
Approx. 40 R
Angla H L HE dea
v +1- 118 deg.
1,000 pdim2 (Adjusted)
IC0,ue0hours
quited Elecinsal Copactty ACEDE — 4DV 41907, S-phass, SwiretFG
Pows: Canpumplion T for the »eneen (hﬁi
12.70hw only for the screen X
APPIOX. 2,274.01b {iaf Sctean only - ho secondary siat))
Amblent sondhlons “i0aeg.C - * B0 dep G
Amblent mmperaiure <4 duog.F =+ 122 deg.F
Amblers humidity 20 - 5% % withowt dew condensaiion
TLED lifw limw exilmas
Specth hjeci o ch howt nowce
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Upper Concourse Replay Boards

Preliminary
SPECIFICATIONS AZ-LE300Z
228 units
TTEM DESCRIFTION

12p X  Tp  ~iZBpansh
14570 x 2440 = 318.0812
4.38m 1 B84m = 28,66m2
{ Emitting Diode
X 8 lines
32,832 Pixels  soreon
1,111 Pixels / m2
131,328 Yotal LED Lamps | screon
4,444 Total LED Lamps / m2
18 51
Approx. 280 Trilion
16732164
Ui
Approx.72m - 130m
Approxd0 M ~ 428 m
+1-70.0 dep
t26deg  -4a0dep
5,000cdimz (Adjusied)

1}Screen Size

100,000hours
Wonh for the screon

AC200 - 240V +/-10%, 3-phase, S-win+FC
11,82k w enly for the acrean IA\FE|_
28 66k w only for the screen nx)
[Average st APL 40]

Approx. 8,.977.41b only lor tha acresn
Approx, 4,080.8kg only for the screen
Alr Volume requirement Approx, m, for the scresn

Apprax. 3.0 CMMIm2 only for the scroen
Amblent condilions -10 deg.C~+ 4D dag.C
Ambient tlempersture 14 deg.F ~ + 104 deg.F
Amblent humidiy 20 ~ 85 % withoul dew condensstion

"*LED life time estimate

Speciicalions subjert 1o change without notice,
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Lower Concourse Fascia Display System

SPECIFICATIONS
20mm Video Display Systems
200 units
WO TTEM ~ DEBCRIPTION
1|Screen Sixe P %X 100p - 200panals

Omm Physicsl ! 10mm virtusl

2,101t x 104,981 = 23044112
B4m K 32.00m «20.48m2

Lighting Seurce

2R, 1G, 1E High Brighinass Emitting Dlodas

Slmmw sampling Line

32 £ 1,600 fines

{Vidua

64 X 3,200 lines

Pixal infarmstion

51,200 Pixela [ screen

2,600 Plxals | m2

204,800 Yots! LED Lamps | screan
10,000 Total LED Lamgs / m2

15 bl

~“Approx. 548 Bililon
T 80.00

1

ing Distance

Approx. 20 m
Appron. &5 ft

+I- 65 deg.
40 dep.

TE0bcdimz  (Adjustad)

700,000noure

"ACEDU — 240V +7-10%, Sphase, SwierFG

10.04kw only for he scroan (AVE)

18,60k w enly lor the screon |MAX,
Approx. 2,494.01b [Er sCrean onF - no um-ry ntnEﬁ

Amblant lempersture

Amblant humidity

.20 deg.C ~ + 6D dep.C
<4 degF ~ + 122 deg.F

20 ~ 85 % whhout dew condensation

“LED fife Uime satmale

Specmcalions subjecl o change withou) nolice
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Scorers Tahle

(Sizes are approximate)

SPECIFICATIONS
12mm Video Display Systems

60 units
e EM DESCRIFTION
ip x 15 = G0panels
2.62n A BAGN =D 81N2
JTm X 28Bm ~22im2 =
31n 1 SMD High Brightneas Ligh Emitiing Dlodss
(1] X 240 ll_nn
16,360 Pixela / acreen
5_9« Plxals ilﬁ'
15 bit
APproK. 548 Billion
1 : 8.95
Approy. 12 m
Approx. 40
+/- 116 deg.
+1. 116 dog,
1.600 cdlmz _ (Adjuated)
1505ﬁml
~AC200— 240V +1-10%, 3-phass, S-WITe+EC
Power Commurmnplion “9.00Kw only o (he screan TAVG]
1.88kw only far the seresn (MAX)
elgnt Approx. 313.0Ib flor only - no dary sisel)
15 Ambleni conditions ~20 08p.C ~ + B0 dog.C
Amblent tempersture «4 OeQ.F ~ ¥ 122 dog.F
Amblent humidity 20 - 96 % withou! dew condensation

* LED lite ime satimafs

Specificnions subject io change wilhou! nolice
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Licenses/Permits, Panasonic and oll subconmactors shell provide and be responsible (or any and all
permits and licenses, standards and requirements for safety. payment of prevailing wages, and standards
for the construction and installation of Product on praperty owned by the West Virginia University Board
of Governors. WVU Foundation and WVU shall provide cooperation in order for Panasonic to obtain
any needed permits or licenses, required 10 perform the Work.

“WVU has Informed Panasonic that Building permiis are not required for work on the systems"”

- &m
Stadium Scope of Work

Panasonic sholl provide all labor, materisls, transportation, engineering, equipment, preliminary &nd
final shop drawings, as-built drawings. systems, sofiware. (raining, construction, insurance, bonding,
safety personnel, and installation of & scoreboard and other systems at the Milan Puskar Stadium,
including any changes or modifications thereto, al Panasonic’s ectuel cosl, payable by WVU Foundation,
- at o wial price of $5,000,000.00 (FIVE MILLION DOLLARS). All work shall be coordinated with
WY U or WVU Censultant prior to sny instzllation or other work being performed.

Panasonic and WVU will be required to attend weekly progress meetings at a mulvally determined
date and time.

Panasonic to submit a submitial schedule within 2 weeks after execution of this Agreement.

Panssonic shall perform the work as describsd below:

A) Engineer. procure and install required secondary steel mounting syslem 1o mount the new
LED and any other required modificstions for the instaliation of Panasonic systems to (within
existing super-soructure and a1 all fascia board loeatlons)

B) Instad} one (1) 22.5mm Tull-color LED main video replay system measuring approximately
24' H by BS' W (Masin scoreboard). A new LED ribbon board on the South End Scoring
Board as indicaled on Panasonic submitted drawings or rear it panels as an shernative.

Q) Insta}l one (1) monochrome LED scoring display to replace the existing Scoring arez, wilh
advertising panels 10 match the existing South auxiltary Scoreboard, meesuring @ total
distance of approximately 4°6™ H by 74' W,

D) Instell two (2) 2amm, full-color LED ribbon {ascia boards each measuring approximalely 45"
H by 306" W (Sideline fascia). This is contingent upon WVU Consuliant agreeing that 45" is

imal.

B Install and configure the in-game scoring and LED system contsollers. This system will
sccept sl stalisticel and SporisTicker™ [eeds and shall be interfaced 10 the Panasonic main
replay screen, the sideline ribbon fascia seveens. and the south end zone scoring display
system to allow for the display of in-game progress information, and musi provide a sofrware
interface for any existing or future statistical systems or programs required or in use by
WVU. Integrale new video displays and display controllers with existing scoring system.

F) install secondary electrical distribution of primary power within all screen locations (primary
power braught 10 screen location by others)

a Assess stadium’s current audio system, and provide any and all reconfiguration, structural
changes, and/or modifications as may be required, 1o maintain the sysiems performance lo
original design levels, subject Lo approval in advance and in writing by WVU

H) Depending upon the post structural review proeess, Panasonic and WVU may consider the
installation of scrim panels s o future date on the rear of the south end zone scoreboard es
proposed in Panasonics original drawings.

)] Two large sdvertising panels on South End Zane Scoreborrd must be rear lit panels.

N Paint front and rear metal parts per paint color designated by WVU.
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~ : The following are the mejor funclional components Included in the system
} + LED displey modules
Video Screen Control Units and Operation Panels
Enclosures with fen venlilation systems
Secondary electrical distribution within enclosures
2 % Spare LED modules
One (1) set of spare processor equipment
Signal and data cables 10/from the screen Jocations to one video control source location (control
room or Iruck dock) NOTE: Depending on field conditions, existing cables may be re-used.
On-site service {raining and final sysiem lesting
s Technical manuals and documentation (in English)
s Delivery of ell equipment and material

|

!
|
!

The following are the major facility tasks by Panasonic associated with this work:

s Removal and disposal of the exisling scoreboard components

®  Adjustment of Structural sttachments and Secondary Steel for new elements to match the load
and wind rating capacily of the existing structure. Siructural engineering lo be stamped by an
engineer having proper licenses for the local jurisdiction,

+  Structural and/or electrical modifications required to adjust the stadium sudio sound system

= Pulling and terminetion of all deta and contral cables 1o all screen location through existing
conduit.

»  Structural approvals.

o Panasonic fo provide full time on-site saflety personnel during ell times work is being done by
Panaspnic or any subcontraciors.

« Updating or refurbishment of existing stalic advertising casing end structure. and coordination of
this work with existing WV,

= On-site szcurity and traffic control need during installation and to reasonably prevent

O unauthorized pedestrien traffic from Panasonic work areas.

» Mechanical reconnection and adjustment of Security Cameras that may be relocaied as a part of

this work.

The following Is expressly ex

Delivery of primary electrical power to within 10 feet of each sign location
Control room, cameras and/or playback equipmenl of any kind

Any work required to increase elecirical capacity.

Any new signal conduit between existing Scorcboard and contro] equipment
Architectural Review end structural engineer peer review and approval for WVU.

s Cost due to delays in review and approval of submitted design document by WVU. ( 7 Day
maximum roview and spproval cycie necded to mest schedule requirements.) Panasonic ta

submit & submiltal schedule within 2 weeks of the execution of (he contract.

»  Local Receiving, Stoging, and Storage ares for equipment shipped to WVU. Not available until
after April 20, 2008.

- Sound Equipment Amplifiers. processing. speakers, Microphones. mixers and source signal
equipmenl as designed by WIHW. Uniess changes are needed due to the installation of
Panasonic System.

« Construction Dumpster services for crating and shipping materials, excluding disposal of major
equipment.

= Building and construction permits.

« Electrical/ Electronic connections of Securily Cameras and final testing and adjustment.

O 001241



Penasonic shall provide all labor, materials, trensporiation, engineering, equipm

SCHEDULE 2 -~ B (Colisesr System)

Coliseum Scope of Work

ent,

preliminary and final

shop drawings, as-built drawings, systems, safrware, training, construction, insurance, bonding, safety

personnel, and installation of

a scoreboard and other systems a1 the WVU Coliseum, es noted below,

Panasonic shall fabricate. crect snd elevtrically connect (he following major elements:

Center-Hung Scoreboard:

A)
B)
Q
D)
E)
F‘}

G)

H)
1)
)

K)
L)
M)

New scoreboard struciure complete with video mounting frsmes

One (1) upper 12mm, color LED fascia halo ring measuring approximately 2.5'H by
approxismately 100" in circumference. Must be in compliance with WVU Consullant

Scoreboard Geomelry.

One (1) lower 12mm, LED fascia halo ring measuring approximately 2.5'H by approximately
78 in eircumference. Must be in compliance with WVU Consultant Scoreboard Geomnetry.

Four (4) illuminated corner branding elemients

Provide and install four (4) 15' H by 16' W 12mm video replay screens. These panels may be
sepmented into mulliple Video and Scoring vi riual panels. Must be in compliance with WVU

Consultan Scorcboasd Geometry.

Provide and install 8 new Click-Effects scoring and fascie controller system. This system
wil) accept sl) statistical end SportaTicker™ feeds and interface to the four (4) Panasanic

screens which will display the Game in Progress information.

Provide the secondary electrical distribution within the Panasonic screen locations (primary

power lo each location provided by olhers).
Theming/Branding elements with 8-sided oclagon siatic signage

Speaker scrim with silk screen sponsor logo and back-light illumination
(4) Scorer's tables with-3' H by 10’ W (sizes are approximale and will be adjusted based on
actual table size) fdl-color 12mm LED systems, portable, for scarers tables Tables musl

Include all connections as originally denated in the RFP documents.
Discreet digit gaine clocks, shot elocks, and all scoring controllers,
Sound systems to meet facility requirements (design pending).

Remove and replace the existng Hoist System and provide any/all structural modifications as

may be required to safely install and maintain the Coliseum System.

Upper and lower Concourses;

0)

m

Q)

system will accept all statistical and SportsT
which will display the Game in Progress information, and other
provide a software interface for any existing or Mulure swtistical syste

WwVU.

Pravide and install two (2) 14' Hx 22 ' W 30mm LED video replay boards in two upper COrners.
These will be full color video boards from Panasonic and arc not available for delivery within this
project schedule. (Likely installation prior to 2009 seasan). Installation of these boards must be
cootdinated with WVU and provide &ll integration required for Panasonic Systems.

Provide and install two (2) LED video fascia displey syslems with 8 maximum pitch of 20mm.
The WVU RFP requirements show size as approxiamately 100 L by 2" H These dimensions o
be verified, and (he actual length will be determined afier final approval of the Center Scoring

system . One of these fascia systems will have a removable panel in front
Both displays must have auxifiary scoring capabilities.

of the service doors.

Provide and install n new Click-Effects fascia controller system and » new scoring system. This

icker™ feeds and interface to the four (4) Panasonic screens
displays provided by Panasonic and must
ms or programs required or in use by
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The major components pravided under this scope are:
LED display modules with mounting systems
Video Screen Control Units and Operation Panels
Secondary clectrical distribution within enclosures and on the center Scorchoard structure.
2% Speare LED modules
One( 1) sel of spare processor equipment
On-site service training and final system lesting
Signal and data cables to/from the screen locations 1o the video control source (installed in
racewnys by WVU). NOTE: Depending on field conditions, existing cables may be re-used.
Technical manuals and documentatian (in English)
Delivery of lhe equipment lo the job site
Removal and disposal ol the existing scoreboard components
Construction of structural connections and systems as designed and detailed by WVU Architect
and Structural engineers.
« Fabrication and installation of a Center Scoreboard system meeting the operationsl, functional,
and visual layout of the WVLI RFP,
s Any work required lo increase electrical capacity
«  Hoist and all refated work adequate to Iift the new Scoreborrd and provide sufficient future liftling
E capacity as defined and approved by WVU
: o Al structural approvals for the scoreboard mounting frame and fabrication methods.
' «  Onesite sccurity and traffic control need during instaliation end to reasonably prevent
unauthorized pedestrian traffic from Panasonic work arens.
«  Mechenical reconnection and sdjustment of Security Cameras that may be relocated as a part of

@ & = & & & @

this work.
«  On-Site full-time safety personnel at all times work is being performed by Panasonic or any
subcontractor of Panasonic.

+ Panasonic lo provide equipment and integration as described in the RFP 10 interface with TV
Productions at One Waterfront Place and click-effects in the Coliseum.

O

The following is expressly excluded and / or provided by WVU, subject to Adlicle 2 of the Agresment::

«  Delivery of primary electrical power to within 10 fee! of sach sign 1oeation.
«  Design and spproval of any addilional elecirical branch circuits deemed necessary for the

Panasonic work.
+ Low voltage Signal Conduit and Conductors s defined in the WYVU RFP after confirmation of

design by Panasonic.

»+ Complete inventory and data on exisling WVU scoring interfaces, software, and system lo sysiem
connections needed 10 integrate new Panasonic controllers to legacy systems.

«  Conlrol room, cameras and/or playback equipment of any kind.

+  Architeciural Structural approvals of atiachments and overall weight loods ss defined in the WVU
RFP.

«  Architectural Review and engineering peer review snd approval for WVU.

o Cost due lo delays in review and approval of submitned design document by WVU. (7 Day
maximum review and approval cycle requested to meel schedule requirements.)

« Local Receiving, Siaging, and Siorage erca for cquipment shipped to WVU.

«  Updating or refurbishment of existing static adverlising pansls, and coardination of this work
with existing WVU clients.

« Coordination of new static adventising artwork from WVU clients.

« Construction details and weight loading limitaiions on the Coliseurn Floor.

« Al RFP work relating o Lighting systems thet may be required on the Center scoreboard,

«  Construction Dumpsier scrvices fos crating and shipping materials, excluding disposal of major
equipment.

e Bullding nnd construction permits.

O | 00124%
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SCHEDULE 3 - Payment Schedule

For Stadium Sysiem Total Price: $5,000,000.00

Phase 1: $2,250,000.00

Delivery of fascia display panels 2 each 45" x 306" Displays (total 1470 panels with
spares);

Phase 2: $1,900,000.00

Delivery of Primary Video Board: | each 24" x 85" Video Display (lotal 1469 pancls
with spares):

Phuse 3: ' 5 350,000.00

Decominission existing video board, installation of all Phase | and Phase 2 Products and
testing and commission of the system (substantial completion)

Phase 4: § 500,000.00
Final Acceptance (10% retainage)

001247



L

SCHEDULE 4 - Project Schedufe Plan

Coliseum

Demolition Earliest Start April 13" — April 13, 2008 — May 5, 2008
May 19, 2008 ~ May 25, 2008

No work between May 25, 2008 — June 15, 2008 except June | -4 and
June 8 and June 12

Installation Earliest Start June 19 July 3, 2008 — July 26, 2008
Substantial Completion August 5
August 6-15" is test and adjustment.

Hardwood Floor Refinishing work 1o be scheduled and coordinated
after contract accepiance,

Stadinm

O .

Demolition Earliest Start April 20
Installation Earliest Start June 30
Substantial Completion August 8

Any crane erection work must be completed before summer football
practice August |

Test and Adjust period August 9-15th

Any work over Puskar Center Building must be coordinated with
wvu
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SCHEDULES
INSURANCE/BONDING REQUIREMENTS

Panasonic shall provide the following bonds and Mnits for the scope of services as defined under

Coliseum System:

Performance Bond: 100% value of all labor, material, supplies, and services which are to be
formed by Panasonic.

Labor & Material Payment Bond: 100% value of all labor, material, supplies, and services which
are 10 be formed by Panasonic.

Stadiwm Systen;

Performance Bond: 100% contract value of all labor, material, supplies, and services which are
to be formed by Panasonic,

Labor & Material Payment Bond: 100% contract value of all labor, material. supplies, and
services whith are to be formed by Ponasonic.

Insurance Provisions

Insurance shall be obuained from a repuiable and financially responsible, insurance carrier, with
on AM Best rating of no less than (A). West Virginia University and WVU Foundation shall be
named as additional Insureds under the policy and certificaie holders. Panasonic shall furnish 10
WVU Foundation and West Virginia University cerificates of insurance evidencing the
following insurance coversge and specifying the names of the insurers and the respective policy
aumbers and expiration daies. All such insurance policies shall provide for, unless applicable
sistute otherwise specifies, a1 least thinty (30) days prior writien notice of the effective date of
cancellation to WVL) Foundation and West Virginia University. The addifional insureds shall
read:

West Virginla University

¢/o Purchasing, Contracts and Paymens Services
PO Box 6024

Morgantown, WV 26506

West Virginla Unijversity Foundation, Inc.

One Waterfront Place
Morgeniown, WV 26506

Workers® Compensation

panasonic shall confirm that all employees are covered by valid workers' compensution insurance
in compliance with the sistutory requirements of the State of West Virginia.
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Employers 1.lability

Panasonic shall provide employers liability coverage in the following minimum amounts:

Each Accident £100,000
Disesse-Policy Limit £500,000
Disease - Each Employee 5100000

Commercial General Liability Insurance

panasonic shall provide, including but not limited to, the following coverage, with combined
single limits of not less than the following emounts. Liability coverage shall also include
contractual Tiability.

General Aggrepgnte £2,000,000
Products And Completed Operations Aggrepate $1,000,000
Personal And Advertising Injury Lisbility $1,000,000
Each Occuirence 51,000,000
Fire Damage (Any One Fire) $300,000
Medical Expense (Any One Person) £5,000

Subconiracled Wark (IT Applicable)
If' any pan of the wark is subcontracied, Panasonic subcontraciors shall purchase owners and

contraclors protective linbility insurance for the benelit of the contractor, the WVU Foundation,
and WVU. in lhe following amounts of not less than:

Genernl Aggregste 52,000,000
Each Oceurrence 51,000,000

Commercial Auto Liability Insurance

Panasonic shall provide, including but not limited to, the following coverage, including owned,
hired, and non-owned suo linbillty coverage with limits of no less than:

Combined Single Limits, Bodily Injury And Property

Damege Lishility 51,000,000
Medical Payments $5,000
Excess Liability

Panasonic shall pravide, including but not limited to, the following coverage. to provide af least
following form excess liability or umbrella liabllity coverage over all underlying liability
covernge provided. including commercinl general linbility, commercial automobile liability, end
employers liebility coverage. Limits may not be less than:

Each Occurrence, Combined Single Limit, Bodily

Injury And Propeny Damage Lisbility $1.000.000
Aggregate Limil £1,000,000
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Administration and Finange

February 13, 2008

R. Wayne King, President
West Virginia University Foundation, Inc.

Dear Wayne,

West Virginia University hereby requests that the West Virginia University
Foundation Board of Directors, at ite February 16, 2008 meeting, approve the agroement
with Panasonic Broadeast & Television Systems Company for the purchase and
installation of new scoreboard Systemos for Milan Puskar Stadium and the WVU
Coliseum. The asset acquisition and inswllation costs are not to exceed five miflion
dollars. The agresment inchudes in-kind donstion of equipmen (includes installation
valued at five million dollars).

The new scorshoard systems will enhance WVU’s Deparmment of Intercollegiate

, Athletics ability o increase advertising revenues, which are needed 1o suppart ongoing

O operating costs of the department, Thelddiﬂmalldwﬂsingmmumimpnmm
maintaining the Athletics Department's competitivencss and financial position long term.

West Virginia University commits jts suppart of the Foundation’s efforts to seek the

nscessary revenues 1o yeimburse the Foundation for the purchase of these assets. 1t is
anticipated that the acquisition will be finsnced in & manner thar allows for annual

Very truly yours,

echded

Narve] G, Weese, Jr.

Vice President
Administration and Finence
00126,
Office of Vice Presidant
“Reresse l 1 ey
"*W""“," e I'I| Wv 265086205 EOUS) Dppartanliyamimatios Amon Instintion
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From: Narvel Weese

To: Sharp, Russ

Date: 4/30/2008 521 PM
Subject: Re: Panasonic Gift
yes

Narvel

>>> Russ Sharp 4/30/2008 5:02 PM >>>
Narvel-

| have shared your e-mail with Ed and he would like confirmation from you that we followed proper
procurement practices regarding these boards. This project began with a free board and has turned info a
$5,000,000 plus expense. Ed is siill concemned that others did not have the same opportunities that

Panasonic did.

Russ Sharp

Associate Athletic Directar

West Virginia University

P.O. Box 0877

Morgantown, WV 28507

Office (304) 283-2101 ext. 5513

Cell (304) 276-1021
.sharmp@mail.wvu

>>> Narvel Weese 4/30/2008 1:20 PM >>>

Russ,

The letter dated January 24, 2008 from me and Wayne to Baisley clearly states how the transaction Is
structured. The letter also states that WVU is willing to accept the gift. In addition, Itis important to note
that no state funds are involved in the transaction. All funds used to support this transaction will be
generated though private fund raising and held on deposit with the W\/U Foundation.

Narvel

>>> Russ Sharp 4/29/2008 4:18 PM >>>
Narvel-

Are you confident that we are not going to get any "fack® or "push-back” from anyone because this
project was not done through a competitive process? We certainly understand that this is a gift to the
Foundation but athietics funds are going to be used to ultimately pay the $4,250,000 not covered by the
Stiatler gift and the boards are going to be placed on state property.

Russ Sharp

Associate Athletic Director
West Virginia University

P.O. Box 0877

Morgantown, WV 26507

Office (304) 293-2101 ext. 5513
Cell (304) 276-1021

russ.sharp@maii.wvu.edu
000319
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Q >>> Narvel Weese 4/28/2008 B:17 AM >>>

{ Ed and Russ,
Attached is a letter that was sent to Baisley, which the describe the gifts.

Thanks
Narvel

000320
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West Virginia University
Intercollegiate Athletics

PO Box 0877

Morgantlown WV 26507-0877

MEMORANDUM

TO: Narvel Weese
Vice President/Finance & Administration

FROM : Ed Pastilong 42342::)
Director of Athletics

DATE ; May 9, 2008
SUBJECT: Scoreboards

My concern that WVU is not following proper purchasing
practices regarding the scoreboards continues as Russ
shares a recent e-mail from Panasonic complaining about
the manner in which their name will be displayed on the
boards. This project has gone from one free board to
buying two boards for $5,000.000 and now providing
Panasonic the best advertising spot on the boards for
free. I realize you, President Garrison, and Craig Walker
have told me that we are within the law as the WVU
Foundation is contracted for payment of the boards.
However, Panasonic’s name will be on state property,

at the two most visible locations on campus, for free.

EP:cjm

cc: Mike Garrison, President

Craig Walker, Chief of Staff
vﬂike Parsons, Deputy Athletics Director

Russ Sharp, Associate AD/Finance & Administration
Lyn Dotson, Vice President of Development

001508
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WEST VIRGINIA UNIVERSITY BOARD OF GOVERNORS

June 2008
ITEM: WVU Coliseum Lighting and Scoreboard Project; and
Milan Puskar Stadium Scoreboard Project
INSTITUTION: West Virginia University
COMMITTEE: Full Board — Consent Agenda

RECOMMENDATION: Resolved: That the West Virginia University Board of
Govermors approves the Coliseum Lighting and Scoreboard
Project; and the Milan Puskar Stadium Scoreboards

STAFF MEMBER: Narvel G. Weese, Jr.
Vice President for Administration and Finance

BACKGROUND: The Coliseum scoreboard and lighting system will be replaced with
more reliable, state-of-the-art products. The new systems will provide video replays and
entertainment during home basketball games and special events. Panasonic is providing
the new scoreboard, sound and other video boards. WVU will supply electrical
infrastructure for new scoreboard in conjunction with lighting installation project.

The existing Scoreboards ar Milan Puskar Stadium will be replaced with state of the art
Panasonic Scoreboards, Ribbon-boards and sound systems. The project includes
electrical upgrades and structural upgrades to accommodate the new equipment.

Schedule:
September 2008 Completion

Financial Information:
Project Budget (Coliseum): $1,600,000
Project Budget (Stadium): ~ $425.000

0013
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(12/18/2009) David Kosslow - Scoreboard

-

;N

N oo

From: David Kosslow

To: Russ Sharp

cc: Dan Durbin; David Kosslow
Date: 12/18/20009 3:16 PM
Subject: Scoreboard

Attachments: 4.4M AMORT FOR DK proposed.xlsx

Russ,

Attached is the scoreboard amortization schedule (see proposed tab). Note that the area on the left of
the spreadsheet detalls the payment stream to the WVU-F through July 2013. The area on the top right
detalls the WVU subsidy through 2013 based on amoriizing the $4.4M over 8 years for Athletics. The
bottom right details the payment schedule for Athletics for the 8 year period which includes the WVU
subsidy over the 1st 4 years with the second 4 years detalls the repayment of the subsidy without

interest.

To summarize:

Starting in Jan 2010 -
1. WWVU Athietics will make 2 semi annual payments to the wwvu

$285,465 to each payment (the subsidy).
2. As such, annual payments to WWU-F will be $660,795 and the annual subsidy will be $570,830 sach

year until July 2013. Note that EY10 and FY14 will only have one payment.
3. As such, the FY10 surcharge payment to WVU should be reduced by $285,485. The annual wvu

surcharge payments for FY11-13 should be reduced by $570,930 and FY14 should be reduced by

$285,466.
4. Then starting in January 2014 WVU Athletics will begin to repay the subsidy by paying WVU $285,465

semi-annually in January & July ending July, 2017.

-F of $325,396 and WVU will add

I've ce'd Dan Durbin so that he can ensure the surcharge amount is reduced so that you will have the
available funds to make payments to the WVU-F. Let me know if you need any assistance on the semi-

annual transaction processing.

Let me know if you have any questions,

Thanks,
David

David R. Kosslow, CPA
Director - Treasury Operations

West Virginia University
1 Waterfront Place - Room 3207

P.O. Box 6208
Morgantown, WV 26506

Phone: 304-203-0463
Cell: 724-322-5388
Fax:  304-283-7796

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE:
This e-mail and any attachments are confidential and may be protected by

lega! privilege. If you are not the intended recipient, be aware that
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WEST VIRGINIA UNIVERSITY
INTERNAL LOAN PROGRAM AGREEMENT

Department/EBO Requesting Loan: | Athletic Department

Purpose of Loan:

Central will transfer to the Athletic Department $285,465.54 semi-annually for four years for a total of
$2,283,724.32. The Athletic Department will use this money to subsidize payment on scoreboard loan
with WVU Foundation. After four years, the Athletic Department will repay central in the amount of

$285,465.54 semi-annually for four years.

Loan Amount: | 2283724.32 Interest Rate; | 0% Term: | 8 years
Payment Amount: | 285465.54 Payment Schedule: | Semi-Annually

Loan Effective Date:| 1/21/2010 Tentative Date of First Payment: | 1/21/2014

Describe Source of Funding:

FUND where expense will be incurred: 11800916 Cash i3 rangfeired 10 fund where expenses ocour.

11800916

FUND to be charged for loan payment:

Other Conditions of Loan:
® See attached loan amortization schedule.
Expense fund and loan fund above must map to the same FIMS fund.

-
© Loan payments will automatically be processed by WVU Treasury Operarxon.r
e Prepayment of this loan can only be made with prior approval by WVU Treasury Operations.
APPROVALS:
Department/EBO: | 7 /‘  h e~ - =0 |
Sigpgnire Date
Department/VP: _ﬁm 4/15/10 !
Signature "Date '
Asst VP Planning & Treasury Operations: f;‘fza.btﬁ’ ~ fa_.. Aces (hs ::r/m [ro ]
wlﬁ-ﬂ‘ €

Original — Treasury Operations, Copy - Borrower
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rage 1 014
Cathy Barber - RE: Fwd: Memo requesting transfer

7N
\ _am: Pat Robertson <PRobertson@wvuf.org>
T David Kosslow <david kosslow@mail. wvu.edu>
Date: 6/18/2010 8:17 AM
Subject: RE: Fwd: Memo requesting transfer
cc: Jeff Dunn <JDunn@wvuf.org>

David,

To date, the following amounts have been transferred into the Scoreboards Funci:

4/23/2009 $600,000 Restricted donation from Ben and Jo Statler (part of $750,000 gift)
1/25/2010 $150,000 Remainder of donation from Ben and Jo Statler
1/25/2010 $460,862 First transfer of donated funds to recluce advance from Scoreboards Fund

The $750,000 pledge from Ben and Jo Statler was restricted to the Scoreboards, however, the agreement indicated it
would be deposited into the 2V137 the Coliseum Renovation fund. There was significantly delay in moving the cash
in to ¢he Scoreboards fund, but I amn confident that the full amount (as noted above) has been transferred into that

C

I had actually requested that the $610,862 be transferred in addition to the $150,000 to resolve the Statler issue.

We are expecting to pay the final $500,000 to Panasonic in the next 30 days. Which will increase the deficit balance in
the cash fund. Sometime after that payment is made, the Foundation will transfer the hard assets to the University at

which point the fund will have both a deficit cash balance and negative net asset balance, (Ouch —for us.)

1 am OK with the transfer that was made in January. Should we expect another transfer in July?

I am in the office today until noon, but in a couple of meetings (I LOVE health insurance). If we need to talk, please

email or call and we can find a way to get together.

Thanks for following up. We appreciate your involvement.

Pat

Patricia Robgmo;o '
/"~ ‘inance & C . :
st Virginia University Foundation, Inc. 001215

PO Box 1650
Morgantown,WV 26507-1650

file://C:\Documents and Settings\cabarber\Local Settings\Temp\XPgmudse\d.CIBZZQGWVUDomZWVU... 6/18/2010



Office: 304-284-4030
Fax: 304-296-5948
r,C-Rll: 304-376-2982 .

\

i

From: David Kosslow [mam:o:D;vid.xbséio\;érl‘wé!l.;ﬁvﬁ;edu] o

sent: Wednesday, June 16, 2010 8:42 AM

To: Pat Robertson

Subject: Re: Fwd: Memo requesting transfer

Pat,

A= = == =

Can you please review the Foundation fund associated with the scoreboard and confirm that you have received the payment per
the emails (below or attached) from January? Let me know soO that if you have not, we can get the payment to you by the end

of the fiscal year ~ June 30.
Thx,
David

David R. Kosslow, CPA
Director - Treasury Operations

/

West Virginia University
1 Waterfront Place - Room 3207

P.0. Box 6209
Morgantown, WV 26506

Phone: 304-293-0463

Cell: 724-322-5389
Fax:  304-293-7796

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE:

This e-mail and any attachments are confidential and may be protected by
legal privilege. If you are not the Intended reciplent, be aware that

any disclosure, copying, distribution, or use of this e-mall or any
attachment is prohibited. If you have received this e-mail In error,

please notify me Immediately by returning It to me and delete this copy

from your system. Thank you.

This emall contains confide

error has misdirected this email, plesse delete this maessage an

ntial and proprietary information. It is for the intended recipient only. If an a
d notify the sender immediately. If you are n

re~wnient, you may not use, disclose, distribute, copy, or print this email.

N\

N/

files//C:\Documents and Setting

s\cabarber\Local Setﬁngs\Temp\XPgrpwiseMC1B3296WVUD

ddressing or transmission
ot the Intended
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Protest Filed By:

WEST VIRGINIA RADIO CORPORATION
1251 EARL L. CORE ROAD
MORGANTOWN, WV, 26505

Re: PROPOSAL NUMBER 90002782X-WEST VIRGINIA UNIVERSITY
THIRD TIER ATHLETIC SPONSORSHIP AND MEDIA RIGHTS

WEST VIRGINIA RADIO CORPORATION’S PROTEST OF THE PROCESS AND
REBIDDING OF PROPOSAL NUMBER 20002782X-WEST VIRGINIA UNIVERSITY
THIRD TIER ATHLETIC SPONSORSHIP AND MEDIA RIGHTS

NOW COMES WEST VIRGINIA RADIO CORPORATION, (hereafter “WV
Radio”), by and through its counsel, Frank E. Simmerman, Jr. of the Simmerman Law
Office, PLLC, and hereby protests as follows:

THE RELEVANT ACTORS

WYV Radio is a for-profit West Virginia corporation originally formed in 1940,
with its principal place of business located in Monongalia County, West Virginia.

IMG College (hereafter “IMG”) is a Delaware limited liability company, with
its principal place of business located in Winston Salem, North Carolina.

West Virginia Media Holdings, LLC, a.k.a. West Virginia Media Interactive,
LLC (hereafter “WV Media”) is a limited liability company, with its principal place of
business located in Charleston, West Virginia.

IMG and WV Media acted as partners/joint venturers in submitting a response
to Request For Proposal 90002782X~West Virginia University Third Tier Athletic
Sponsorship and Media Rights.

The West Virginia University Procurement Office (hereafter “the WVU

Smmerman Law Office, PLLC
254 E. Maim Sz,
Clarkebueg, WV 26301.2170




Procurement Office”) is a branch of West Virginia University (hereafter “WVU"), vested
with authority to purchase and acquire all materials, supplies, equipment, services,
printing, leases and lease purchases and receiving as may be required by WVU.

The West Virginia Board of Governors (hereafter “WVU BOG”) is the
governing body for West Virginia University. The WVU BOG is charged with control,
supervision, and management of the ﬂnancial, business, and education policies and
affairs of West Virginia University.

| Oliver A. Luck (hereafter “AD Luck”) is the current Athletic Director of WVU.
Director Luck was appointed to his position June 10, 2010, by James P. Clements, the
President of WVU |

AD Luck has no authority to establish or broaden procurement guidelines or
procedures, as such power is solely vested in the Chief Procurement Officer. See below.

Andrew A. (Drew) Payne (hereafter “Chairman Payne”) is the current
Chairman of the WVU Bog.

To the best of Protestor’s belief, Chairman Payne is or has been a board
member, shareholder, and note holder in WV Media.

The most recent FCC ownership report filed by WV Media, deemed valid as of
October 1, 2011, indicates that Chairman Payne and the Payne-Gallatin Co., a company
wherein it is believed Chairman Payne has a financial interest, were associated with
numerous term loans and promissory notes of WV Media, dated from 2008 forward.

Additionally, Chairman Payne’s most recent West Virginia Ethics Commission

filing reveals that Chairman Payne is a noteholder, stockholder, and board member in




WV Media.

Chairman Payne has an interest in the financial success of WV Media.

David B. Alvarez (hereafter “Mr. Alvarez”) is a current member of the WVU

To the best of Protestor’s belief, Mr. Alvarez is a stockholder of WV Media, and
thus has a personal interest in the financial success of WV Media.

Brenda S. Mowen (hereafter “Ms. Mowen”) is the current Chief Procurement
Officer at WVU. Ms. Mowen is charged with ensuring that the Office complies with
state law, and the rules, policies, and procedures of the Governing Board as they apply
to purchasing, leases, and lease purchases. Further, Ms. Mowen is vested with
authority by the WVU BOG to “establish and maintain professional procurement
procedures within the institution.” WVU Procurement Rule 2.2.1 (c).

Patrick Morrisey (hereafter “AG Morrisey”) is the current Attorney General of
the State of West Virginia.

THE RELEVANT FACTUAL BACKGROUND

In May of 2012, WVU publicly announced that it would “bid out” its third tier
media rights.

The terms “third tier media rights” generally refer to various broadcasting,
marketing, and advertising opportunities held by West Virginia University, including
limited television rights, the radio rights for football and men’s basketball games, as
well as corresponding electronic coverage, signage, sponsorships, game-day magazine

print rights and seatback sales.

Simmerman Lew Office, PLLTG
254 E. Main &
Clarksbusg, WV 26001-2170




To the best of Protestor’s belief, as reportedly stated by Ctmrma.n Payne, AD
Luck led the charge to “bid out” WVU's third tier media rights.

Historically, WVU has managed its third tier media rights in-house under the
trade name Mountaineer Sports Network (hereafter “MSN"). MSN is not a separate and
distinct entity from WVU, it is merely a WV'U account created to handle media rights
and related activities.

WYV Radio has been associated with WVU since 1940 and WV Radio Stations, or
affiliated stations, have broadcast or been associated with broadcasting Mountaineer
Athletics for all but two (2) of the last seventy-three (73) seasons.

June 8, 2012, WVU published a Request for Proposal (hereafter “RFP”) seeking
vendors to manage/service WVU’s third tier media rights.

To the best of Protestor’s belief, on October 2, 2012, six (6) final bids were
submitted in respect to Request for Proposal Number 90002782X, commonly known as
the WVU Third Athletic Sponsorship and Media Rights Proposal (hereafter “Proposal
90002782X").

Also on this date, voting evaluation members AD Luck, Mike Parsons, and
Mike Szul were asked to signa Confidentiality & Conflicts of Interest
Acknowledgement Form. Voting evaluation members Parsons and Szul executed the
form; to the best of Protestor’s belief AD Luck did not execute the form.

October 15, 2013, AD Luck nominated three (3) additional voting members to
the evaluation committee: (1) Graham Peace; (2) Robert Griffith; and (3) Steve Kite,
dramatically altering the composition of voting members.

Seremesesan Law Office, VLL

254 E. Muwin 5t
Clarksburg, WV 24%01.2170




After the voting evaluation committee was expanded by AD Luck, the newly
comprised committee abandoned formal evaluation and “scoring” of the competing
proposals.

December 3, 2013, voting evaluation members were asked to confirm IMG as
the finalist via email with only four of the six members voting, Mike Szul and Mike
Parsons not-voting.

December 4, 2013, Tim Bostonia, a Procurement Office employee/ officer, sent a
letter to IMG inviting IMG to contract negotiations on December 11, 2013.

January 20, 2013, WVU signed a non-binding letter of intent to enter into a
contract with IMG College regarding Proposal 90002782X.

Post-execution of the letter of intent, Chairman Payne divulged confidential
information pertaining to the IMG College bid / agreement to multiple state-wide media
outlets. Further, throughout the bid process AD Luck divulged confidential information
to Chairman Payne pertaining to Proposal 90002782X.

Chairman Payne disclosed that the IMG College proposal “would net the
University five million [dollars] ($5,000,000.00) more” than WVU’s current contract
arrangement through MSN.

WVU Officials, addressing Chairman Payne’s comments, stated that the WVU
BOG was confidentially informed of the financial parameters of the IMG bid, but that
the WVU BOG played no part in selecting IMG as the most qualified offeror.

Subsequent to Chairman Payne’s public comments, WV Radio challenged the

integrity and fundamental fairness of the bid process through a series of letters directed




to WVU and WVU Officials.

February 19, 2013, WVU announced it was conducting an internal investigation
into the multimedia rights bid process. On or about February 20, 2013, WVU
announced it was suspending the procurement process until the internal investigation
conciuded.

March 5, 2013, AG Morrisey pledged his office to assist WVU with its internal
review of the multimedia rights bid process.

AG Morrisey performed his investigation and review of the multimedia rights
bid process in his capacity as WVU's attorney.

Accordingly, AG Morrisey’s scope of rgpresentaﬁon, and the direction of his
r representation, were for the sole benefit of his client, WVU.

April 15, 2013, AG Morrisey released his Report on West Virginia University’s
Multimedia Rights.

In his capacity as the attorney for WVU, AG Morrisey advised WVU to re-bid
WVU's third tier media rights, and in so doing allow all original bidders to participate
in the re-bidding process.

WVU has adopted AG Morrisey’s findings and recommendations. Further,
WVU has indicated that neither AD Luck nor any of the other original voting
evaluation committee members shall be active participants in the re-bid of Proposal

90002782X.

Simenerman Law Office, PLLC
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i, The Appearance of Impropriety Mandates That IMG College & WV Media Be
Barred From Participating In Proposal 90002782X.

Protestor incorporates by reference, as though fully set forth herein, all
previous allegations of this Protest.

The stated facts and record as set forth by AG Morrisey in his Report dated
April 15, 2013, incorporated herein by reference, evidence a pattern of systemic
disregard for institutional rules, the purpose of which is to ensure the integrity of WVU
in whole, and more specifically the integrity the procurement process.

IMG and WV Media, through the acts and omissions of the entities respective
investors/ directors, tainted the bid process in Proposal 90002782X. Such acts and
omissions cannot be condoned or ignored.

Allowing IMG/WV Media to participate in the “rebidding” of Proposal
90002782X constitutes turning a blind eye to confirmed breaches of public trust and
confidence.

Stated succinctly, the public deserves better and common sense and law
mandate exclusion of IMG and WV Media from the bid process. Further, sucha
remedy is the vehicle by which to deter future improper conduct in the procurement
process.

Wherefore, WV Radio respectfully submits that IMG and WV Media must be
barred from participating in any fashion with respect to Proposal 90002782X pursuant

to rement edd,
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ii. Allowing IMG and WV Media To Participate Frustrates A Fundamental Purpose
Of The Procurement Rules, Thus They Must Be Barred From Participating in Proposal
90002782X.

Protestor incorporates by reference, as though fully set forth herein, all
previous allegations of this Protest.

WVU Procurement Rule 1.3.1(e) provides: “The purpose of the Procurement
Rules is to: () provide for increased public confidence in the procedures followed in
West Virginia University procurement.”

Allowing IMG and WV Media to participate in Proposal 90002782X destroys
the integrity of Proposal 90002782X and further undermines/ frustrates a fundamental
purpose of the Procurement Rules.

Again, IMG and WV Media have a tarnished record which cannot simply be
cast aside or otherwise shielded by a re-bid of Proposal 90002782X.

Doing so tars the innocent with the dirt of the guilty.

Five “innocent” bidders spent substantial time and money initially
participating in Proposal 90002782X.

A re-bid in which IMG and WV Media may actively participate undermines
public confidence in WVU procurement procedures.

Wherefore, WV Radio respectfully submits that the WVU Procurement Office
resurrect the original bids from the “innocent” bidders, re-appoint the original two
members of the voting committee, Mike Szul and Mike Parsons, select a third voting
committee member from within WVU, and score the proposals in accord with the

original scoring criterion, consistent with WVU Procurement Rules. Such conduct is the
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only viable method to instill public confidence in the WVU Procurement Process.

iii. Violation of Procurement Rule 1.9.4 Mandates That IMG College And WV Media
Be Barred From Participating in Proposal 90002782X.

Protestor incorporates by reference, as though fully set forth herein, all
previous allegations of this Protest.

WVU Procurement Rule 1.9.4 provides: “neither the Governing Board, nor any
employee of the Governing Board, shall be financially interested, or have any beneficial
personal interest, directly or indirectly, in the purchase of any equipment, materials,
supplies, services, or printing, nor in any firm, partnership, corporation or association
furnishing them.”

In the present matter, two WVU BOG members, Chairman Payne and WVU
BOG Member Mr. Alvarez, had personal financial interests in a corporation which
sought to furnish services unto WVU.

By the e.xpresé language of WVU Procurement Rule 1.9.4, no WVU BOG
Member shall be financially interested in any corporation furnishing services unto West
Virginia.

Accordingly, IMG and WV Media, acting as partners/joint venturers, are
barred from furnishing services to WVU by the Procurement Rules.

Wherefore, WV Radio respectfully submits that the WVU Procurement Office
resurrect the original bids from the “innocent” bidders, re-appoint the original two
members of the voting committee, Mike Szul and Mike Parsons, select a third voting

committee member from within WVU, and score the proposals in accord with the




original scoring criterion, consistent with WVU Procurement Rules. Such conduct is the
only viable method to instill public confidence in the WVU Procurement Process.

iv. Violations of Chapter 6B of the West Virginia Code Mandate
That IMG and WV Media Be Excluded From Proposal 90002782X.

Protestor incorporates by reference, as though fully set forth herein, all
_previous allegations of this Protest.

Mﬂ_o_c‘mgnim_ﬂ‘l provides: “Purchasing of materials, supplies and
equipment in the public sector is a public trust and the highest degree of professional
and ethical standards should be maintained at all times . . . the West Virginia
Governmental Ethics Act [W.Va. Code 6B-1-1, et seq.], is applicable to all purchasing
and receiving activities performed under the jurisdiFﬁon of the Governing Board.”

W.Va. Code § 6B-2-5(b)(1) provides: “a public official or public employee may
not knowingly and intentionally use his or her office or the prestige of his or her office
for his or her own private gain or that of another person.”

W.Va. Code § 6B-2-5(d)(1) provides: “no elected or appointed public official or
public employee or member of his or her immediate family or business with which he
or she is associated may be a party to or have an interest in the profits or benefits of a
contract which the official or employee may have direct authority to enter into, or over
which he or she may have control.”

w.yg; Code § 6B-2-5(d)(3) provides: “if a public official or employee has an
interest in the profits or benefits of a contract, then he or she may not make, participate

in making, or in any way attempt to use his office or employment to influence a

Simmerrman | sw Office, PLLC
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| government decision affecting his or her financial or limited financial interest.”

W.Va. Code § 6B-2-5(e) provides: “No present or former public official or
employee may knowingly and improperly disclose any confidential information
acquired by him or her in the course of his or her official duties nor use such
information to further his or her personal interests or the interests of another person.”

It is a fundamental maxim of corporate law that a corporation/company is held
liable for the acts and omissions of it;s directors and /or officers, to the extent that such
acts/ omissions are not shielded by the veil of corporate structure/ corporate immunity.

In the present matter, Chairman Payne and WVU BOG Member Alvarez
“walked a fine line” in using their positions within WVU to benefit a
corporation/company within which they both hold a substantial financial stake.
Moreover, WV Media is a business entity within which Chairman Payne has advisory _
powers, as he is a manager/board member in some capacity.

The afore-cited law has one fundamental purpose: to guarantee integrity in
public dealings and business transactions. Insofar as corporate entities are liable for the
acts of their officers/directors, IMG and WV Media must be barred from participating
in Proposal 90002782X, due to the improper conduct of Chairman Payne and WVU
BOG Member Mr. Alzarez.

Wherefore, WV Radio respectfully submits that the WVU Procurement Office
resurrect the original bids from the “innocent” bidders, re-appoint the original two
members of the voting committee, Mike Szul and Mike Parsons, select a third voting

committee member from within WVU, and score the proposals in accord with the
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original scoring criterion, consistent with WVU Procurement Rules. Such conduct is the
only viable method to instill public confidence in the WVU Procurement Process.

v. As The Acts/Omissions Of AD Luck, Chairman Payne, and BOG Member Alvarez

Constitute A Breach of the Fiduciary Duty Owed to the Public, IMG And WV Media

Must Be Barred From Participating in Proposal 90002782X.

Protestor incorporates by reference, as though fully set forth herein, all
previous allegations of this Protest.

Per U.S. v. ReBrook, 837 F.Supp. 162 (5.D.W.V. 1993), West Virginia public
employees owe a fiduciary duty to the public. .

To the best of Protestor’s belief, AD Luck controlled the “bid committee”
responsible for evaluation and award of the media rights contract.

To the best of Protestor’s belief, AD Luck submitted confidential information to
Chairman Payne relating to Proposal 90002782X.

To the best of Protestor’s belief, in the midst of the bid evaluation process in
'Proposal 90002782X AD Luck insisted that the evaluating committee be expanded from
three (3) voting members to six (6) voting members.

To ﬁxe best of Protestor’s belief, AD Luck is a personal friend of the President of
WV Media, Mr. Bray Cary.

Ordinary business care and prudence would have precluded AD Luck from
having any input/ control of the “award” to IMG College and WV Media from the onset
of the process. AD Luck’s acts and omissions throughout the bid process, including the
failure to execute a M@m further bolster this
reality.

Sanemeceran Law Offc, PLLC

254 E. Main §t.
Cisriaberg, WV 263012170

12




Sunmerrnan Law Office, PLLC
254 E. Main

Clarksburg, WV

in 5.
26301.31T0

Protestor asks that AD Luck be required to enter into a public consent decree
whereby AD Luck stipulates that he shall not participate in, or communicate with any
individual or entity participating in, Proposal 90002782X or any related Proposal.

Further, Chairman Payne and WVU BOG Member Mr. Alvarez’s individual
behavior evidences a clear departure from the fiduciary obligations they owe to the
public. Said departures tainted the bid process and must act to bar IMG and WV Media
from the bid and/or re-bid process.

Wherefore, WV Radio respectfully submits that the WVU Procurement Office
resurrect the original bids from the “innocent” bidders, re-appoint the original two
members of the voting committee, Mike Szul and Mike Parsons, select a third
committee member from within WVU, and score the proposals in accord with the
original scoring criterion, consistent with WVU Procurement Rules. Such conduct is the
only viable method to remedy the breaches by Chairman Payne and Mr. Alzarez.

vi. Reservation Of The Right To Amend

Given the limited time-frame in which to file a Protest and in light of the fact
that Protestor’s factual review of the entire incident remains an ongoing process, WV
Radio hereby reserves the right to review all pertinent documents and amend this filing
to include additional procedural and substantive grounds challenging the process and

re-bid of Proposal 90002782X.
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EL UES A HE GO

WHEREFORE, Protestor hereby requests that the WVU Procurement Office
disqualify and bar IMG and WV Media from participating in any manner in Proposal
90002782X or a related i::roposal, that the WVU Procurement Office resurrect the
original bids from the “innocent” bidders in Proposal 90002782, re-appoint the
original two members of the voting committee, Mike Szul and Mike Parsons, select a
third voting committee member from within WVU, and score the proposals in accord
with the origina.l scoring criterion, consistent with WVU Procurement Rules, and
ultimately award the bid to the most responsive and best qualified bidder from the
“innocent” bidders.

FURTHER, Protestor hereby requests a full and impartial hearing on the merits
of this Protest.

Respectfully Submitted,
Protestor, By Counsel,

Frank E. Simmerman, Jr. (WYSB# 3403)

Chad L. Taylor (W.Va. Bar No. 10564)

Frank E. Simmerman, III (W.Va. Bar No. 11589)
Simmerman Law Office, PLLC

954 East Main Street

Clarksburg, West Virginia 26301

Phone: (304) 623-4900
Fax: (304) 623-4906
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